CONTACT AND SOURCE/DRAIN ENGINEERING FOR ADVANCED III-V FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTORS

KONG YU JIN, EUGENE

B.Eng. (Hons.), NUS

A THESIS SUBMITTED FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

DEPARTMENT OF ELECTRICAL AND COMPUTER ENGINEERING

NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SINGAPORE

2014

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that the thesis is my original work and it has been written by me in its entirety. I have duly acknowledged all the sources of information that have been used in the thesis.

This thesis has also not been submitted for any degree in any university previously.

Kong Yu Jin, Eugene 25 September 2014

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my PhD supervisor, Prof. Yeo Yee-Chia, for his continuous support and guidance during my postgraduate studies here at the National University of Singapore (NUS). His ideas and inputs, financial support of my research, and willingness to always make time for discussions with me are highly appreciated. I am also thankful for his time and effort in providing valuable feedback that helps to improve the quality of my research publications as well as this dissertation. Special thanks also go to Prof. Chua Soo Jin and Assoc. Prof. Albert Liang Gengchiau for serving on my qualifying examination committee and providing useful comments and feedback on my research.

I am grateful to GLOBALFOUNDRIES Singapore and the Economic Development Board of Singapore for granting me a graduate scholarship. I have also benefited greatly from all the advice and knowledge imparted to us by Dr. Lap Chan, Dr. Ng Chee Mang, and Mr. Leong Kam Chew of GLOBALFOUNDRIES Singapore as part of the scholarship programme at GLOBALFOUNDRIES. The knowledge, which comprises both technical and business aspects, will stand me in good stead when I start work at GLOBALFOUNDRIES Singapore.

Next, I would like to give special mention to the staff and fellow students of Silicon Nano Device Laboratory (SNDL), who have formed an integral part of my postgraduate journey. Sincere thanks go to Mr. Patrick Tang, Mr. O Yan, and Ms. Yu Yi, and not forgetting the emergency response team (ERT) members, for providing technical and administrative support and ensuring the safety and proper functioning of the cleanrooms and lab. SNDL is indeed very fortunate to have such competent and dedicated staff. I am also especially grateful to all the post-docs and fellow students that I have had the privilege of working with – in no particular order: Koh Shao Ming, Gong Xiao, Zhang Xingui, Guo Pengfei, Liu Bin, Zhou Qian, Sujith Subramanian, Samuel Owen, Ivana, Guo Huaxin, Guo Cheng, Goh Kian Hui, Low Kain Lu, Wang Lanxiang, Zhu Zhu, Tong Yi, Cheng Ran, Yang Yue, Ashvini Gyanathan, Zhan Chunlei, Phyllis Lim, Edwin Low, Pannirselvam, Vijay Richard D'Costa, Tong Xin, Wu Wenjuan, Han Genquan, Wang Wei, Liu Xinke, Maruf Amin Bhuiyan, Dong Yuan, Xu Xin, Han Han, Annie, Du Fang, Lei Dian, Li Lingzi, Sun Lu, Sandipan Chakraborty, Sachin Yadav, and anyone who has contributed in one way or another. I honestly believe that you are some of the most capable, knowledgeable, and helpful people I have known, and I am honoured and humbled to be able to know all of you and count you as friends.

I would like to express my gratitude to my collaborators at Applied Materials Inc. and the Institute of Materials Research and Engineering (IMRE) for all the fruitful discussions and collaborations, as well as the staff at IMRE and the Data Storage Institute (DSI) for their assistance with equipment usage and services rendered, such as X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS), transmission electron microscopy (TEM), and electron beam lithography (EBL), which have contributed significantly to my research.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family and other friends outside of SNDL for all their support and encouragement during my postgraduate studies.

Table of Contents

DECLARATION	2
Acknowledgements	
Table of Contents	5
Abstract	8
List of Tables	
List of Figures	
List of Symbols	24
List of Abbreviations	

Chapter 1 Introduction	
1.1 BACKGROUND	
1.2 MOTIVATION FOR III-V MATERIALS	
1.3 CHALLENGES OF III-V CMOS LOGIC	
1.3.1 High-quality gate stack	
1.3.2 Low parasitic resistances	
1.3.3 Integration on Si platform	41
1.4 Objectives of Thesis	44
1.5 ORGANIZATION OF THESIS	45

Chapter 2	Material Study for Salicide-Like Source/Drain Contact Metallization	
in InGaAs	Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistors4'	7
2.1 INTE	RODUCTION4	7
2.2 ANA	LYSIS OF METAL REACTION WITH INGAAS4	8
2.3 IN-E	DEPTH CHARACTERIZATION OF PD-INGAAS5	8
2.3.1	Sheet resistance analysis60	0
2.3.2	XPS analysis	2
2.3.3	UPS analysis	4
2.3.4	Benchmarking with Ni-InGaAs60	6
2.4 CON	CLUSIONS6	7

Chapt	er 3 Self-Aligned and Non-Self-Aligned Contact Metallization in InGa	As
Metal-	Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistors: A Simulation Study	69
3.1	INTRODUCTION	69
3.2	SIMULATION DETAILS	70
3.3	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	73
3.4	CONCLUSIONS	86

Chapter 4 Towards Conformal Damage-Free Doping with Abrupt Ultra-	
Shallow Junction: Formation of Si Monolayers and Laser Anneal as a Novel	
Doping Technique for InGaAs n-MOSFETs	87
4.1 INTRODUCTION	87
4.2 BLANKET SAMPLE PREPARATION	89
4.3 MATERIAL CHARACTERIZATION	91
4.3.1 Disilane-treated samples	91
4.3.2 Silane-treated samples	96
4.4 MOSFET FABRICATION AND CHARACTERIZATION	.100
4.5 CONCLUSIONS	.106

Chapter 5 Plasma Doping of InGaAs at Elevated Substrate Temperature for

Reduced Sheet Resistance and Defect Formation	
5.1 Introduction	
5.2 BLANKET SAMPLE PREPARATION	
5.3 MATERIAL CHARACTERIZATION	112
5.4 PLAD ON SMALL FIN STRUCTURES	121
5.5 CONCLUSIONS	

Chapter 6	Summary and Future Directions	127
6.1 Con	NTRIBUTIONS OF THESIS	127
6.1.1	Salicide-like S/D contact metallization for InGaAs MOSFETs	128
6.1.2	Comparison between self-aligned and non-self-aligned contact	
	metallization in InGaAs n-MOSFETs	129
6.1.3	Novel Si monolayer doping technique for InGaAs	130
6.1.4	Plasma doping of InGaAs at elevated substrate temperature	132
6.2 FUT	URE DIRECTIONS	

References	139
List of Publications as First Author	160
List of Publications as Second Author	161

Abstract

Contact and Source/Drain Engineering for Advanced III-V Field-Effect Transistors

By

Kong Yu Jin, Eugene

Doctor of Philosophy – Electrical and Computer Engineering National University of Singapore

Silicon (Si) has long been used as the channel material in the p-channel and nchannel metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors (p-MOSFETs and n-MOSFETs, respectively) that form the basis of today's complementary metal-oxidesemiconductor (CMOS) logic circuits. The scaling down of transistors has been an integral part of technology advancement for the microelectronics industry over more than five decades, providing the lower cost per transistor, greater functionality, and improved performance that have enabled increasingly powerful and sophisticated computers and gadgets. However, as technology scales beyond the 20 nm node, a roadblock is eventually encountered in the form of power consumption. To continue transistor scaling and further increase transistor density, lowering the supply voltage is mandatory in order to reduce power consumption.

A lower supply voltage, however, results in lower drive current and therefore slower transistors and circuits. To avoid sacrificing performance at reduced supply voltage, carrier mobilities higher than even strained Si can provide are required in the MOSFET channels. High-mobility III-V compound semiconductors are a potential answer, offering the prospect of both high speed and low operating and standby power. Indium gallium arsenide (InGaAs), in particular, is a leading high-mobility III-V candidate for replacing Si in the channels of n-MOSFETs.

To harness the full potential of advanced short-channel III-V MOSFETs, the parasitic resistances outside the channel must be low, so as not to be performancelimiting. These parasitic resistances include the S/D resistance R_{SD} , S/D extension (SDE) resistance R_{SDE} , contact resistance R_c between the contact metallization and the S/D semiconductor, and metal resistance R_{metal} . R_{SD} , in particular, is a major resistance component in fin field-effect transistors (FinFETs) with narrow fin width and nanowire MOSFETs (NWFETs) with small wire diameter. At present, FinFETs have replaced planar MOSFETs as the main device architecture beyond the 22 nm technology node.

This thesis aims to find ways to meet the contact and S/D engineering challenges of advanced III-V MOSFETs in order to reduce parasitic resistances. More specifically, novel techniques for S/D contact formation and S/D doping in InGaAs n-MOSFETs are developed and investigated.

Self-aligned silicide or 'salicide' technology has become an essential part of Si CMOS, significantly reducing R_{SD} by forming S/D contact metallization that is selfaligned to the gate of the transistor. Ni-InGaAs, the first III-V salicide equivalent formed by directly reacting a metal (Ni) with InGaAs, emerged only recently (end 2010 and early 2011). In this thesis, the reaction of different metals with InGaAs is investigated to explore alternative salicide-like contact metallization technologies for InGaAs. Simulations are also carried out to determine the contact resistivity required and the continued relevance of salicide-like S/D contact metallization in InGaAs nMOSFETs at advanced technology nodes. The simulations illustrate the importance of salicide-like contact metallization at highly scaled dimensions, with reductions in R_c provided by the larger contact area compared to non-self-aligned contact metallization.

To obtain low R_{SD} and R_{SDE} , high doping concentration is needed in the S/D and SDE regions, especially for the ultra-shallow junctions demanded by shortchannel MOSFETs to suppress leakage and short-channel effects. High S/D doping concentration is also essential for lowering R_c and enabling the abovementioned salicide-like contact metallization to meet contact resistivity targets. Hence, in conjunction with salicide-like technology, two doping techniques are also developed for InGaAs n-MOSFETs in this thesis. In addition to having the ability to form abrupt ultra-shallow junctions with high doping concentration, these techniques have to meet the challenges of conformally doping the S/D and SDE regions of three-dimensional (3D) MOSFETs such as FinFETs at highly scaled dimensions and pitches, where the incumbent beam-line ion implantation may start to face problems with conformality due to shadowing effects.

The first doping technique involves the formation of monolayers of Si on InGaAs by SiH₄ or Si₂H₆ gas treatment of the InGaAs surface, and can be described as a Si monolayer doping (MLD) technique. These Si monolayers act as a source of donors that are driven in and activated by a subsequent laser anneal to form n-type InGaAs. The second doping technique is plasma doping (PLAD), also using Si as an n-type dopant in InGaAs. The use of an elevated substrate temperature during PLAD is examined as a means of suppressing amorphization during implantation of the ions from the plasma, which is shown to be important in narrow fins where the fin geometry and a lack of sufficient crystalline seed for recrystallization leads to residual

corner defects after annealing. Both the Si MLD and PLAD techniques have the potential to enable 3D InGaAs MOSFETs to achieve conformal, highly doped S/D and SDE regions with abrupt, ultra-shallow junctions and few defects.

List of Tables

Table 2.1.	Comparison of Ni-InGaAs and Pd-InGaAs formed by RTA at	
	250 °C for 60 s	67
Table 3.1.	Key parameters used in the simulations.	73
Table 4.1.	Comparison with existing MLD works.	88
Table 5.1.	Split table for samples doped by PLAD.	.111
Table 5.2.	Split table for samples doped by beam-line implant	.111

List of Figures

Fig. 1.1.	(a)-(f) Schematics illustrating a FinFET process flow, and (g)-(h) SEM images of a fabricated FinFET. The schematics and SEM images are from Ref. [35]	.31
Fig. 1.2.	Schematic illustrating the key challenges for the use of III-V MOSFETs in CMOS logic	33
Fig. 1.3.	(a) Schematic and (b)-(c) cross-sectional TEM images of an $In_{0.7}Ga_{0.3}As$ n-MOSFET with an InP capping layer between the channel and the high- κ gate dielectric. This figure is taken from Ref. [107].	.35
Fig. 1.4.	Schematic illustrating the parasitic resistance components of a MOSFET.	35
Fig. 1.5.	Schematic illustrating the formation of salicide-like S/D contact metallization in InGaAs n-MOSFETs: Deposition of metal M , followed by RTA to induce reaction between M and InGaAs to form M -InGaAs contact metallization, and finally a selective etch to remove unreacted M . The M -InGaAs contact metallization needs to form a good ohmic contact to n ⁺⁺ InGaAs.	.37
Fig. 1.6.	Schematic illustrating the shadowing effect for beam-line ion implantation at narrow fin pitch. Ion implantation for one side of the fins is shown, with the other side implanted by rotating the wafer by 180°. The shadowing effect becomes more severe as fin pitch is reduced, and results in non-conformal doping as the bottom parts of the fins do not receive the ion implantation.	.40
Fig. 1.7.	(a) Cross-sectional TEM image of a graded buffer on Si substrate, with a III-V quantum well (QW) stack grown on top of it. (b) High- resolution TEM image of the QW device layers, showing good crystalline quality with no dislocations. The TEM images are from Ref. [57]	.42

Fig. 1.8.	 (a) Schematics for epitaxial layer transfer of InAs layers to a SiO₂-covered Si substrate to form an InAs-on-insulator substrate. (b) Cross-sectional SEM image of the donor wafer just before the layer transfer. (c)-(d) Cross-sectional TEM images of the InAs-on-insulator substrate. This figure is taken from Ref. [155]43
Fig. 1.9.	(a) Schematic and (b) cross-sectional SEM image of GaAs on Ge grown on Si by the aspect ratio trapping technique. The dislocations, represented by thick black lines in (a), terminate on the SiO_2 sidewalls and are confined to the bottom of the trenches. This figure is taken from Ref. [156]
Fig. 2.1.	Process flow for the fabrication of TLM structures
Fig. 2.2.	Schematics illustrating the TLM process flow in Fig. 2.1
Fig. 2.3.	TEM images of Ti (a) as-deposited, and after 60 s anneal at (b) 300 °C, (c) 350 °C, or (d) 400 °C. EDX analysis was done at spots 1 to 3 in (c)
Fig. 2.4.	TEM images of Co (a) as-deposited, and after 60 s anneal at (b) 300 °C, (c) 350 °C, or (d) 400 °C. EDX analysis was done at spots 4 to 6 in (b) and spots 7 to 10 in (c)
Fig. 2.5.	TEM images of blanket samples of ~10 nm Pd on $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ after 60 s isochronal anneal at (a) 200 °C, (b) 250 °C, and (c) 350 °C
Fig. 2.6.	High-magnification view of the interface between the Pd-InGaAs film and the $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ substrate for the sample annealed at 250 °C for 60 s
Fig. 2.7.	(a) TLM <i>I-V</i> characteristics obtained for as-deposited Pd, and (b) the resulting plot of total resistance R_{total} versus TLM contact pad spacing d_{TLM} , from which contact resistance and specific contact resistivity values can be derived. The inset shows a schematic of the TLM structure, with the contact pads represented by gray rectangles (100-nm-thick Ni pads on top of the contact pads are not shown). Probing is done on two adjacent pads

Fig. 2.8.	(a) Contact resistance R_c and (b) specific contact resistivity ρ_c versus anneal temperature for Pd-InGaAs. Anneal time is fixed at 60 s
Fig. 2.9.	(a) SEM and (b) TEM images of an InGaAs MOSFET with Pd-InGaAs S/D contacts formed by a salicide-like process [178]. The red box in (b) overlays a TEM image with the unreacted Pd removed from the gate and spacer
Fig. 2.10.	Box plot and frequency distribution of R_{sheet} values for a 20-nm- thick Pd-InGaAs blanket sample formed by annealing at 250 °C for 60 s. The R_{sheet} values were measured in an 11 × 11 array of points with 100 µm step size, covering an area of 1 mm × 1 mm60
Fig. 2.11.	Sheet resistance R_{sheet} versus anneal temperature for ~20 nm of Pd- InGaAs formed from ~10 nm of Pd. Anneal time is fixed at 60 s. The values for ~19 nm of Ni-InGaAs formed from ~11 nm of Ni on In _{0.53} Ga _{0.47} As with the same doping concentration are also plotted for comparison
Fig. 2.12.	XPS spectra of bulk Pd-InGaAs (30-nm-thick) formed by 250 °C 60 s anneal. The Pd $3d_{5/2}$ peak in Pd-InGaAs is shifted 0.9 eV away from the Pd $3d_{5/2}$ peak position of 335.1 eV in elemental Pd. As 3d peaks indicate a shift of 1.2 eV in As $3d_{3/2}$ and $3d_{5/2}$ peaks in Pd-InGaAs from those in bulk $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$
Fig. 2.13.	He I UPS spectrum of 30-nm-thick Pd-InGaAs formed from 15 nm of Pd on $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ by RTA at 250 °C for 60 s. The photon energy is 21.2 eV and the bias voltage is -5 V. The spectrum is plotted such that the Fermi edge is at zero binding energy
Fig. 2.14.	Benchmarking of the contact resistivities obtained for Ni-InGaAs and Pd-InGaAs formed on $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ with different active doping concentrations. Ni-InGaAs and Pd-InGaAs were formed by reacting Ni and Pd, respectively, with $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ by RTA at 250 °C for 60 s
Fig. 3.1.	Simulated n-MOSFETs with L_G of 15 nm, having (a) self-aligned metallization (SAM) or (b) non-self-aligned metallization (NSAM). The SAM is a 2.5-nm-thick salicide-like metallization (which may

	be Ni-InGaAs), while the NSAM is a 2.5-nm-thick metal layer (which may be Mo) lining the tungsten via70
Fig. 3.2.	(a) Schematic illustrating the scaling of S/D length L_{SD} with spacing d between the via and the gate edge, with the via kept centered in the S/D region. (b) Values of L_{SD} for each value of d
Fig. 3.3.	I_d - V_g curves of In _{0.53} Ga _{0.47} As MOSFETs having (a) SAM or (b) NSAM with $d = 10$ nm and with various values of ρ_c , showing identical subthreshold and OFF-state characteristics ($S \approx 95$ mV/decade, DIBL ≈ 0.16 V/V, $V_{t,sat} \approx 0.18$ V). $V_{t,sat}$ is determined
	by the constant current method with a fixed current level of 10 $\mu A/\mu m$
Fig. 3.4.	Drive current comparison of SAM and NSAM with various values of <i>d</i> and ρ_c . Compared to NSAM with the same <i>d</i> , SAM gives higher I_d at ρ_c larger than ~5×10 ⁻⁹ Ω ·cm ² due to larger A_{eff} and lower $R_{c,eff}$, but lower I_d at smaller ρ_c due to higher spreading resistance induced by its recessed geometry
Fig. 3.5.	Calculated L_C as a function of ρ_c for both SAM and NSAM. L_C increases with ρ_c , with the NSAM having larger L_C at the same ρ_c because of its lower $R_{sh,SD}$ and $R_{sh,m}$. The dashed lines indicate the values of L_{SD} for $d = 10$, 15, and 20 nm, which are compared with L_C for the SAM. For the NSAM, L_C is compared against L_V (= 15 nm)
Fig. 3.6.	Calculated values of (a) R_{total} from simulated results and (b) $2R_{c,eff}$ as a percentage of R_{total} as d and ρ_c are varied for both SAM and NSAM in the linear regime. Both plots share the same legend. To meet the ITRS requirement (indicated by the dashed line), the SAM should have ρ_c less than $1 \times 10^{-8} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$, while the NSAM needs ρ_c less than $5 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$
Fig. 3.7.	Schematic showing the series resistance bottleneck caused by the recessed geometry of the SAM, which leads to a more severe current crowding and therefore higher spreading resistance than the

	NSAM. For a given SDE junction depth, a thicker SAM (larger t_{SAM})	
	results in a more serious current crowding problem	. 79
Fig. 3.8.	Current density contours ($V_g = V_d = 0.63$ V) for SAM and NSAM with $d = 10$ nm and $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$. Values indicated are in A/cm ² . Lateral profiles are taken along <i>A</i> - <i>A</i> ' and <i>B</i> - <i>B</i> ' in the source 0.5 nm below the SAM and NSAM, respectively, for various values of <i>d</i> and ρ_c and plotted in Figs. 3.9 to 3.11.	80
Fig. 3.9.	Current density line profiles ($V_g = V_d = 0.63$ V) in the source 0.5 nm below the (a) SAM and (b) NSAM, with $d = 10$ nm and with various values of ρ_c . Diminishing gains can be observed as ρ_c is reduced, with the diminishing effect being smaller for the NSAM due to its larger $R_{c eff}$.	. 81
Fig. 3.10.	Current density line profiles ($V_g = V_d = 0.63$ V) along <i>A</i> - <i>A</i> ' for SAM with various values of <i>d</i> and with (a) $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-7} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ and (b) $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$. The profiles with $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-7} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ are well- separated, while those with $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ overlap in a 5-nm- wide region adjacent to the source extension. The current density at the source edge furthest from the source extension also exhibits much smaller differences for the various values of <i>d</i> at $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-7}$ $\Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ than at $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$.	81
$E_{12} = 2.11$	Current density line grafiles $(V = V = 0.62 \text{ V})$ along $D D'$ for	

- Fig. 3.11. Current density line profiles ($V_g = V_d = 0.63$ V) along *B-B*' for NSAM with various values of *d* and with (a) $\rho_c = 4 \times 10^{-8} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ and (b) $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$. The profiles have similar shapes for both large and small ρ_c , with small current peaks at the edges of the via due to current crowding. Changes in *d* result in roughly parallel shifts of the portion of the profile below the via, which defines A_{eff}82

Fig. 3.13.	Simulated MOSFETs with L_G of 15 nm and raised S/D regions, having (a) SAM or (b) NSAM. S/D elevations of 5, 15, and 20 nm were simulated.	84
Fig. 3.14.	I_d as a function of S/D elevation for SAM and NSAM with $d = 10$ nm and $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$. When the S/D regions are raised, the SAM no longer suffers from increased spreading resistance, allowing it to give higher I_d than the NSAM.	84
Fig. 3.15.	I_d changes by less than 1% when the vias are misaligned by ±5 nm for both SAM and NSAM with $d = 10$ nm, $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$, and S/D elevation of 0 and 20 nm.	85
Fig. 4.1.	Schematic of a fin structure illustrating the principle of the doping technique developed in this work, which has the potential to achieve conformal ultra-shallow doping with high doping concentration and abrupt junction without implant damage. At narrow fin widths, the sidewall junctions merge, rendering junction depth less important as it is determined by fin width. Nevertheless, junction abruptness and minimizing lateral dopant diffusion are crucial for short-channel devices.	89
Fig. 4.2.	Process flow for fabricating blanket (001) $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ samples with Si_2H_6 or SiH_4 treatment and laser anneal	90
Fig. 4.3.	R_{sheet} versus laser anneal fluence for Si ₂ H ₆ -treated In _{0.53} Ga _{0.47} As samples. A single laser pulse was used. R_{sheet} decreases as fluence increases due to larger junction depth and higher dopant activation. R_{sheet} cannot be measured for laser fluence of 80 mJ/cm ² and below	92
Fig. 4.4.	SIMS profiles for Si_2H_6 -treated samples annealed at 127, 297, and 374 mJ/cm ² . The dashed lines indicate the InGaAs melt depth, which are estimated from the level or flat portion of the box-like profiles.	93
Fig. 4.5.	SIMS profiles for Si_2H_6 -treated samples annealed at 100 and 120 mJ/cm ² , with ultra-shallow melt depths of around 4 and 10 nm respectively, as indicated by the dashed lines. Very high Si concentration approaching 10^{21} cm ⁻³ can be observed. The profile	

for a fluence of 100 mJ/cm ² exhibits little surface out-diffusion an	d
good junction abruptness (~5.5 nm/decade).	95

- Fig. 4.10. (a) Diode current-voltage characteristics showing high forward-toreverse current ratio of 5 to 7 orders of magnitude. (b) Ideality factor of diodes versus diode size for various SiH₄ treatment times and laser anneal fluences. Both plots share the same legend. Diodes with a fluence of 100 mJ/cm² have very low *n* that is independent of L_{diode} . Diodes with a fluence of 120 and 140 mJ/cm²

have higher n that also varies much more across diodes, which is (a) Process flow for fabricating planar InGaAs n-MOSFETs using Fig. 4.11. the developed doping technique. Schematics of the transistor (b) after SiH₄ treatment and cap layer deposition and (c) after laser SEM image of a completed In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As n-MOSFET fabricated Fig. 4.12. Fig. 4.13. Cross-sectional TEM image of an In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As n-MOSFET with S/D doped by SiH₄ treatment at 500 °C for 120 s and laser anneal at 100 mJ/cm². The S/D contacts, which are 5 µm away from the gate, Fig. 4.14. High-magnification TEM images of the (a) channel and (b) S/D regions of the MOSFET in Fig. 4.13, with S/D regions doped by SiH₄ treatment at 500 °C for 120 s and laser anneal at 100 mJ/cm². Good crystalline quality is preserved in both regions and a good interface is maintained between the gate dielectric and the channel, with no laser-induced damage to the gate stack and channel. As there is no ion implantation, no implant-induced defects are created. .. 103 I_g - V_g characteristics showing low gate leakage current after laser Fig. 4.15. anneal at 100 mJ/cm², which confirms that gate stack integrity is not I_d - V_g characteristics of planar In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As n-MOSFETs with S/D Fig. 4.16. doped by SiH₄ treatment at 500 °C for (a) 60 s and (b) 120 s followed by laser anneal at a fluence of 100 mJ/cm², showing I_d - V_d characteristics of the same pair of transistors as in Fig. 4.16, Fig. 4.17. showing well-behaved output characteristics. V_t is the linear threshold voltage extracted by the maximum transconductance method. The low current level is due to high series resistance caused by the lack of deep S/D regions and the long distance

	between the S/D contacts and the channel. Careful optimization of the doping technique is also required for R_{sheet} and ρ_c reduction	.06
Fig. 5.1.	Process flow (solid bullets) for fabricating blanket samples using PLAD. Additional steps (open bullets) were carried out to form TLM structures and diodes on some of the fabricated blanket samples	10
Fig. 5.2.	Schematic illustrating the dissociation of SiH ₄ and H ₂ molecules into various chemical species in a plasma. Source: Fig. 26.1 in the <i>Springer Handbook of Electronic and Photonic Materials, 2006</i> 1	10
Fig. 5.3.	Secondary reactions in a SiH ₄ or SiH ₄ /H ₂ plasma. Source: Fig. 26.2 in the <i>Springer Handbook of Electronic and Photonic Materials</i> , 2006. 1	10
Fig. 5.4.	Measured UV-VASE data (a) before RTA and (b) after RTA, obtained from samples doped by conventional beam-line implant. Solid lines are used for RT-BL samples, while dashed lines are used for ET-BL samples. The modeled ε_2 profile for 4.3 nm Al ₂ O ₃ on 500 nm p ⁻ In _{0.53} Ga _{0.47} As on 500 µm p ⁺ InP is also plotted (open squares).	12
Fig. 5.5.	(a) Low-magnification and (b) high-resolution TEM images of a blanket sample from Split P8 before RTA. An additional layer (~7 nm thick), determined by EDX to comprise of SiO_x and/or Si, was deposited on the Al ₂ O ₃ by the plasma during PLAD. The InGaAs surface remains smooth and is not roughened by the PLAD, and the InGaAs shows good crystallinity with no visible defects for the given PLAD conditions of Split P8, even without RTA	15
Fig. 5.6.	Measured UV-VASE data (a) before RTA and (b) after RTA, obtained from samples doped by PLAD. Solid lines are used for RT-PLAD samples, while dashed lines are used for ET-PLAD samples. The modeled ε_2 profiles for 4 nm Al ₂ O ₃ (cap layers present) or 1.7 nm InGaAs oxide (cap layers stripped), formed on 500 nm p ⁻ In _{0.53} Ga _{0.47} As on 500 µm p ⁺ InP, are also plotted (open squares).	15

Fig. 5.7.	Si concentration depth profiles in InGaAs for Splits P7 and P8 before and after RTA, showing higher Si surface concentration and higher Si dose for ET-PLAD than for RT-PLAD. The Si surface concentration and Si dose increase after RTA for both RT-PLAD and ET-PLAD, due to diffusion of Si dopants from the Al ₂ O ₃ cap into the InGaAs
Fig. 5.8.	Measured IR-VASE data for all PLAD splits after RTA at 600 °C for 60 s. The measured ε_2 profile for Split P8 before RTA and the modeled ε_2 profile for 5.5 nm native SiO ₂ on 4 nm Al ₂ O ₃ on 500 nm p ⁻ In _{0.53} Ga _{0.47} As on 500 µm p ⁺ InP are also plotted
Fig. 5.9.	R_{sheet} extracted from TLM structures for Splits P7 and P8 after RTA at 600 °C for 60 s. Lower R_{sheet} is obtained for ET-PLAD than for RT-PLAD, which may be attributed to a higher doping concentration and/or a thicker doped layer as seen from SIMS (Fig. 5.7) and IR-VASE (Fig. 5.8) data
Fig. 5.10.	Diodes formed by RT-PLAD and ET-PLAD exhibit similar diode characteristics, with a difference of ~6 orders of magnitude between forward and reverse currents, and reasonable ideality factor ranging from 1.28 to 1.35
Fig. 5.11.	(a) Top-view SEM image of fins that were cut for TEM. The FIBcut is made along the line <i>A-A'</i>.(b) Tilt-view SEM image ofstandalone fins.
Fig. 5.12.	Cross-sectional TEM image of a set of three 25-nm-wide fins from Split P1 after RTA. The fins are identical to each other, with rounded corners and vertical sidewalls
Fig. 5.13.	 (a) Cross-sectional TEM image of a single 25-nm-wide fin from Split P1 after RTA. The dashed line indicates the interface between InGaAs and InAlAs. (b) High-magnification view of the top portion of the fin, showing that corner defects remain after anneal for fins that are amorphized during plasma ion implantation
Fig. 5.14.	High-magnification TEM image of the top portion of a 48-nm-wide fin from Split P1 after RTA. Like the fin in Fig. 5.13, corner defects

- Fig. 5.15. (a) Cross-sectional TEM image of a 25-nm-wide fin from Split P6. The dashed line indicates the interface between InGaAs and InAlAs.
 (b) High-magnification view of the top portion of the fin, which shows that residual corner defects are absent after dopant activation anneal when the crystallinity of the fins is preserved during plasma ion implantation.
 Fig. 5.16. High-magnification TEM image of the top portion of a 47-nm-wide fin from Split P6 after RTA. Like the fin in Fig. 5.15, no corner

List of Symbols

A_{eff}	Effective contact area
Cox	Gate dielectric capacitance of a MOSFET
d	Gap size between the via and the gate metal (not spacer)
D_{it}	Density of interface states
d_{TLM}	Contact pad spacing in a TLM structure
е	Elementary charge $(1.6 \times 10^{-19} \text{ C})$
E_F	Fermi level
E_{vac}	Vacuum level
Ι	Current
I_d	Drain current of a MOSFET
I _{d,sat}	Saturation drain current of a MOSFET
I_g	Gate leakage current of a MOSFET
Ioff	OFF-state current of a MOSFET
Ion	ON-state current of a MOSFET
L_C	Characteristic length
L_{diode}	Diode dimension
L_{eff}	Effective contact length
L_G	Gate length of a MOSFET
L_{SD}	Length of the source/drain regions
L_V	Via diameter
n	Diode ideality factor
N_d	Active donor concentration in a semiconductor
n _e	Electron concentration in a semiconductor
n_h	Hole concentration in a semiconductor
R_c	Contact resistance between a metal and a semiconductor
$R_{c,eff}$	Effective contact resistance

R _{ch}	Resistance of a MOSFET channel
R _{metal}	Resistance of a metal
R_{SD}	Resistance of the source/drain region of a MOSFET
R _{SDE}	Resistance of the source/drain extension region of a MOSFET
$R_{sh,SD}$	Sheet resistance of the source/drain region of a MOSFET
$R_{sh,m}$	Sheet resistance of the contact metallization
R _{sheet}	Sheet resistance
R _{total}	Total resistance
S	Subthreshold swing of a MOSFET
<i>t_{NSAM}</i>	Thickness of the non-self-aligned metallization
t _{SAM}	Thickness of the self-aligned metallization
V	Voltage
V_d	Voltage or bias applied to the drain of a MOSFET
V _{dd}	Supply voltage
Vg	Voltage or bias applied to the gate of a MOSFET
$V_{t,sat}$	Saturation threshold voltage of a MOSFET
V _t	Linear threshold voltage of a MOSFET
W	Channel width of a MOSFET
\mathcal{E}_2	Imaginary part of the pseudo-dielectric function
κ	Dielectric constant of a dielectric
μ	Carrier mobility in a MOSFET channel
μ_e	Electron mobility in a semiconductor
μ_h	Hole mobility in a semiconductor
μ_{max}	Maximum electron mobility
μ_{min}	Minimum electron mobility
ρ	Electrical resistivity of a semiconductor
$ ho_c$	Contact resistivity between a metal and a semiconductor

List of Abbreviations

2D	Two-dimensional
3D	Three-dimensional
AFM	Atomic force microscopy
ALD	Atomic layer deposition
AMAT	Applied Materials Inc.
CMOS	Complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor
СМР	Chemical mechanical polishing
DIBL	Drain-induced barrier lowering
DSI	Data Storage Institute
EBL	Electron beam lithography
EDX	Energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy
ET-BL	Elevated-temperature beam-line ion implantation
ET-PLAD	Elevated-temperature plasma doping
FIB	Focused ion beam
FinFET	Fin field-effect transistor
HKMG	High- <i>k</i> /metal-gate
III-V	Compound semiconductor comprising elements in Groups III and V of the periodic table
IMRE	Institute of Materials Research and Engineering
InGaAs	Indium gallium arsenide (In _x Ga _{1-x} As, $0 \le x \le 1$)
IR-VASE	Infrared variable angle spectroscopic ellipsometry
ITRS	International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors
LA	Laser anneal
MBE	Molecular beam epitaxy
MLD	Monolayer doping
MOSFET	Metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistor

n ⁺	Moderately doped n-type
n ⁺⁺	Heavily doped n-type
n-MOSFET	MOSFET with an n-type channel (electrons as inversion carriers)
NSAM	Non-self-aligned metallization
NWFET	Nanowire MOSFET
p	Lightly doped p-type
p^+	Moderately doped p-type
PLAD	Plasma doping
p-MOSFET	MOSFET with a p-type channel (holes as inversion carriers)
RF	Radio frequency
RMS	Root-mean-square
RTA	Rapid thermal anneal
RT-BL	Room-temperature beam-line ion implantation
RT-PLAD	Room-temperature plasma doping
S/D	Source/drain
SAM	Self-aligned metallization
sccm	Standard cubic centimeters per minute
SCE	Short-channel effect
SDE	Source/drain extension
SEM	Scanning electron microscopy
SIMS	Secondary ion mass spectrometry
SPM	Sulfuric peroxide mixture
SS	Subthreshold swing
TCAD	Technology Computer Aided Design
TEM	Transmission electron microscopy
TLM	Transfer length method
UPS	Ultra-violet photoelectron spectroscopy
UTB	Ultra-thin body

UV-VASE	Ultra-violet variable angle spectroscopic ellipsometry
VASE	Variable angle spectroscopic ellipsometry
XPS	X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy
μ-4PP	Micro four-point probes

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 BACKGROUND

For the past several decades, the microelectronics industry has seen aggressive shrinking of the transistors that form the basic building blocks of integrated circuits. Modern logic circuits rely on n-channel and p-channel metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors (n-MOSFETs and p-MOSFETs, respectively), known as complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor (CMOS) technology, with the cheap and abundant silicon (Si) being the dominant substrate material of choice. The scaling trend has followed Moore's law, which predicts a doubling of the number of transistors in integrated circuits roughly every two years, and is motivated by the increased packing density, faster switching speed, and lower switching energy that arise from transistor downsizing. The end result is lower cost per transistor, greater functionality, and improved performance.

A simple and well-known equation for the saturation drain current $I_{d,sat}$ of a long-channel MOSFET is given by

$$I_{d,sat} = \frac{1}{2} \mu C_{ox} \frac{W}{L_G} (|V_g - V_{t,sat}|)^2 \quad , \tag{1.1}$$

where μ is the carrier mobility in the channel, C_{ox} is the gate dielectric capacitance per unit area, W is the channel width, L_G is the gate length, V_g is the applied gate bias (source grounded), and $V_{t,sat}$ is the saturation threshold voltage. Note that this equation describes only the MOSFET channel and does not include parasitic resistances outside the channel. Effects such as polysilicon depletion in polysilicon gates and quantum confinement in the channel, which affect the overall gate-tochannel capacitance, are also not accounted for. Nevertheless, while this equation is very basic and may not hold for advanced MOSFETs at extremely scaled dimensions, it is useful for understanding the important role of scaling in enhancing MOSFET drive current performance. From (1.1), it is easily observed that a reduction in L_G produces an increase in $I_{d,sat}$, as will an increase in C_{ox} via a reduction of the gate dielectric thickness.

However, as transistor dimensions progress to the deep sub-micrometer regime and beyond, transistor scaling becomes increasingly difficult. Major scaling challenges include more severe short-channel effects (SCEs) at small L_G and increased susceptibility of thin dielectrics to breakdown, leading to high OFF-state leakage current as well as yield and reliability issues. Instead of relying exclusively on conventional scaling, various other techniques can also be used to enhance MOSFET performance. Strain techniques are an effective means of significantly boosting μ [1]-[11], and have been adopted in industry. For instance, Intel Corporation, widely regarded as the industry leader, employed a SiN liner stressor for n-MOSFETs and embedded SiGe source/drain (S/D) stressors for p-MOSFETs at the 90 nm technology node. Other than reducing the gate dielectric thickness, higher C_{ox} can also be achieved by increasing the dielectric constant κ of the gate dielectric, such as by nitriding the SiO₂ gate dielectric [12]-[15] or by using high- κ dielectrics [16]-[30]. In fact, gate leakage concerns have imposed a limit on SiO₂ thickness scaling and necessitated a switch to high- κ gate dielectrics. In addition, the increasing influence of polysilicon depletion on gate capacitance as gate dielectric thickness scales down has also mandated a switch to metal gates from polysilicon gates. The first commercial chips featuring high- κ /metal-gate (HKMG) were produced by Intel at the 45 nm technology node in year 2007.

Another major development is fin field-effect transistors (FinFETs) [31]-[41], which were recently introduced for the first time in mass production by Intel at the 22 nm technology node in year 2011. Fig. 1.1 shows a FinFET fabrication process flow and scanning electron microscopy (SEM) images of a fabricated FinFET [35]. FinFETs are three-dimensional (3D) tri-gate MOSFETs with better gate electrostatic control of the channel, which helps to suppress SCEs [e.g. drain-induced barrier lowering (DIBL)], reduce leakage, and improve subthreshold performance (e.g. subthreshold swing). In addition, their 3D structure results in a smaller footprint for a given W, thus giving higher current per unit area. FinFETs are expected to replace planar MOSFETs as the main device architecture beyond the 22 nm node, with a possible progression to stacked or vertical gate-all-around nanowire MOSFETs (NWFETs) [42]-[53] further down the line.



Fig. 1.1. (a)-(f) Schematics illustrating a FinFET process flow, and (g)-(h) SEM images of a fabricated FinFET. The schematics and SEM images are from Ref. [35].

1.2 MOTIVATION FOR III-V MATERIALS

Despite these efforts to continue the scaling trend and prolong silicon's status as the mainstay of the semiconductor industry, silicon is expected to eventually reach its scaling limit. The increased ON-state and OFF-state currents per transistor and the exponentially growing number of transistors in an integrated circuit combine to give rise to rapidly increasing operating and standby power consumption, such that as technology scales beyond the sub-20 nm regime, power consumption becomes the overriding concern rather than speed. For further increases in transistor density, it therefore becomes necessary to lower the supply voltage V_{dd} to reduce power consumption. However, from (1.1), it can be deduced that a lower V_{dd} (and hence lower V_g) is detrimental to drive current and switching speed.

High-mobility III-V semiconductor materials therefore have an important role to play as potential candidates to replace Si as the MOSFET channel material at advanced technology nodes, as their high carrier mobilities and injection velocities allow higher ON current I_{on} at the same OFF current I_{off} , or lower I_{off} at the same I_{on} , for a given V_{dd} . This enables III-V MOSFETs to maintain high performance at reduced V_{dd} . In other words, III-V MOSFETs hold great promise for achieving both high speed and low operating and standby power, which will enable the scaling trend to continue.

Attention has thus been devoted to the research of III-V materials [54]-[80], which include arsenides and antimonides, for potential application in CMOS technology. Among the possible III-V semiconductor materials to replace Si, indium gallium arsenide (InGaAs) is a leading contender for n-MOSFETs [80], and is the focus of the work in this thesis.



Fig. 1.2. Schematic illustrating the key challenges for the use of III-V MOSFETs in CMOS logic.

1.3 CHALLENGES OF III-V CMOS LOGIC

Many challenges have to be overcome before III-V MOSFETs can be used in mass production for CMOS logic circuits. These include the deposition of a highquality gate stack, achieving low parasitic resistances, and cost-effective integration on a Si platform. The key challenges are illustrated in Fig. 1.2, and are discussed in the following subsections.

1.3.1 High-quality gate stack

One of the main challenges is the gate stack, which comprises the metal gate and high- κ gate dielectric. The gate modulates the electrostatic potential in the MOSFET channel in order to control the amount of charge in the channel and the barrier between the source and the channel, thereby turning the transistor on or off. In order for the gate to properly perform its function, a gate dielectric that has a minimal amount of defects and a high-quality interface with the channel is required. A high density of interface states D_{it} at the interface between the gate dielectric and the channel causes Fermi level pinning, which inhibits the gate's ability to modulate the channel surface potential [81]. A rough dielectric-channel interface, high D_{it} , and high levels of defects and trapped charges in the gate dielectric can also severely degrade the mobility of carriers in the channel due to phonon, coulomb, and surface roughness scattering, as well as the trapping and de-trapping of carriers. This could negate the advantage that III-V materials have over Si in terms of carrier mobility and injection velocity, which defeats the purpose of using high-mobility channel materials.

Achieving a high-quality gate stack on III-V channel materials has proven to be difficult. The formation of native oxides on III-V surfaces tends to result in Fermi level pinning, and interface defects and states can also be formed when high- κ dielectrics are deposited on III-V materials [82]-[84]. Many techniques have been explored to improve the quality of gate stacks deposited on III-V materials [85]-[107] in order to reduce the amount and influence of dielectric and interface defects. These techniques include (i) surface cleaning (e.g. HCl), passivation [e.g. (NH₄)₂S_{κ}], and pre-treatment (e.g. HBr) prior to gate stack formation, (ii) insertion of an interfacial layer (e.g. InP) between the gate dielectric and the channel, and (iii) post-deposition treatment (e.g. forming gas anneal). Fig. 1.3 shows a schematic and cross-sectional transmission electron microscopy (TEM) images of an In_{0.7}Ga_{0.3}As n-MOSFET with an InP capping layer between the channel and the high- κ gate dielectric [107]. Alternatives to the commonly used Al₂O₃ and HfO₂ high- κ dielectrics have also been investigated [108]-[109].



Fig. 1.3. (a) Schematic and (b)-(c) cross-sectional TEM images of an $In_{0.7}Ga_{0.3}As$ n-MOSFET with an InP capping layer between the channel and the high- κ gate dielectric. This figure is taken from Ref. [107].



Fig. 1.4. Schematic illustrating the parasitic resistance components of a MOSFET.

1.3.2 Low parasitic resistances

The successful realization of a high-mobility channel with a high-quality gate stack in III-V MOSFETs is only half the battle won. To gain maximum benefit from high-mobility III-V MOSFETs and fully utilize their potential, another big challenge in the form of low parasitic resistances needs to be met. Fig. 1.4 illustrates the parasitic resistance components of a MOSFET, which include the S/D extension (SDE) resistance *R*_{SDE}, S/D resistance *R*_{SD}, contact resistance *R*_c between the contact metallization and the S/D semiconductor, and metal resistance *R*_{metal}. The employment of high-mobility channel materials and aggressively scaled *L*_G result in low channel resistance *R*_{ch} in III-V MOSFETs. With low *R*_{ch}, the parasitic resistances outside the channel need to be comparatively lower so that they do not limit drive current performance. *R*_{SD} also constitutes a significant portion of the total resistance for devices with the FinFET architecture [58]-[59], due to the very narrow fins that are required for good gate control [39]-[41]. Likewise, nanowire transistors [70]-[73] also face high *R*_{SD} due to the small diameter of the nanowire.

In Si CMOS technology, self-aligned silicide ('salicide') is used for the S/D contact metallization. Self-alignment of the S/D contact metallization to the gate brings it directly adjacent to the gate (separated by a spacer), thereby minimizing the distance and hence R_{SD} between the channel and the contact metallization. The salicide is formed by blanket deposition of a metal, followed by rapid thermal annealing (RTA) to induce reaction between the metal and the silicon S/D to form a metallic silicide, while the metal on the gate spacer and isolation regions remains unreacted. The unreacted metal is then selectively etched away, leaving S/D contact metallization that is self-aligned to the gate. This salicide process is well-established
for silicon, with extensive studies on various silicides [110]-[116] such as TiSi₂, CoSi₂, NiSi, and PtSi.

In III-V technology, self-aligned S/D contact metallization has been made before [117]-[118], but is not salicide-like. III-V MOSFETs did not have a salicide equivalent until the development of NiGeSi contact metallization for GaAs MOSFETs in year 2010 [119]-[121], which was formed by reacting Ni with a GeSi layer selectively grown on the GaAs S/D regions. A truly salicide-like S/D contact metallization in III-V MOSFETs would involve direct reaction between a metal and the III-V material. A schematic diagram for the formation of such salicide-like contact metallization in InGaAs n-MOSFETs is shown in Fig. 1.5.

Self-aligned Ni-InGaAs contact metallization formed by reacting Ni directly with InGaAs was subsequently developed [122]-[141]. Self-aligned Ni-InP [142] and NiInAs [143] S/D contact metallization, similarly formed by direct reaction between Ni and the III-V material (InP and InAs, respectively), were also



Fig. 1.5. Schematic illustrating the formation of salicide-like S/D contact metallization in InGaAs n-MOSFETs: Deposition of metal M, followed by RTA to induce reaction between M and InGaAs to form M-InGaAs contact metallization, and finally a selective etch to remove unreacted M. The M-InGaAs contact metallization needs to form a good ohmic contact to n^{++} InGaAs.

demonstrated. However, little else has been reported on alternative salicide-like contact metallization for III-V MOSFETs employing metals other than Ni. Regardless of the choice of contact metallization scheme (self-aligned or non-selfaligned) and the contact metal used, the contact resistivity ρ_c of the contact metallization on the S/D semiconductor must be low in order to achieve low R_c . So far, *in situ* Mo deposition has yielded the lowest ρ_c of $\sim 1 \times 10^{-8} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ on In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As [144]-[145] and $\sim 1 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ on In_{0.65}Ga_{0.35}As [146], with mid-10¹⁹ cm⁻³ n-type active doping concentration. Mo is therefore a good candidate for nonself-aligned contact metallization in InGaAs n-MOSFETs. The lowest ρ_c obtained to date for Ni-InGaAs contact metallization is $\sim 1 \times 10^{-6} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ on n-type In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As with low- to mid-10¹⁹ cm⁻³ active doping concentration [136]-[137]. More work is needed to reduce the ρ_c of Ni-InGaAs in order for it to be competitive with Mo.

Other than contact formation, another important process module in the fabrication of MOSFETs is doping of the S/D and SDE regions, as it can significantly affect both the ON-state and subthreshold performances of the device. Abrupt, ultra-shallow, and high-quality junctions in the S/D and SDE regions are paramount for suppressing source-to-drain leakage and SCEs such as DIBL, especially in sub-10 nm MOSFETs. The electrical resistivity ρ of a semiconductor is given by

$$\rho = (en_e\mu_e + en_h\mu_h)^{-1} , \qquad (1.2)$$

where *e* is the elementary charge $(1.6 \times 10^{-19} \text{ C})$, n_e is the electron concentration, μ_e is the electron mobility, n_h is the hole concentration, and μ_h is the hole mobility. An increase in doping concentration in the S/D and SDE regions therefore lowers R_{SD} and R_{SDE} through a reduction in ρ . This is especially important for ultra-shallow junctions, which would otherwise have high sheet resistance due to the thinness of the doped layer. The S/D doping concentration also plays an important role in reducing R_c , as the ρ_c of a metal-semiconductor contact becomes smaller when the doping concentration at the semiconductor surface increases.

High doping concentration is therefore needed to minimize parasitic resistances and achieve a high drive current. The highest electron concentration that can be obtained for *in situ* Si-doped $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ grown by MBE is found to be $\sim 6 \times 10^{19}$ cm⁻³ [147]. While this is lower than the mid- 10^{20} cm⁻³ active n-type doping that can be achieved in silicon, the higher electron mobility of $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ helps to bridge the gap and enables *in situ* Si-doped $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ to achieve similar or better ρ . However, one disadvantage of *in situ* doping is the process complexity, as it requires selective growth of the III-V material, and may also involve a recess etch.

In addition to high doping concentration, 3D FinFETs require conformal doping to dope the sidewalls of the fins. Conformal doping with high doping concentration ensures that the drain current spreads more uniformly over the fin sidewalls to achieve a high I_{on} .

Beam-line ion implantation has so far been the primary doping technique employed in industry by virtue of its well-controlled dose and uniformity. Very low ion implant energies of a few keV and below are required for abrupt ultra-shallow junction formation. A pre-amorphization implant [148]-[150] may also be needed to suppress ion channeling. The use of ultra-low implant energies and the scaling up of wafer size have previously presented challenges to beam-line implantation throughput. Fortunately, the development of an advanced beam-line implanter with high beam current and excellent throughput has allowed beam-line implantation to meet the throughput needs of high-dose, ultra-low-energy implantations of large wafers. However, as the fin pitch is scaled down, conformal doping becomes increasingly challenging and may not be sufficiently provided by conventional beamline ion implantation. This is due to the directionality of the ion beam, which leads to shadowing effects (Fig. 1.6). At present, beam-line ion implantation remains a highly viable technique for doping FinFETs at the 14/16 nm technology node, but as the fin pitch continues to shrink, the angle limitations caused by shadowing could limit the use of beam-line implantation at advanced technology nodes. Furthermore, the crystal damage and defects caused by ion implantation become harder to repair at small fin dimensions due to a lack of sufficient crystalline seed for crystal regrowth, leading to higher leakage and series resistance. Therefore, new doping techniques that can fulfill the necessary requirements – namely high doping concentration, abrupt and ultra-shallow junctions with few defects, and conformal doping – need to be developed for III-V MOSFETs.



Fig. 1.6. Schematic illustrating the shadowing effect for beam-line ion implantation at narrow fin pitch. Ion implantation for one side of the fins is shown, with the other side implanted by rotating the wafer by 180°. The shadowing effect becomes more severe as fin pitch is reduced, and results in non-conformal doping as the bottom parts of the fins do not receive the ion implantation.

1.3.3 Integration on Si platform

Last but not least, a viable and cost-effective method is needed for large-scale integration of III-V MOSFETs on large Si substrates in order to keep equipment and manufacturing costs low. Possible methods that have been explored include buffer layer growth [57],[151],[152], III-V-on-insulator [153]-[155], and aspect ratio trapping [156]-[161].

In buffer layer growth, a graded buffer is grown on the Si substrate before the III-V device layers are grown. The III-V device layers cannot be grown directly on Si due to the large lattice mismatch, which will result in a low-quality film with many defects and dislocations. A graded buffer (which can comprise more than one layer) is therefore inserted between the III-V device layers and the Si substrate. The lattice constant of the graded buffer transitions gradually over the thickness of the buffer, starting from the lattice constant of Si at the bottom, and becoming equal or close to the lattice constant of the III-V device layers at the top. This allows the growth of relaxed or slightly strained III-V device layers that are defect-free, as the misfit dislocations and defects are confined to the buffer. Buffer layers tend to be made of ternary III-V compounds such as $In_xAl_{1-x}As$ and $Al_xGa_{1-x}As$, as their composition (the value of *x*) can be varied in order to provide a gradual transition in lattice constant. Fig. 1.7 shows cross-sectional TEM images of a graded buffer on Si substrate, with the III-V device layers grown on top of the buffer [57].



Fig. 1.7. (a) Cross-sectional TEM image of a graded buffer on Si substrate, with a III-V quantum well (QW) stack grown on top of it. (b) High-resolution TEM image of the QW device layers, showing good crystalline quality with no dislocations. The TEM images are from Ref. [57].

III-V-on-insulator is similar to silicon-on-insulator (SOI), which is wellestablished in Si technology, and is essentially a layer transfer technique. The desired III-V layer is first grown on a donor wafer, after which it is transferred to an oxidecovered Si substrate by direct wafer bonding and etchback [153], or by epitaxial layer transfer [154]-[155]. Fig. 1.8 illustrates the epitaxial layer transfer of InAs layers to form InAs-on-insulator [155]. Like SOI, the III-V-on-insulator layer can be relaxed or strained.



Fig. 1.8. (a) Schematics for epitaxial layer transfer of InAs layers to a SiO_2 -covered Si substrate to form an InAs-on-insulator substrate. (b) Cross-sectional SEM image of the donor wafer just before the layer transfer. (c)-(d) Cross-sectional TEM images of the InAs-on-insulator substrate. This figure is taken from Ref. [155].



Fig. 1.9. (a) Schematic and (b) cross-sectional SEM image of GaAs on Ge grown on Si by the aspect ratio trapping technique. The dislocations, represented by thick black lines in (a), terminate on the SiO_2 sidewalls and are confined to the bottom of the trenches. This figure is taken from Ref. [156].

Aspect ratio trapping involves the growth of material in high-aspect-ratio SiO_2 trenches on Si. The Si substrate is exposed at the bottom of the SiO_2 trench. The dislocations induced by large lattice mismatch terminate on the SiO_2 sidewalls and are thus confined to the bottom of the trench, leaving high-quality material at the top of the trench that can be used for device fabrication. Fig. 1.9 shows the growth of Ge in SiO_2 trenches on Si, with epitaxial lateral overgrowth above the trenches, after which the Ge is planarized by chemical mechanical polishing (CMP) before the growth of GaAs buffer and device layers [156]. III-V materials can also be grown directly in the SiO_2 trenches [157]-[161].

Whichever integration method is used, top-quality III-V layers with minimal defects much be obtained for good device performance. Further complications (e.g. different lattice constants and thermal expansion coefficients) arise from the fact that the materials used for n-MOSFETs and p-MOSFETs may not be the same. Therefore, the integration of high-mobility materials on Si substrates is challenging.

1.4 OBJECTIVES OF THESIS

The research in this thesis focuses on contact and S/D engineering for InGaAs n-MOSFETs, taking a dual approach to tackling the dominance of parasitic resistances in high-mobility MOSFETs at highly scaled dimensions. Solutions to the S/D contact and doping challenges of InGaAs n-MOSFETs are explored, and are divided into two parts.

The first part of this thesis work examines S/D contact metallization technology for InGaAs n-MOSFETs, and comprises both experiments and simulations. The InGaAs equivalent of the salicide contact metallization technology used in Si is first studied by reacting different metals with InGaAs. This contact metallization

technology can potentially give significant reductions in R_{SD} for InGaAs n-MOSFETs, just as it has done for Si MOSFETs. However, the scaling down of the gate pitch means that contact areas are getting smaller, bringing along with it a concomitant increase in R_c which could become the dominant source of parasitic resistance. At the same time, contact plugs or vias that are not self-aligned to the gate can be brought very close to the gate by improved lithographic capabilities, reducing the benefit of lower R_{SD} provided by salicide-like contact metallization. Hence, two-dimensional (2D) simulations are performed not only to ascertain the ρ_c requirements for S/D contact metallization in InGaAs n-MOSFETs, but also to assess the importance of salicide-like contact metallization with respect to non-self-aligned contact metallization in InGaAs n-MOSFETs at advanced technology nodes.

In the second part of this thesis work, new doping techniques that can address the shortcomings of conventional beam-line ion implantation at advanced technology nodes are developed for InGaAs n-MOSFETs. These doping techniques not only aim to achieve the highly doped high-quality S/D or SDE regions with abrupt ultrashallow junctions that are required for low parasitic resistances and low leakage, but also seek to provide doping solutions for 3D device architectures with highly scaled dimensions.

1.5 ORGANIZATION OF THESIS

Chapters 2 to 5 document the research work done, the results obtained, and the analysis of those results.

In Chapter 2, the reaction of various metals (Ti, Co, and Pd) with InGaAs is studied for the development of salicide-like contact metallization for InGaAs n-MOSFETs. The conditions for reaction between the metal and InGaAs are determined, and the reaction products formed are characterized in terms of their material and electrical properties, such as thickness uniformity, work function, sheet resistance, and contact resistivity.

In Chapter 3, InGaAs n-MOSFETs employing either salicide-like or non-selfaligned S/D contact metallization are compared by means of 2D simulations, allowing the advantages of salicide-like contact metallization to be examined for InGaAs n-MOSFETs at advanced technology nodes.

In Chapter 4, a new technique capable of forming conformal, ultra-shallow, and abrupt junctions with high doping concentration in InGaAs n-MOSFETs is developed. The promising technique, which uses Si monolayers and laser anneal to form high-quality junctions without implant damage, is successfully demonstrated in planar InGaAs n-MOSFETs for the first time.

In Chapter 5, plasma doping (PLAD) is explored as another doping technique that can conformally dope the S/D or SDE regions of 3D InGaAs n-MOSFETs. The use of an elevated substrate temperature is also investigated as a means for suppressing amorphization during the introduction of dopants into InGaAs. This is potentially important for MOSFETs with the ultra-thin body (UTB), FinFET, or NWFET architectures, where recrystallization during the subsequent dopant activation anneal could prove problematic.

Chapter 6 summarizes the contributions of this thesis and provides possible future directions for building on the work that has been presented.

46

Chapter 2

Material Study for Salicide-Like Source/Drain Contact Metallization in InGaAs Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistors

2.1 INTRODUCTION

In this Chapter, the equivalent of the self-aligned silicide ('salicide') in Si technology is explored for III-V metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors (MOSFETs).

In the selection of metals for this source/drain (S/D) contact metallization scheme, an important criterion that needs to be satisfied is the ability of the metal to react with III-V materials to form a low-resistance ohmic contact. There should also be good etch selectivity of the unreacted metal over the reaction product so that the unreacted metal can be removed completely to prevent shorting without adversely affecting the S/D contact metallization.

Salicide-like contact metallization formed by reaction of Ni with III-V materials such as InGaAs, InP, and InAs has been reported [122]-[143]. The reaction of other metals – namely Ti, Co, and Pd – with InGaAs is thus investigated for the formation of salicide-like contact metallization in InGaAs n-channel MOSFETs (n-MOSFETs). Like Ni, Ti and Co have been used to form silicides in Si technology [110]-[115] and therefore have known etchants for the removal of

unreacted Ti and Co. The choice of Pd is motivated by PdGe contact metallization reported in literature, which forms good ohmic contacts to III-V materials [162]-[171].

2.2 ANALYSIS OF METAL REACTION WITH INGAAS

It is first necessary to determine the annealing conditions required for the metals to react with InGaAs. 500-nm-thick (001) $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ with a p-type doping concentration of $\sim 2 \times 10^{16}$ cm⁻³, formed by molecular beam epitaxy (MBE) on bulk InP, was used as the starting substrate for all samples. The substrates were purchased from a vendor. Two kinds of samples were prepared: blanket samples and transfer length method (TLM) [172] samples. The blanket samples are used to ascertain the temperature at which various metals react with InGaAs to form a metallic product, which is necessary for a salicide-like process. The TLM samples are used for contact resistivity extraction. All the sample fabrication, characterization, and analysis were done by the author unless otherwise mentioned.

Blanket samples were prepared by cleaning the bare $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ surface with dilute hydrofluoric acid (HF:H₂O = 1:100) for 60 s, followed immediately by deposition of metal (Ti, Co, or Pd) by electron beam evaporation. The samples were then cut into pieces and each piece was annealed by a single rapid thermal anneal (RTA) at 200, 250, 300, 350, or 400 °C for 60 s in a N₂ ambient.

The first step in the fabrication of TLM samples was blanket implantation of Si at 7° tilt. Two implants were used: the first at a dose of 10^{14} cm⁻² and an energy of 70 keV (projected range ≈ 66 nm), and the second at the same dose but with an energy of 25 keV (projected range ≈ 27 nm). A SiO₂ capping layer (~30 nm) was then deposited before dopant activation RTA at 600 °C for 60 s. The active donor

concentration is estimated to be $\sim 2 \times 10^{18}$ cm⁻³ [173]. Optical lithography for mesa isolation was performed and the mesa pattern was transferred to the SiO₂ layer by buffered oxide etch. The photoresist was then removed. Mesa etching was performed with sulfuric peroxide mixture (H_2SO_4 : H_2O_2 : $H_2O = 1$:1:20) (SPM) to a depth of ~300 nm to isolate the TLM structures. TLM contact pads were then defined by optical lithography and the pattern was transferred to the SiO₂ layer by etching. A 60 s dilute HF clean (HF: $H_2O = 1:100$) was carried out right before loading the samples into an electron beam evaporator chamber for metal (Ti, Co, or Pd) deposition. After deposition, photoresist lift-off was performed using acetone. The samples were then cut into pieces, with each piece undergoing a single RTA with conditions identical to those used for blanket samples. 100-nm-thick Ni pads were then deposited on the contact metal pads to ensure a metal stack with low sheet resistance, using the same deposition and lift-off process that was used for the metal deposition, including a 20 s dilute HF clean before deposition. Figs. 2.1 and 2.2 summarize the process flow for TLM sample fabrication.

Starting substrate: (001) $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ wafer with p-type doping concentration of $\sim 2 \times 10^{16}$ cm⁻³

- Si dual implant to form n-well
 10¹⁴ cm⁻², 70 keV, 7° tilt
 10¹⁴ cm⁻², 25 keV, 7° tilt
- (2) SiO₂ capping layer, activation anneal ($600 \degree C 60 \text{ s}$)
- 3 Mesa patterning by photolithography and oxide etch
- 4 Photoresist removal, followed by mesa etch using SPM
- (5) Contact hole patterning by photolithography and oxide etch
- **6** Metal deposition
- ⑦ Lift-off using acetone
- **(8)** Rapid thermal anneal (RTA) for 60 s at various temperatures
- (9) Thick Ni pad deposition and lift-off

Fig. 2.1. Process flow for the fabrication of TLM structures.



Fig. 2.2. Schematics illustrating the TLM process flow in Fig. 2.1.



Fig. 2.3. TEM images of Ti (a) as-deposited, and after 60 s anneal at (b) 300 °C, (c) 350 °C, or (d) 400 °C. EDX analysis was done at spots 1 to 3 in (c).

Fig. 2.3 shows the transmission electron microscopy (TEM) images obtained from blanket samples of Ti on $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ before and after annealing. All the TEM in this Chapter was done by a colleague, Dr. Qian Zhou, unless otherwise stated. ~30 nm of Ti was deposited on the $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ substrate, as seen in Fig. 2.3(a), followed by annealing at a temperature of 300, 350, or 400 °C for 60 s.

It can be observed from Figs. 2.3 (b) and (c) that there is hardly any increase in the film thickness after annealing at 300 or 350 °C, suggesting that little reaction has taken place. However, the film appears to be badly degraded or agglomerated after 400 °C anneal [Fig. 2.3(d)]. Energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy (EDX) with a spot size of ~10 nm was carried out on the Ti sample annealed at 350 °C at the three spots indicated in Fig. 2.3(c). At spot 1, a mixture of Ti and O is detected, while at spot 2, the film is made up almost entirely of Ti, with a small amount of As. Spot 3 yields mostly In, Ga, and As, with a tiny amount of Ti. This confirms that there is little to no reaction between Ti and the $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ substrate.

The TLM current-voltage (I-V) characteristics for as-deposited and annealed Ti samples are curves rather than straight lines, indicating that the contacts are not ohmic. As a result, contact resistance and contact resistivity values could not be extracted from the TLM data for Ti samples.



Fig. 2.4. TEM images of Co (a) as-deposited, and after 60 s anneal at (b) 300 °C, (c) 350 °C, or (d) 400 °C. EDX analysis was done at spots 4 to 6 in (b) and spots 7 to 10 in (c).

TEM images for ~20 nm of Co deposited on $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ and annealed at various temperatures for 60 s are presented in Fig. 2.4. For the Co sample annealed at 300 °C [Fig. 2.4(b)], a change at the interface between Co and $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ is observed. Co appears to have diffused into the $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ substrate, as confirmed by the detection of a substantial amount (~35 atomic %) of Co by EDX at spot 5, while at spot 6, only In, Ga and As were detected. However, the diffusion of Co does not appear to be uniform, and there is still an almost 20 nm layer of Co remaining on the surface, as determined by EDX at spot 4, which shows the top layer to be almost entirely Co with tiny amounts of In, Ga and As.

After 350 °C anneal [Fig. 2.4(c)], the resultant film appears to be more uniform compared to the sample annealed at 300 °C [Fig. 2.4(b)], although the interface between the metal film and the substrate is very rough. In addition, the thickness of the film has increased to ~60 nm. These observations suggest a more uniform diffusion and reaction of the Co with the $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ substrate to form Co-InGaAs. EDX at spots 7, 8, and 9 [Fig. 2.4(c)] indicate ~35-40 atomic % of Co mixed with In, Ga and As, while spot 10 yields only In, Ga and As. The absence of a layer of pure Co indicates that the Co has fully reacted with $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$. It is interesting to note that much more Ga (~46 atomic %) than As (~12 atomic %) is detected at spot 7, whereas there is much more As (~51 atomic %) than Ga (~6 atomic %) at spot 8, and comparable amounts of Ga and As (26-32 atomic %) at spot 9. Small amounts of In (2-6 atomic %) are detected at spots 7, 8, and 9.

For the sample annealed at 400 °C [Fig. 2.4(d)], the film has a thickness of ~60 nm, similar to that obtained by 350 °C anneal, and has an equally rough (if not rougher) morphology and interface with the $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ substrate. The lack of

increase in the thickness of the metal film suggests that a 350 °C anneal may be sufficient for complete reaction.

The Co and Co-InGaAs TLM current-voltage (*I-V*) characteristics produced straight lines, indicating that Co and Co-InGaAs form ohmic contacts with the n-In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As substrate. Contact resistivity values of the Co and Co-InGaAs contact metallization extracted from the TLM data were in the range of mid $10^{-4} \Omega \cdot cm^2$.

Cross-sectional TEM images were obtained for Pd on $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ after annealing at 200, 250 or 350 °C (Fig. 2.5). As-deposited Pd thickness was ~10 nm. After annealing, a single metallic film is seen on the $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ substrate and confirmed by EDX to be made up of Pd, In, Ga, and As. This indicates that the deposited Pd was fully reacted to form Pd-InGaAs.

The Pd-InGaAs films formed at 200 and 250 °C [Figs. 2.5 (a) and (b)] look identical and have a similar atomic ratio of Pd:In:Ga:As (~58:9:14:19) as obtained by EDX. The EDX spot (~10 nm in diameter) was located approximately in the middle of the 20-nm-thick Pd-InGaAs film in the TEM cross-section. The atomic ratio can also be obtained by X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS), as discussed later. Both films are amorphous and have a thickness of ~20 nm, and they exhibit excellent smoothness, uniformity, and interfacial quality. Very low root-mean-square (RMS) roughness of ~0.7 nm in a 10 μ m × 10 μ m area was measured by an atomic force microscopy (AFM) scan of the film formed at 200 °C. A high-magnification TEM image of the sample annealed at 250 °C (Fig. 2.6) shows the good interface between the Pd-InGaAs film and the In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As substrate. In contrast, the film formed at 350 °C has a degraded morphology and interface [Fig. 2.5(c)], which is detrimental, especially for shallow S/D junctions. The degraded morphology and interface could be due to the formation of polycrystalline film.



Fig. 2.5. TEM images of blanket samples of ~10 nm Pd on $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ after 60 s isochronal anneal at (a) 200 °C, (b) 250 °C, and (c) 350 °C.



Fig. 2.6. High-magnification view of the interface between the Pd-InGaAs film and the $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ substrate for the sample annealed at 250 °C for 60 s.

In studies of Si/Pd and Ge/Pd contact schemes on GaAs [163]-[164], Pd can react with GaAs at ~100 °C to form a metastable intermediate Pd₄GaAs phase. Hence, while a low temperature of 200 °C is sufficient to cause reaction between Pd and $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$, it may not be the lowest temperature required. This is in contrast to Ni-InGaAs and Co-InGaAs, which require an anneal temperature of at least about 250 °C and 350 °C, respectively, for their formation.

The Pd and Pd-InGaAs TLM *I-V* characteristics yielded straight lines, indicating that Pd and Pd-InGaAs form ohmic contacts with n-type $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ with active doping concentration of ~2×10¹⁸ cm⁻³. An example of the TLM *I-V* characteristics, obtained for as-deposited Pd (10 nm), is shown in Fig. 2.7(a), along with the resulting plot of total resistance R_{total} versus TLM contact pad spacing d_{TLM} in Fig. 2.7(b). Despite having a relatively large work function of 5.12 eV [174], Pd can form an ohmic contact on n-type $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ with such modest doping, which is likely due to Fermi level pinning towards the conduction band of the InGaAs. In fact, the charge neutrality level of $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ is found to be ~0.2 eV below its conduction band [175]. The contact resistance and specific contact resistivity values extracted from the TLM *I-V* characteristics are plotted in Fig. 2.8, showing higher contact resistivity for Pd-InGaAs films formed at 250, 300, and 350 °C compared to as-deposited Pd.



Fig. 2.7. (a) TLM *I-V* characteristics obtained for as-deposited Pd, and (b) the resulting plot of total resistance R_{total} versus TLM contact pad spacing d_{TLM} , from which contact resistance and specific contact resistivity values can be derived. The inset shows a schematic of the TLM structure, with the contact pads represented by gray rectangles (100-nm-thick Ni pads on top of the contact pads are not shown). Probing is done on two adjacent pads.



Fig. 2.8. (a) Contact resistance R_c and (b) specific contact resistivity ρ_c versus anneal temperature for Pd-InGaAs. Anneal time is fixed at 60 s.

2.3 IN-DEPTH CHARACTERIZATION OF PD-INGAAS

From the study of the reaction between Ti, Co, and Pd with InGaAs, Pd appears to be a better candidate for reaction with InGaAs to form salicide-like S/D contact metallization in InGaAs MOSFETs. Ti showed little or no reaction with InGaAs, while Co completely reacts with InGaAs at 350 °C to form a Co-InGaAs alloy with a rough interface with InGaAs. Further work on Co-InGaAs was done by a fellow student and is reported in Ref. [176]. Co-InGaAs is also studied and reported by another group in Ref. [177]. Pd, on the other hand, completely reacts with InGaAs at temperatures as low as 200 °C and possibly below, thereby requiring a lower thermal budget. The resulting Pd-InGaAs film also has superior smoothness, uniformity, interfacial quality, and contact resistivity than Co-InGaAs.

Therefore, Pd-InGaAs is studied in greater detail in this Chapter. Four-point probe measurements were done to extract sheet resistance, while X-ray and ultra-

violet photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS and UPS, respectively) were carried out on Pd-InGaAs formed at 250 °C. InGaAs MOSFETs featuring Pd-InGaAs S/D contacts formed by a salicide-like process were fabricated in collaboration with another fellow student, and are reported in Ref. [178]. Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) and TEM images of one such device are shown in Fig. 2.9 [178]. The TEM was done at the Institute of Materials Research and Engineering (IMRE) as a paid service.



Fig. 2.9. (a) SEM and (b) TEM images of an InGaAs MOSFET with Pd-InGaAs S/D contacts formed by a salicide-like process [178]. The red box in (b) overlays a TEM image with the unreacted Pd removed from the gate and spacer.

2.3.1 Sheet resistance analysis

Sheet resistance R_{sheet} was measured using micro four-point probes (µ-4PP) with 10 µm probe spacing, which allows accurate measurement of the film alone for films as thin as 10 nm. To examine the uniformity of the Pd-InGaAs film, a fresh blanket sample was prepared for Pd-InGaAs (20 nm thick) formed at 250 °C. Measurements of R_{sheet} were carried out on this sample in an 11 × 11 array of points with 100 µm step size, covering an area of 1 mm × 1 mm. The step size of 100 µm is much larger than the µ-4PP's inter-probe spacing of 10 µm. The box plot of R_{sheet} is shown in Fig. 2.10, with a mean of 77.3 Ω /square. The R_{sheet} values have a tight distribution, with a very small standard deviation of 1.04 Ω /square, underlining the very good uniformity seen in the TEM images.



Fig. 2.10. Box plot and frequency distribution of R_{sheet} values for a 20-nm-thick Pd-InGaAs blanket sample formed by annealing at 250 °C for 60 s. The R_{sheet} values were measured in an 11 × 11 array of points with 100 µm step size, covering an area of 1 mm × 1 mm.



Fig. 2.11. Sheet resistance R_{sheet} versus anneal temperature for ~20 nm of Pd-InGaAs formed from ~10 nm of Pd. Anneal time is fixed at 60 s. The values for ~19 nm of Ni-InGaAs formed from ~11 nm of Ni on In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As with the same doping concentration are also plotted for comparison.

The measured R_{sheet} of the metal film for various annealing conditions is plotted in Fig. 2.11. The mean of 77.3 Ω /square obtained in Fig. 2.10 for Pd-InGaAs formed at 250 °C is 10% lower than that in Fig. 2.11, due to run-to-run variation. It is observed that Pd-InGaAs has higher R_{sheet} than as-deposited Pd despite having twice the thickness. The Pd-InGaAs R_{sheet} decreases as its formation temperature increases, possibly due to the formation of different phases and/or polycrystalline film, as well as larger film thickness at higher temperatures.

For comparison, Ni-InGaAs data is also plotted in Fig. 2.11. The Ni-InGaAs blanket samples were fabricated the same way as the Pd-InGaAs samples, and the Ni-InGaAs formed from ~11 nm of Ni is ~19 nm thick, which is close in thickness to the ~20 nm of Pd-InGaAs formed from ~10 nm of Pd, allowing a fair comparison of R_{sheet} .

It can be seen that Pd-InGaAs formed by a 60 s anneal at 250 °C has an R_{sheet} that is ~44% higher than that of Ni-InGaAs formed by the same anneal conditions.

2.3.2 XPS analysis

XPS was performed by our collaborators Dr. Jisheng Pan and Dr. Zheng Zhang at IMRE. The XPS was done on bulk Pd-InGaAs (30 nm thick) formed by 250 °C anneal (Fig. 2.12). *In-situ* sputtering was done prior to XPS analysis to remove native oxide from the Pd-InGaAs surface. No shift was observed for In 3d and Ga 2p peaks. However, the Pd $3d_{5/2}$ peak in Pd-InGaAs shifted by 0.9 eV with respect to that in elemental Pd (335.1 eV), and a significant shift of 1.2 eV was observed in the As 3d peaks in Pd-InGaAs with respect to bulk $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ substrate. These indicate the formation of new bonds, thus confirming the reaction between Pd and $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$.

The atomic ratio of Pd:In:Ga:As was extracted from the XPS data for Pd-InGaAs formed at 250 °C by integrating the area under the respective peaks of the various elements. As the XPS spot size is 400 μ m, which is much bigger than the EDX spot size of 10 nm, XPS provides an atomic ratio that is averaged over a larger area. Pd 3d_{5/2}, In 3d_{5/2}, and Ga 2p_{3/2} peaks, together with either As 3d_{5/2} or As 2p_{3/2} peaks, were used. The As 3d_{5/2} signal provides information from a larger depth, while the As 2p_{3/2} signal is more surface-sensitive. Using the As 3d_{5/2} peak gives a Pd:In:Ga:As atomic ratio of ~57:10:21:12, which agrees quite well with the atomic ratio of ~58:9:14:19 obtained from EDX. This is to be expected, since the EDX data was obtained from the middle of the Pd-InGaAs film. On the other hand, using the As 2p_{3/2} peak gives a Pd:In:Ga:As atomic ratio of ~49:8:18:25. The Pd atomic percentage therefore appears to be higher deeper in the film than near the surface,

which could indicate that Pd is the main diffusing species in the reaction between Pd and InGaAs. A higher atomic percentage of As nearer the surface suggests possible segregation of As towards the surface, while the dissimilarity between the In:Ga ratio in the Pd-InGaAs film and that in the In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As substrate could be due to In segregation, as seen in Ni-InGaAs formation [137], or Ga out-diffusion from InGaAs.



Fig. 2.12. XPS spectra of bulk Pd-InGaAs (30-nm-thick) formed by 250 °C 60 s anneal. The Pd $3d_{5/2}$ peak in Pd-InGaAs is shifted 0.9 eV away from the Pd $3d_{5/2}$ peak position of 335.1 eV in elemental Pd. As 3d peaks indicate a shift of 1.2 eV in As $3d_{3/2}$ and $3d_{5/2}$ peaks in Pd-InGaAs from those in bulk In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As.

2.3.3 UPS analysis

UPS is a technique that can be used to measure the work function of materials [179]-[180]. The work function of a metal is important in determining the Schottky barrier height, though the Schottky barrier height also depends on other factors such as Fermi level pinning and the presence of interfacial layers. UPS was carried out by Dr. Jisheng Pan and Dr. Zheng Zhang at IMRE on 30-nm-thick Pd-InGaAs formed at 250 °C, using He I radiation with photon energy of 21.2 eV. As with XPS, *in-situ* sputtering was done prior to UPS analysis to remove native oxide from the Pd-InGaAs surface. The sample was biased at -5 V in order for the electrons to have enough energy to overcome the work function of the UPS spectrometer.



Fig. 2.13. He I UPS spectrum of 30-nm-thick Pd-InGaAs formed from 15 nm of Pd on $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ by RTA at 250 °C for 60 s. The photon energy is 21.2 eV and the bias voltage is -5 V. The spectrum is plotted such that the Fermi edge is at zero binding energy.

The resulting UPS spectrum after background removal is shown in Fig. 2.13, which has been plotted such that the Fermi edge is at zero binding energy. For a metal like Pd-InGaAs, electrons can be detected starting from the Fermi edge. This is in contrast to a semiconductor, where the electrons with the highest energy are from the valence band maximum, which is lower than the Fermi level (i.e. at higher binding energy) for non-degenerate doping.

Because only filled energy states can emit photo-electrons, the Fermi edge shows up as a step, since the Fermi level E_F is the boundary between filled and empty states, with states above the Fermi level being empty while states below the Fermi level are filled. Therefore, the Fermi edge marks the onset of photoemission of electrons for metals. On the other hand, the secondary cut-off marks the end of the spectrum and represents electrons that have just enough energy to escape from the surface and reach the vacuum level E_{Vac} . The work function of the metal can therefore be derived by subtracting the horizontal axis intercept of the secondary cutoff (with the Fermi edge at zero binding energy) from the photon energy, as illustrated in the inset of Fig. 2.13. For the UPS spectrum in Fig. 2.13, the secondary cut-off intersects the horizontal axis at ~16.6 eV. With a photon energy of 21.2 eV, this gives a work function of $\sim 4.6 \pm 0.1$ eV for Pd-InGaAs formed at 250 °C, placing its Fermi level quite close to the conduction band minimum of $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$. The work function of Pd, in contrast, is larger at 5.12 eV [174]. Pd-InGaAs formed at 250 °C is therefore expected to have lower contact resistivity than Pd, even in the presence of Fermi level pinning, but this is not the case (Fig. 2.8). A possible reason is the presence of other interfacial layers (e.g. excess elemental In, Ga, or As) at the Pd-InGaAs/InGaAs interface after the reaction between Pd and InGaAs, and requires further investigation.

2.3.4 Benchmarking with Ni-InGaAs

The contact resistivity of Pd-InGaAs is expected to reduce for higher substrate doping concentrations, and could approach the value of ~1×10⁻⁶ Ω ·cm² obtained for Ni-InGaAs formed at 250 °C on n⁺⁺ In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As with doping concentration of ~5×10¹⁹ cm⁻³ [136]-[137]. Fig. 2.14 presents a benchmark of the contact resistivities obtained at various active donor concentrations N_d for Ni-InGaAs and Pd-InGaAs, which were formed by reaction of Ni or Pd, respectively, with In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As at 250 °C for 60 s. Table 2.1 compares their formation temperature, work function, and sheet resistance. As the contact resistivity of Pd-InGaAs on In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As ($N_d \approx 2 \times 10^{18}$ cm⁻³) is lower than that of Ni-InGaAs on In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As ($N_d \approx 1 \times 10^{18}$ cm⁻³), Pd-InGaAs could have a Schottky barrier height that is lower than the value of 0.239 ± 0.01 eV reported for Ni-InGaAs [139].



Fig. 2.14. Benchmarking of the contact resistivities obtained for Ni-InGaAs and Pd-InGaAs formed on $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ with different active doping concentrations. Ni-InGaAs and Pd-InGaAs were formed by reacting Ni and Pd, respectively, with $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ by RTA at 250 °C for 60 s.

	Metal M	
	Ni	Pd
Min. temperature for reaction with In _{0.53} Ga _{0.47} As	250 °C	200 °C (possibly lower)
<i>M</i> -InGaAs [*] work function	~5.1 eV (Ref. [129])	~4.6 eV
M-InGaAs [*] R _{sheet}	~60 Ω/square (~19 nm)	~77.3 Ω/square (~20 nm)

Table 2.1. Comparison of Ni-InGaAs and Pd-InGaAs formed by RTA at 250 °C for 60 s.

* *M*-InGaAs formed by RTA at 250 °C for 60 s.

2.4 CONCLUSIONS

Ti, Co, and Pd were investigated as possible candidates for the formation of salicide-like contact metallization in $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ MOSFETs. While Ti does not appear to react with $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ at temperatures up to 400 °C, Co completely reacts at 350 °C to form Co-InGaAs, and Pd completely reacts at 200 °C to form Pd-InGaAs. Co-InGaAs has a rough interface with InGaAs, while Pd-InGaAs films formed at 200 and 250 °C show excellent smoothness, uniformity and interfacial quality. The work function of the Pd-InGaAs formed at 250 °C was extracted to be ~4.6 ± 0.1 eV, and its sheet resistance at a thickness of 20 nm and its contact resistivity on n-type $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ with ~2×10¹⁸ cm⁻³ doping concentration were determined to be ~77.3 Ω /square and ~8.35×10⁻⁵ Ω ·cm², respectively. Further work on selective etching of

Pd over Pd-InGaAs is needed for further development and improvement of the salicide-like process used to form Pd-InGaAs contact metallization in InGaAs MOSFETs. Contact resistivity reduction by a few orders of magnitude is also required for Ni-InGaAs, Pd-InGaAs, and Co-InGaAs contact metallization in order to be competitive with Mo non-self-aligned contacts.

In the next Chapter, simulations are used to compare salicide-like contact metallization with non-self-aligned contact metallization in InGaAs MOSFETs and determine the level of contact resistivity required to meet performance targets at advanced sub-20 nm technology nodes.

Chapter 3

Self-Aligned and Non-Self-Aligned Contact Metallization in InGaAs Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistors: A Simulation Study

3.1 INTRODUCTION

Self-aligned silicide-like (salicide-like) source/drain (S/D) contact metallization for InGaAs n-channel metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors (n-MOSFETs) was explored in the previous Chapter. The reaction of Ti, Co, and Pd with InGaAs was studied, with detailed characterization and analysis of Pd-InGaAs, adding on to reports on Ni-InGaAs salicide-like contact metallization [122]-[141]. This Chapter continues the work in the preceding Chapter by examining the continued need for such self-aligned contact metallization at highly scaled dimensions, as well as the values of contact resistivity ρ_c demanded by the performance targets laid out in the International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors (ITRS) [181] for advanced technology nodes.

This is done by using two-dimensional (2D) simulations to compare the drive current performance of $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ n-channel MOSFETs (n-MOSFETs) with selfaligned metallization (SAM) and those with non-self-aligned metallization (NSAM) for various gap sizes *d* between the via and the gate, and for various values of ρ_c at the interface between the contact metallization and the S/D region. It should be emphasized that the SAM refers to the contact metallization, and should not be confused with self-aligned contact plugs or vias defined as SAC [182]. III-V MOSFETs are projected to be used in production in year 2018 and beyond, where the gate length L_G would be ~15 nm or smaller for III-V/Ge logic [181]. In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As n-MOSFETs with L_G of 15 nm are therefore simulated, with efforts made to ensure that they are representative of the actual devices as projected by the ITRS for III-V high-performance logic technology [181].

3.2 SIMULATION DETAILS

Fig. 3.1 shows the structures studied: $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ n-MOSFETs employing either SAM or NSAM. The simulations, which are carried out using the Technology Computer Aided Design (TCAD) simulator Synopsys Sentaurus, self-consistently solve the non-linear Poisson equation and the current continuity equation for electrons.



Fig. 3.1. Simulated n-MOSFETs with L_G of 15 nm, having (a) self-aligned metallization (SAM) or (b) non-self-aligned metallization (NSAM). The SAM is a 2.5-nm-thick salicide-like metallization (which may be Ni-InGaAs), while the NSAM is a 2.5-nm-thick metal layer (which may be Mo) lining the tungsten via.

The interface between the contact metallization (SAM or NSAM) and the S/D region is modeled as an Ohmic metal-semiconductor interface with a specified ρ_c (in $\Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$). ρ_c is a variable that ranges from 1×10^{-9} to $1 \times 10^{-7} \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$. The Philips Unified Mobility Model [183] is used to account for phonon, impurity, and carrier-carrier scattering mechanisms as well as screening of ionized impurities by charge carriers. Dependence of the carrier mobility on the electric field perpendicular to the gate oxide is also accounted for through simultaneous use of a field-dependent mobility model [184].

The SAM is a salicide-like metallization (which may be Ni-InGaAs) that is recessed into the S/D, while the NSAM consists of a metal layer (which may be Mo) lining the tungsten via. The thickness t_{SAM} of the SAM is 2.5 nm, which is half the junction depth of the S/D extension (SDE). The electrical resistivity of the SAM material is chosen to be $1.8 \times 10^{-4} \ \Omega$ ·cm, matching that of Ni-InGaAs. Mo is an attractive material for the NSAM because it has very low ρ_c of 1.3×10^{-8} and 1.1×10^{-8} Ω ·cm² on n-type In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As with active doping concentration of 3.6×10^{19} and 6×10^{19} cm⁻³, respectively [144]-[145]. Therefore, the electrical resistivity of Mo is used for the metal liner in the NSAM. The via diameter L_V is fixed at 15 nm for both SAM and NSAM.

The S/D doping concentration of 5×10^{19} cm⁻³ is close to the highest electron concentration that can be obtained for *in-situ* Si-doped In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As [147]. The maximum electron mobility μ_{max} in the Philips Unified Mobility Model takes the value of the electron mobility in bulk In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As (12000 cm²/V·s), while the minimum electron mobility μ_{min} is set at 1000 cm²/V·s. Based on these values of μ_{max} and μ_{min} , the concentration-dependent electron mobility in the S/D works out to be ~1140 cm²/V·s. This compares well with experimentally obtained electron mobility values of 1266 and 740 cm²/V·s at active doping concentrations of 3.6×10^{19} and 6×10^{19} cm⁻³, respectively [144]-[145].

The length of the S/D regions is denoted by L_{SD} . Gap sizes *d* of 10, 15, and 20 nm between the via and the gate are simulated. In CMOS technology scaling, all the device dimensions are scaled down. Therefore, L_{SD} scales together with *d*, with the via kept centered in the S/D region, as illustrated in Fig. 3.2. However, all other dimensions are kept constant as *d* and L_{SD} are varied, as the focus of this study is the effect of *d* and ρ_c on III-V MOSFET performance for SAM and NSAM.

Table 3.1 summarizes the key parameters of the simulation. A very fine mesh size of 0.1-0.5 Å was used in the top 2 Å of the channel just below the gate oxide, while a fine mesh size of 0.5-1 nm was used for the rest of the channel, as well as the SDE, S/D, and contact regions. A larger mesh size of 5-10 nm was used in the other parts of the structure. Simulation results were checked for independence of mesh size.



Fig. 3.2. (a) Schematic illustrating the scaling of S/D length L_{SD} with spacing d between the via and the gate edge, with the via kept centered in the S/D region. (b) Values of L_{SD} for each value of d.
Philips Unified Mobility Mod	n ⁺⁺ In _{0.53} Ga _{0.47} As S/D			
Max. electron mobility, μ_{max} (cm ² /V·s)	12000	Depth (nn	ı)	15
Min. electron mobility, μ_{min} (cm ² /V·s)	1000	Doping co	onc. (cm^{-3})	5×10 ¹⁹
TaN/HfO ₂ Gate Stack and Tungsten Via		n ⁺ In _{0.53} Ga _{0.47} As SDE		
TaN work function (eV)	4.65	Depth (nn	ı)	5
HfO ₂ (κ = 22) physical thickness (nm)	3	Length (n	m)	5
Via diameter, L_V (nm)	15	Doping co	onc. (cm^{-3})	5×10 ¹⁸
Self-Aligned Contact Metalliza	In _{0.53} Ga _{0.47} As Channel			
Thickness, t_{SAM} (nm)	2.5	Thickness	(nm)	15
Electrical resistivity (Ω ·cm)	1.8×10 ⁻⁴	Undoped in top 5 nm,		
Non-Self-Aligned Contact Lin	p-type $(5 \times 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3})$ in remaining 10 nm			
Thickness, t_{NSAM} (nm)	2.5	p ⁺ In _{0.5}	2Al _{0.48} As Ba	arrier
Electrical resistivity (Ω ·cm)	4.9×10 ⁻⁶	Doping co	onc. (cm^{-3})	5×10 ¹⁸

Table 3.1. Key parameters used in the simulations.

3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Fig. 3.3 plots drain current I_d versus gate voltage V_g at drain voltage V_d of 0.05 and 0.63 V for In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As n-MOSFETs having SAM or NSAM, with d = 10 nm and with various values of ρ_c . The source is grounded for all simulations. MOSFETs with SAM and NSAM exhibit identical subthreshold and OFF-state characteristics, and their I_d - V_g curves overlap in the subthreshold regime for various values of d (not shown) and ρ_c (Fig. 3.3). Hence, I_d can be compared at the same OFF-state current I_{off} for SAM and NSAM with various values of d and ρ_c . Subthreshold swing S is ~95 mV/decade and drain-induced barrier lowering (DIBL) is ~0.16 V/V, as calculated by the equations:

$$S = \frac{dV_g}{d(\log I_d)} = \left[\frac{d(\log I_d)}{dV_g}\right]^{-1} \qquad (V_g < V_t) \quad , \tag{3.1}$$

$$\text{DIBL} = \frac{V_{t,lin} - V_{t,sat}}{V_{d,sat} - V_{d,lin}} \qquad , \qquad (3.2)$$

where V_t is the threshold voltage, $V_{t,lin}$ and $V_{t,sat}$ are the linear and saturation threshold voltages respectively, and $V_{d,sat}$ and $V_{d,lin}$ are the saturation and linear drain biases respectively. Using the constant current method with a fixed current level of 10 μ A/ μ m gives a $V_{t,sat}$ of ~0.18 V that is independent of *d* and ρ_c .

Simulated I_d (at $V_g = V_d = 0.63$ V) versus ρ_c for various values of d is plotted in Fig. 3.4 for both SAM and NSAM. Curves with the same symbol shape (square, circle, or triangle) represent the same d. Data points for SAM and NSAM are plotted using solid and open symbols, respectively. For each value of d in Fig. 3.4, I_d increases when ρ_c is reduced for both SAM and NSAM, with diminishing gains as the



Fig. 3.3. I_d - V_g curves of In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As MOSFETs having (a) SAM or (b) NSAM with d = 10 nm and with various values of ρ_c , showing identical subthreshold and OFF-state characteristics ($S \approx 95$ mV/decade, DIBL ≈ 0.16 V/V, $V_{t,sat} \approx 0.18$ V). $V_{t,sat}$ is determined by the constant current method with a fixed current level of 10 μ A/ μ m.



Fig. 3.4. Drive current comparison of SAM and NSAM with various values of d and ρ_c . Compared to NSAM with the same d, SAM gives higher I_d at ρ_c larger than $\sim 5 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ due to larger A_{eff} and lower $R_{c,eff}$, but lower I_d at smaller ρ_c due to higher spreading resistance induced by its recessed geometry.

contact resistance becomes less limiting. It is noted that at low ρ_c of $1 \times 10^{-9} \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$, the MOSFETs with NSAM achieve ~2.1 mA/µm at supply voltage V_{dd} of 0.63 V, which, together with the L_G of 15 nm and $V_{t,sat}$ of 0.18 V, is in line with the ITRS III-V high-performance logic technology requirements [181] that were used to calibrate the mobility models.

Fig. 3.4 reveals an interesting observation for the SAM when *d* is varied for ρ_c larger than ~5×10⁻⁹ Ω ·cm²: I_d does not decrease but instead increases when *d* and L_{SD} are increased. This is due to the increase in effective contact area A_{eff} , which reduces the effective contact resistance $R_{c,eff}$. At this point, it is useful to introduce a characteristic length L_c similar to that in a transmission line model [185], which can be calculated by

$$L_C = \sqrt{\frac{\rho_c}{R_{sh,SD} + R_{sh,m}}} , \qquad (3.3)$$

where $R_{sh,SD}$ is the sheet resistance of the InGaAs S/D below the contact and $R_{sh,m}$ is the sheet resistance of the contact metallization. Note that $R_{sh,SD}$ is 20% higher for the SAM than for the NSAM, as the SAM is recessed into the S/D regions, making the n^{++} S/D regions effectively thinner. $R_{sh,m}$ is calculated by dividing the electrical resistivity of the contact metallization (see Table 3.1) by its thickness (2.5 nm for both SAM and NSAM), and does not include the W via. Fig. 3.5 shows the calculated L_C versus ρ_c for both SAM and NSAM.



Fig. 3.5. Calculated L_C as a function of ρ_c for both SAM and NSAM. L_C increases with ρ_c , with the NSAM having larger L_C at the same ρ_c because of its lower $R_{sh,SD}$ and $R_{sh,m}$. The dashed lines indicate the values of L_{SD} for d = 10, 15, and 20 nm, which are compared with L_C for the SAM. For the NSAM, L_C is compared against L_V (= 15 nm).

It is observed that a comparison between L_C and the physical length of the contact bears significance. As the SAM spans the entire length of the S/D [Fig. 3.1(a)], its physical length is L_{SD} , which varies with d (Fig. 3.2). The SAM's A_{eff} and I_d increase with L_{SD} when its L_C is larger than its physical length L_{SD} . As shown in Fig. 3.5, for ρ_c more than or equal to $2 \times 10^{-8} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$, the SAM has an L_C that is larger than L_{SD} at all three values of d, therefore an increase in L_{SD} as d increases from 10 to 20 nm enlarges A_{eff} and enhances I_d . At $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-8} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$, the SAM has an L_C that is larger than L_{SD} at d = 10 nm but equal to L_{SD} at d = 15 nm; hence, I_d benefits slightly from an increase in L_{SD} when d increases from 10 to 15 nm, but hardly increases when d increases from 15 to 20 nm. For ρ_c less than or equal to $5 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$, the SAM has an L_C that is smaller than L_{SD} at all three values of d, therefore negligible A_{eff} and I_d with the value of L_C relative to the physical length of the contact, the effective contact length L_{eff} can be taken to be the smaller of L_C and the physical length of the contact. The effective contact resistance R_{ceff} is then given by

$$R_{c,eff} = \frac{\rho_c}{A_{eff}} = \frac{\rho_c}{L_{eff}W} , \qquad (3.4)$$

where *W* is the device width. *W* is taken to be 1 μ m for *R_{c,eff}* normalized to the device width in μ m.

In contrast to the SAM, the NSAM does not enjoy an increase in A_{eff} when L_{SD} increases with d, since its physical length is determined by the fixed L_V (= 15 nm), not L_{SD} [Fig. 3.1(b)]. As its L_C is larger than L_V even at very low ρ_c of $1 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ (Fig. 3.5), the NSAM's L_{eff} is equal to L_V . Therefore, A_{eff} and $R_{c,eff}$ do not change with d for the NSAM. The calculation of L_C for the NSAM without including the W via in $R_{sh,m}$ can be considered the limiting case, as including the W via would reduce $R_{sh,m}$ and make L_C even larger.



Fig. 3.6. Calculated values of (a) R_{total} from simulated results and (b) $2R_{c,eff}$ as a percentage of R_{total} as d and ρ_c are varied for both SAM and NSAM in the linear regime. Both plots share the same legend. To meet the ITRS requirement (indicated by the dashed line), the SAM should have ρ_c less than $1 \times 10^{-8} \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$, while the NSAM needs ρ_c less than $5 \times 10^{-9} \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$.

Fig. 3.6(a) plots total resistance linear regime R_{total} in the $(V_g = 0.63 \text{ V}, V_d = 0.05 \text{ V})$ versus ρ_c for both SAM and NSAM, while Fig. 3.6(b) plots total effective contact resistance $2R_{c,eff}$ as a percentage of R_{total} . $R_{c,eff}$ is calculated using (3.4), and R_{total} is given simply by V_d/I_d in the linear regime ($V_g = 0.63$ V, $V_d = 0.05$ V). As the SAM has a larger A_{eff} than the NSAM, $2R_{c,eff}$ makes up a smaller proportion of R_{total} for the SAM than for the NSAM at the same ρ_c . For the SAM, an increase in d and L_{SD} also produces a reduction in $R_{c,eff}$ for ρ_c above $1 \times 10^{-8} \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$. For the NSAM, $R_{c,eff}$ remains unchanged with d being varied. By taking the potential difference across the channel 0.5 nm below the gate oxide, the channel resistance R_{ch} is estimated to be ~100 Ω ·µm ($V_g = 0.63$ V, $V_d = 0.05$ V). Given the ITRS requirement of 131 Ω ·µm for the effective parasitic S/D series resistance for III-V high-performance logic [181], R_{total} should be lower than ~231

 Ω ·µm. From Fig. 3.6(a), the SAM should have ρ_c less than or equal to $1 \times 10^{-8} \Omega$ ·cm², while the NSAM has a more stringent requirement of ρ_c less than or equal to 5×10^{-9} Ω ·cm². This is due to the contact area advantage that the SAM has over the NSAM.

The SAM and NSAM curves in Fig. 3.4 intersect at ρ_c in the range of $\sim 3 \times 10^{-9}$ to $\sim 5 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$. For ρ_c above this range, the SAM outperforms the NSAM with the same ρ_c because its larger A_{eff} gives a lower $R_{c,eff}$. Alternatively, the SAM can afford to have higher ρ_c than the NSAM for a given I_d . For ρ_c below $3 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$, the SAM gives lower I_d than the NSAM with the same ρ_c , despite being self-aligned. This is due to higher spreading resistance caused by the recessed geometry of the SAM, as schematically illustrated in Fig. 3.7.



Fig. 3.7. Schematic showing the series resistance bottleneck caused by the recessed geometry of the SAM, which leads to a more severe current crowding and therefore higher spreading resistance than the NSAM. For a given SDE junction depth, a thicker SAM (larger t_{SAM}) results in a more serious current crowding problem.



Fig. 3.8. Current density contours ($V_g = V_d = 0.63$ V) for SAM and NSAM with d = 10 nm and $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$. Values indicated are in A/cm². Lateral profiles are taken along A-A' and B-B' in the source 0.5 nm below the SAM and NSAM, respectively, for various values of d and ρ_c and plotted in Figs. 3.9 to 3.11.

Current density contours are presented in Fig. 3.8 for SAM and NSAM with d = 10 nm and $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$, illustrating the spreading of the current in the S/D regions. The SAM shows increased current density where the current flows between the S/D and the SDE regions. For the NSAM, the current in the S/D regions is confined by the via. Lateral profiles of the current density *J* in the source along a line 0.5 nm below the contact (indicated by *A*-*A*' and *B*-*B*' in Fig. 3.8 for SAM and NSAM, respectively) are also shown in Figs. 3.9 to 3.11 for various values of *d* and ρ_c . From the current density profiles with $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$, it is observed that the current density at *A*' is ~38-58% higher than at *B*' despite the SAM having ~10% lower *I_d* than the NSAM (Fig. 3.4). This indicates more severe current crowding for the SAM at the source edge adjacent to the source extension.



Fig. 3.9. Current density line profiles ($V_g = V_d = 0.63$ V) in the source 0.5 nm below the (a) SAM and (b) NSAM, with d = 10 nm and with various values of ρ_c . Diminishing gains can be observed as ρ_c is reduced, with the diminishing effect being smaller for the NSAM due to its larger $R_{c,eff}$.



Fig. 3.10. Current density line profiles ($V_g = V_d = 0.63$ V) along *A*-*A*' for SAM with various values of *d* and with (a) $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-7} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ and (b) $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$. The profiles with $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-7} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ are well-separated, while those with $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ overlap in a 5-nm-wide region adjacent to the source extension. The current density at the source edge furthest from the source extension also exhibits much smaller differences for the various values of *d* at $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-7} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ than at $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$.



Fig. 3.11. Current density line profiles ($V_g = V_d = 0.63$ V) along *B-B*' for NSAM with various values of *d* and with (a) $\rho_c = 4 \times 10^{-8} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ and (b) $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$. The profiles have similar shapes for both large and small ρ_c , with small current peaks at the edges of the via due to current crowding. Changes in *d* result in roughly parallel shifts of the portion of the profile below the via, which defines A_{eff} .

The observation of diminishing gains in I_d as ρ_c is reduced (Fig. 3.4) is also reflected in Fig. 3.9 where *d* is fixed at 10 nm. When ρ_c is reduced, *J* generally increases but the increment in *J* diminishes when ρ_c approaches $10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$. Figs. 3.10 and 3.11 show the effect on the current density profile as *d* changes for SAM and NSAM respectively, at both high and low ρ_c . As shown in the transmission line model, the current density profile is influenced by L_c as well as the contact dimensions [185]. For the SAM with $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-7} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ [Fig. 3.10(a)], there is clear separation between the current density profiles for the various values of *d*. However, as ρ_c is reduced, the profiles get closer and eventually overlap in a 5-nm-wide region adjacent to the source extension at ρ_c of $\sim 1 \times 10^{-8} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ and below [Fig. 3.10(b)]. The current density at the source edge furthest from the source extension also exhibits much smaller differences for the various values of *d* at $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-7} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ than at $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$, suggesting that A_{eff} is limited by L_{SD} at $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-7} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$. These observations support the earlier conclusion that increases in d and L_{SD} result in larger A_{eff} and I_d for ρ_c above $1 \times 10^{-8} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$, but do not appreciably increase A_{eff} and I_d for smaller ρ_c . For the NSAM (Fig. 3.11), the current density profiles have similar shapes for both larger $(4 \times 10^{-8} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2)$ and smaller $(1 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2) \ \rho_c$, with small current peaks at the edges of the via due to current crowding. Changes in d merely result in roughly parallel shifts (equal to the change in d) of the portion below the via, which defines A_{eff} for the NSAM.

The increased spreading resistance caused by the recessed geometry of the SAM can be alleviated by having a thinner SAM (Fig. 3.12), or by a raised S/D architecture as shown in Fig. 3.13. As t_{SAM} is reduced at low ρ_c of $1 \times 10^{-8} \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ and below (where R_c is less dominant), I_d increases due to less current crowding and hence lower spreading resistance (Fig. 3.12).



Fig. 3.12. I_d as a function of ρ_c for SAM with various t_{SAM} and with d = 10 nm. A thinner SAM results in higher I_d due to less current crowding and therefore lower spreading resistance. The effect is bigger at low ρ_c , where R_c does not dominate.



Fig. 3.13. Simulated MOSFETs with L_G of 15 nm and raised S/D regions, having (a) SAM or (b) NSAM. S/D elevations of 5, 15, and 20 nm were simulated.



Fig. 3.14. I_d as a function of S/D elevation for SAM and NSAM with d = 10 nm and $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-9} \,\Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$. When the S/D regions are raised, the SAM no longer suffers from increased spreading resistance, allowing it to give higher I_d than the NSAM.

 I_d as a function of S/D elevation for SAM and NSAM with d = 10 nm and $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ is plotted in Fig. 3.14, showing that the SAM gives higher current than the NSAM once the current density bottleneck is relieved by the raised S/D.

The simulations have thus far assumed no misalignment of the vias, which are centered in the S/D regions. Fig. 3.15 plots I_d at $V_g = V_d = 0.63$ V for misalignments of -5, 0, and 5 nm, with d = 10 nm and $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ to allow maximum effect from any change in S/D resistance R_{SD} . Negative and positive misalignment refer to a shift of the vias towards the left and right, respectively, consistent with the x-axis defined in Fig. 3.1. For both raised and non-raised S/D and for both SAM and NSAM, the misalignments result in less than 1% change in I_d . Therefore, misalignment has negligible effect on drive current performance, due to the very small changes in R_{SD} .



Fig. 3.15. I_d changes by less than 1% when the vias are misaligned by ±5 nm for both SAM and NSAM with d = 10 nm, $\rho_c = 1 \times 10^{-9} \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$, and S/D elevation of 0 and 20 nm.

3.4 CONCLUSIONS

In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As n-MOSFETs with self-aligned contact metallization were compared against those with non-self-aligned contact metallization by means of twodimensional simulations. A gate length of 15 nm, gap sizes of 10-20 nm between the via and the gate, and ρ_c values ranging from 1×10^{-9} to $1 \times 10^{-7} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ at the interface between the contact metallization and the InGaAs source/drain region were simulated. Due to its larger effective contact area, the self-aligned contact metallization has a lower effective contact resistance than the non-self-aligned contact metallization with the same ρ_c , allowing it to give better drive current performance down to ρ_c as low as $3 \times 10^{-9} \ \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$. In addition, the advantage of the self-aligned contact metallization over the non-self-aligned contact metallization can be further enhanced with a raised S/D device structure.

Chapter 4

Towards Conformal Damage-Free Doping with Abrupt Ultra-Shallow Junction: Formation of Si Monolayers and Laser Anneal as a Novel Doping Technique for InGaAs n-MOSFETs

4.1 INTRODUCTION

In this Chapter, a simple and novel Si monolayer doping (MLD) technique involving disilane (Si₂H₆) or silane (SiH₄) treatment followed by laser anneal (LA) is developed as a means for achieving conformal, ultra-shallow, and abrupt n^{++} junctions in InGaAs n-channel metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors (n-MOSFETs).

The inadequacies of beam-line ion implantation at advanced technology nodes have motivated the development of novel doping techniques such as MLD [186]-[192]. Table 4.1 compares existing MLD works. Of these, only one is on InGaAs [192]. Furthermore, the application of MLD to III-V substrates has been limited to the use of sulfur as the dopant. Despite its amphoteric nature, Si is an attractive and preferred n-type dopant in InGaAs due to its low diffusivity and higher solubility compared to other n-type dopants such as S, Se, and Te [193]. In addition, our internal experiments show that the $(NH_4)_2S_x$ solution used for sulfur MLD can cause etching of III-V substrates such as GaAs and InGaAs, and may therefore require short, well-controlled treatment durations to avoid etching away the fin in a FinFET.

Ref.	Substrate	Monolayer Formation	Dopant
[186]	Si	Solution-based	P, B
[187]	Si	Solution-based	Р, В
[188]	Si	Solution-based	Р
[189]	GaAs	Solution-based	S
[190]	InAs	Solution-based	S
[191]	InP	Solution-based	S
[192]	InGaAs	Solution-based	S
This Work	InGaAs	Gas-based	Si

Table 4.1. Comparison with existing MLD works.

The principle of the doping technique developed in this Chapter is illustrated in Fig. 4.1. In order to prepare the InGaAs surface for the growth of Si monolayers, a pre-clean is first performed to ensure a high-quality surface free of native oxide. The InGaAs surface is then treated with a Si-containing gas precursor such as Si_2H_6 or SiH₄, which selectively forms a few monolayers of Si on the InGaAs source/drain (S/D) or S/D extension (SDE) regions. One advantage that gas-based MLD could have over solution-based MLD is the possibility of performing an *in situ* clean without breaking vacuum prior to monolayer formation. The Si monolayers serve as a dopant source that is conformal and does not introduce implant damage. A cap layer is then deposited (not shown), followed by laser anneal to drive in and activate the Si dopants. Laser anneal can potentially overcome the solid solubility limit of the dopant due to its metastable nature, allowing a high doping concentration to be achieved. In addition, its effects are highly localized to the surface, and the ultrafast irradiation reduces the thermal budget and minimizes dopant diffusion, enabling the formation of ultra-shallow and abrupt junctions.



Fig. 4.1. Schematic of a fin structure illustrating the principle of the doping technique developed in this work, which has the potential to achieve conformal ultrashallow doping with high doping concentration and abrupt junction without implant damage. At narrow fin widths, the sidewall junctions merge, rendering junction depth less important as it is determined by fin width. Nevertheless, junction abruptness and minimizing lateral dopant diffusion are crucial for short-channel devices.

Preliminary investigations of the use of rapid thermal anneal (RTA) instead of LA indicate that the Si dopants are not driven in even at temperatures as high as 800 °C for short annealing durations. Raising the RTA temperature is not feasible due to substrate degradation. On the other hand, LA likely induces very high temperatures at the InGaAs surface but in an extremely short time, enabling it to drive in and activate the Si dopants without surface degradation and out-diffusion of substrate elements.

The doping concentration that can be achieved may be evaluated by assuming the maximum areal dose per monolayer of Si to be the atomic density of the semiconductor surface. For (001) $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$, which has a surface atomic density of 5.8×10^{14} atoms/cm², each monolayer of Si can provide a total doping concentration of 5.8×10^{20} atoms/cm³ for a junction depth of 10 nm.

4.2 BLANKET SAMPLE PREPARATION

Fig. 4.2 summarizes the process flow for fabricating blanket samples with either Si_2H_6 or SiH_4 treatment. All the sample fabrication, characterization, and

analysis were done by the author unless otherwise mentioned. The blanket samples are used for sheet resistance R_{sheet} measurement, secondary ion mass spectrometry (SIMS) analysis, and specific contact resistivity ρ_c extraction using the transfer length method (TLM) [172]. 500-nm-thick (001) In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As with p-type doping concentration of ~2×10¹⁶ cm⁻³, formed by molecular beam epitaxy (MBE) on bulk InP, was used as the starting substrate for all samples. The substrates were purchased from a vendor. The samples were first cleaned with a hydrochloric acid (HCl) solution for 3 min., followed by ammonium sulfide [(NH₄)₂S_x] passivation, after which they were immediately loaded into separate high-vacuum chambers for Si₂H₆ or SiH₄ treatment.

The Si₂H₆ treatment was carried out at a substrate temperature of 370 °C for 3000 s, with a Si₂H₆ flow rate of 50 standard cubic centimeters per minute (sccm) and a pressure in the order of 10^{-7} Torr. Prior to the Si₂H₆ treatment, the samples were



Fig. 4.2. Process flow for fabricating blanket (001) $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ samples with Si_2H_6 or SiH₄ treatment and laser anneal.

treated *in situ* with SF₆ plasma at 300 °C for 50 s to remove any residual native oxide. The SiH₄-treated samples did not go through SF₆ plasma treatment. The SiH₄ treatment was done at substrate temperature of 500 °C for а 60 or 120 s, with a SiH₄ flow rate of 60 sccm (mixed with 250 sccm of N_2) and a pressure of 5 Torr. The Si₂H₆ and SiH₄ treatment conditions are similar to those previously reported for Si₂H₆ and SiH₄ passivation of GaAs and InGaAs surfaces [87]-[97]. Due to the much lower pressure, the formation of Si monolayers is much slower for Si₂H₆ treatment than for SiH₄ treatment. However, Si₂H₆ is easier to crack and dissociate than SiH₄, thereby allowing a lower substrate or processing temperature.

After Si_2H_6 or SiH_4 treatment, the samples were immediately capped with ~6 nm of sputtered SiO_2 to prevent oxidation of the Si monolayers and to serve as a cap layer for suppressing the out-diffusion of Si dopants and substrate elements in the subsequent laser anneal. A KrF excimer laser with a wavelength of 248 nm and a pulse width (full-width-half-maximum) of 23 ns was used for the laser anneal, with the samples subjected to a single pulse at various fluences to form a highly-doped n-type layer at the InGaAs surface. All the laser anneals in this Chapter were done by an external company as a paid service.

4.3 MATERIAL CHARACTERIZATION

4.3.1 Disilane-treated samples

After laser anneal, the SiO₂ cap layer was stripped using dilute hydrofluoric acid (HF). The R_{sheet} of the n⁺⁺ InGaAs layer formed after Si₂H₆ treatment and laser anneal is plotted in Fig. 4.3 as a function of laser fluence. R_{sheet} was measured using

micro four-point probes, which do not penetrate the thin n^{++} InGaAs layer. In addition, the small probe spacing of 10 µm ensures that the current flows only in the n^{++} InGaAs layer, so that only the R_{sheet} of that layer is measured. As the fluence increases, R_{sheet} decreases due to larger junction depth and higher dopant activation. Si₂H₆-treated samples that were laser annealed at 80 mJ/cm² and below yielded very low current in the µA or sub-µA range when directly probed at a bias of 2 V and a probe separation of ~5-10 µm, which is one to two orders lower than the current obtained from probing the p-type InGaAs starting substrate at the same bias and probe separation. This indicates that 80 mJ/cm² is insufficient for driving in or activating the Si dopants, as some or all of the Si still remains on the surface of the InGaAs.

Fig. 4.4 shows the SIMS profiles obtained for Si_2H_6 -treated samples laserannealed at 127, 297, and 374 mJ/cm². All the SIMS in this Chapter was done at the



Fig. 4.3. R_{sheet} versus laser anneal fluence for Si₂H₆-treated In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As samples. A single laser pulse was used. R_{sheet} decreases as fluence increases due to larger junction depth and higher dopant activation. R_{sheet} cannot be measured for laser fluence of 80 mJ/cm² and below.



Fig. 4.4. SIMS profiles for Si_2H_6 -treated samples annealed at 127, 297, and 374 mJ/cm². The dashed lines indicate the InGaAs melt depth, which are estimated from the level or flat portion of the box-like profiles.

Institute of Materials Research and Engineering (IMRE) as a paid service. As the laser photon energy (5 eV) is much larger than the band gap of $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ (0.74 eV), significant heating from band gap absorption is expected. The box-like profiles suggest that melting occurred during the laser anneal, resulting in rapid redistribution of the Si dopants in the melted layer due to the much larger diffusivity in the liquid phase. Some out-diffusion of Si can be observed near the surface. The melt depth can be estimated from the level portion of the SIMS profile, and is observed to become larger as the fluence increases, confirming the increase in junction depth deduced from the decrease in R_{sheet} in Fig. 4.3. This is due to higher temperatures near the InGaAs surface at higher fluences, resulting in a larger depth at which the temperature falls below the melting point of $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ (~1100 °C). It should be pointed out that the melt depth is only a rough estimate that is used as a gauge for determining the fluence required to form ultra-shallow junctions in $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ by Si monolayer formation and laser anneal.

It is noted that GaAs annealed using a KrF excimer laser with the same wavelength, pulse width, and fluence [194] gives a larger melt depth than the InGaAs in this work, despite GaAs having a larger band gap (1.42 eV) and a higher melting point (~1240 °C). This is at least partly attributed to the layer of Si on the InGaAs surface. The presence of Si monolayers on the InGaAs and the thickness of those monolayers can influence the absorption of laser photons and thus affect the temperature profile and melt depth in the InGaAs. Factors such as optical reflectivity, attenuation constant, heat capacity, and thermal conductivity can also affect the fluence required for a given melt depth. For instance, the much larger thermal conductivity of GaAs compared to $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ [195] could result in a broader temperature depth profile in GaAs and therefore a thicker layer in which the temperature rises above the melting point of the substrate.

The melt depth at the low fluence of 127 mJ/cm² is ~27 nm, which is still rather large. Hence, a fluence of less than 127 mJ/cm² is desired for ultra-shallow junction formation. Fig. 4.5 shows the SIMS profiles for Si₂H₆-treated samples annealed at 100 and 120 mJ/cm². The Si counts were converted to concentration by application of a relative sensitivity factor extracted from an In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As sample that was implanted with a known Si dose and sputtered using the same SIMS beam conditions. Very high Si concentration approaching 10^{21} atoms/cm³ can be observed, and ultra-shallow melt depths of around 10 and 4 nm are obtained for fluences of 120 and 100 mJ/cm², respectively. In addition, the profile for a fluence of 100 mJ/cm² exhibits little surface out-diffusion and good junction abruptness (~5.5 nm/decade). Estimated melt depth as a function of laser anneal fluence is plotted in Fig. 4.6, showing that the melt depth becomes more sensitive to laser anneal fluence as the fluence approaches 100 mJ/cm².



Fig. 4.5. SIMS profiles for Si_2H_6 -treated samples annealed at 100 and 120 mJ/cm², with ultra-shallow melt depths of around 4 and 10 nm respectively, as indicated by the dashed lines. Very high Si concentration approaching 10^{21} cm⁻³ can be observed. The profile for a fluence of 100 mJ/cm² exhibits little surface out-diffusion and good junction abruptness (~5.5 nm/decade).



Fig. 4.6. Estimated melt depth as a function of laser anneal fluence. Melt depth increases at higher laser anneal fluences due to higher temperatures induced near the InGaAs surface.

4.3.2 Silane-treated samples

Based on the SIMS profiles from the Si₂H₆-treated samples, the laser anneal fluence was kept low at 100-140 mJ/cm² for the SiH₄-treated samples in order to form shallow junctions. After laser anneal, the SiH₄-treated blanket samples underwent mesa formation by wet etching and contact formation by Ni lift-off to form TLM structures for R_{sheet} and ρ_c extraction. An example of the TLM current-voltage (*I-V*) characteristics, extracted from a sample that was SiH₄-treated at 500 °C for 120 s and laser-annealed at 100 mJ/cm², is shown in Fig. 4.7(a), along with the resulting plot of total resistance R_{total} versus TLM contact pad spacing d_{TLM} in Fig. 4.7(b). Good ohmic characteristics are observed for all SiH₄-treated samples.

Fig. 4.8 plots R_{sheet} of the n⁺⁺ InGaAs and ρ_c of Ni on the n⁺⁺ InGaAs as a function of laser fluence for both SiH₄ treatment times. R_{sheet} measurements of the blanket samples by micro four-point probes prior to fabrication of TLM structures gave values similar to those extracted from the TLM structures. A longer SiH₄ treatment time gives lower R_{sheet} and ρ_c at each fluence due to a higher areal dose of Si dopants. Hence, the Si dose can be controlled by varying the SiH₄ treatment time. For both SiH₄ treatment times, a higher laser fluence results in a deeper junction and higher activation and therefore lower R_{sheet} , similar to the trend observed for Si₂H₆treated samples in Fig. 4.3. It is also observed that ρ_c decreases as the laser fluence increases from 100 to 120 mJ/cm², but increases slightly when the fluence increases from 120 to 140 mJ/cm². This can be attributed to better dopant activation but also more surface out-diffusion at higher fluences, which respectively enhance and reduce the active dopant concentration at the surface. ρ_c is lower when the active dopant concentration at the surface is higher.



Fig. 4.7. (a) An example of the TLM *I-V* characteristics obtained from a SiH₄-treated sample, and (b) the resulting plot of total resistance R_{total} versus TLM contact pad spacing d_{TLM} , from which R_{sheet} of the InGaAs and ρ_c of the contact can be derived. The inset shows a schematic of the TLM structure, with the Ni contact pads represented by gray rectangles. Probing is done on two adjacent contact pads.



Fig. 4.8. (a) R_{sheet} and (b) ρ_c versus laser fluence for samples treated with SiH₄ at 500 °C for 60 and 120 s. At each fluence, R_{sheet} and ρ_c are lower for the longer SiH₄ treatment time of 120 s due to a higher areal dose of Si dopants. R_{sheet} decreases as fluence increases due to larger junction depth and higher dopant activation. ρ_c first decreases then increases as fluence increases from 100 to 140 mJ/cm², due to better dopant activation but also more dopant out-diffusion at higher fluences.

From the SIMS profiles shown in Fig. 4.9 for SiH₄ treatment time of 120 s, it is observed that the Si dopants are indeed driven in deeper at higher fluences, and that a fluence of 140 mJ/cm² appears to cause more surface out-diffusion than a fluence of 120 mJ/cm². It is also noted that the Si profiles for fluences of 120 and 140 mJ/cm² are more box-like, which could indicate melting of the InGaAs at these fluences but not at 100 mJ/cm². As with the Si₂H₆-treated samples, a fluence of 100 mJ/cm² gives the best Si profile, with a very high Si concentration of ~5.25×10²⁰ cm⁻³ at the InGaAs surface and a very steep slope of ~4 nm/decade.



Fig. 4.9. SIMS profiles for samples treated with SiH₄ at 500 °C for 120 s and laser annealed at 100, 120 and 140 mJ/cm². The profiles for fluences of 120 and 140 mJ/cm² are more box-like, while the profile for a fluence of 100 mJ/cm² has a very high Si concentration of ~ 5.25×10^{20} cm⁻³ at the InGaAs surface and a very steep slope of ~4 nm/decade.



Fig. 4.10. (a) Diode current-voltage characteristics showing high forward-to-reverse current ratio of 5 to 7 orders of magnitude. (b) Ideality factor of diodes versus diode size for various SiH₄ treatment times and laser anneal fluences. Both plots share the same legend. Diodes with a fluence of 100 mJ/cm² have very low *n* that is independent of L_{diode} . Diodes with a fluence of 120 and 140 mJ/cm² have higher *n* that also varies much more across diodes, which is attributed to melt-induced defects at the liquid-solid interface.

Diodes were also fabricated from the SiH₄-treated samples, with mesa etching used to define the diodes and Ni lift-off used to form the top contacts. As the contacts to the n-doped InGaAs are ohmic, the measured diode characteristics are those of the p-n junction diodes formed by the Si MLD. Each diode has dimensions of $L_{diode} \times$ L_{diode} , with L_{diode} ranging from 50 to 150 µm. Au was used to form an ohmic contact to the InP on the back side of the substrate. Fig. 4.10(a) plots the current-voltage characteristics of diodes with L_{diode} of 50 µm, showing well-behaved diodes with a large difference of 5 to 7 orders of magnitude between forward and reverse currents across the various SiH₄ treatment and laser fluence splits. The ideality factor *n* extracted from the current-voltage characteristics of diodes with various SiH₄ treatment times and laser anneal fluences is plotted versus L_{diode} in Fig. 4.10(b). The diode ideality factor is not expected to vary with diode size. The diodes with laser anneal fluence of 100 mJ/cm² exhibit very low *n* approaching unity, which is testament to the excellent junction quality due to the absence of implant damage, with *n* being relatively constant for various L_{diode} . On the other hand, the values of *n* for diodes with laser anneal fluence of 120 and 140 mJ/cm², although reasonable, are significantly higher and exhibit much larger diode-to-diode variations. This could be due to the occurrence of melting at fluences of 120 and 140 mJ/cm² (but not 100 mJ/cm²) as seen from the SIMS profiles in Fig. 4.9, which results in the creation of defects at the liquid-solid interface during quenching. Lower *n* is also generally observed for the longer SiH₄ treatment time of 120 s due to higher doping concentration.

From the SIMS and diode data, it is clear that SiH_4 treatment followed by laser anneal at a fluence of 100 mJ/cm² is a promising technique for realizing very abrupt, ultra-shallow, and high-quality junctions with high n-type doping concentration in $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ n-MOSFETs. Planar $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ n-MOSFETs are thus fabricated as a first demonstration of this novel doping technique.

4.4 MOSFET FABRICATION AND CHARACTERIZATION

The process flow for fabricating planar $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ n-MOSFETs with ultrashallow and abrupt n⁺⁺ S/D using SiH₄ treatment and laser anneal is illustrated in Fig. 4.11. The starting substrate, which was purchased from a vendor, is 500-nm-thick (001) $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ with p-type doping concentration of ~2×10¹⁶ cm⁻³, grown by MBE on InP. After a pre-gate clean using HCl solution and (NH₄)₂S_x passivation, a gate stack comprising 5 nm Al₂O₃ gate dielectric and 100 nm TaN gate metal was deposited. Following gate patterning and etching, residual Al₂O₃ in the S/D regions was removed using dilute HF. Next, HCl pre-clean and $(NH_4)_2S_x$ passivation were carried out, and the samples were then loaded immediately into the high-vacuum chamber used for SiH₄ treatment to selectively form Si monolayers in the S/D regions. After SiH₄ treatment at a substrate temperature of 500 °C for 60 or 120 s, a 6-nmthick SiO₂ cap layer was immediately deposited, followed by laser anneal at 100 mJ/cm². The gate stack blocks the laser and shields the channel under it from receiving the laser anneal, thus allowing selective annealing of the S/D regions. MOSFET fabrication was completed by mesa etch for device isolation and Ni lift-off for S/D contact formation. It is pointed out that no deep S/D regions were formed. Fig. 4.12 shows a scanning electron microscopy (SEM) image of a completed device.



Fig. 4.11. (a) Process flow for fabricating planar InGaAs n-MOSFETs using the developed doping technique. Schematics of the transistor (b) after SiH₄ treatment and cap layer deposition and (c) after laser anneal are shown.



Fig. 4.12. SEM image of a completed $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ n-MOSFET fabricated using the process flow in Fig. 4.11.



Fig. 4.13. Cross-sectional TEM image of an $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ n-MOSFET with S/D doped by SiH₄ treatment at 500 °C for 120 s and laser anneal at 100 mJ/cm². The S/D contacts, which are 5 µm away from the gate, cannot be seen in this TEM image.





(b) S/D region



Fig. 4.14. High-magnification TEM images of the (a) channel and (b) S/D regions of the MOSFET in Fig. 4.13, with S/D regions doped by SiH₄ treatment at 500 °C for 120 s and laser anneal at 100 mJ/cm². Good crystalline quality is preserved in both regions and a good interface is maintained between the gate dielectric and the channel, with no laser-induced damage to the gate stack and channel. As there is no ion implantation, no implant-induced defects are created.

Figs. 4.13 and 4.14 show transmission electron microscopy (TEM) images of a MOSFET with S/D regions doped by SiH₄ treatment at 500 °C for 120 s and laser anneal at 100 mJ/cm². The TEM was done at IMRE as a paid service. Good crystalline quality is preserved in both the channel and S/D regions, and a good interface is maintained between the gate dielectric and the channel. Hence, the laser anneal at 100 mJ/cm² does not damage the gate stack, and does not require a reflective metal on top of the gate to protect it. The S/D regions are free from implant damage as no ion implantation was done. Further confirmation of gate stack integrity after laser anneal at 100 mJ/cm² is provided by the plot of gate current I_g versus gate voltage V_g in Fig. 4.15, which shows low gate leakage current.



Fig. 4.15. I_g - V_g characteristics showing low gate leakage current after laser anneal at 100 mJ/cm², which confirms that gate stack integrity is not compromised.

Fig. 4.16 plots drain current I_d versus V_g for a pair of devices with SiH₄ treatment times of 60 and 120 s, showing good transfer characteristics with reasonable subthreshold swing (SS) and negligible DIBL. Plots of I_d versus drain voltage V_d for the same pair of transistors in Fig. 4.16 are shown in Fig. 4.17, exhibiting well-behaved output characteristics. The low current level is due to the high series resistance, caused by the lack of deep S/D regions and the large 5 µm separation between the channel and the Ni S/D contacts. In addition, the doping process needs to be optimized in order to reduce R_{sheet} and ρ_c .



Fig. 4.16. I_d - V_g characteristics of planar In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As n-MOSFETs with S/D doped by SiH₄ treatment at 500 °C for (a) 60 s and (b) 120 s followed by laser anneal at a fluence of 100 mJ/cm², showing reasonable SS and negligible DIBL.



Fig. 4.17. I_d - V_d characteristics of the same pair of transistors as in Fig. 4.16, showing well-behaved output characteristics. V_t is the linear threshold voltage extracted by the maximum transconductance method. The low current level is due to high series resistance caused by the lack of deep S/D regions and the long distance between the S/D contacts and the channel. Careful optimization of the doping technique is also required for R_{sheet} and ρ_c reduction.

4.5 CONCLUSIONS

A novel doping technique based on the formation of Si monolayers followed by laser anneal was developed for InGaAs n-MOSFETs. The technique does not involve ion implantation, thereby eliminating implant damage, and is promising for realizing the conformal, ultra-shallow, and abrupt n^{++} junctions required in the source/drain or source/drain extension regions of highly scaled InGaAs n-MOSFETs with advanced three-dimensional device architectures. The technique was successfully implemented in planar In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As MOSFETs as a first demonstration. Further optimization of the technique is needed to improve dopant activation and reduce sheet resistance and contact resistivity, and the performance of the doping technique can be studied for three-dimensional device structures such as FinFETs.

Chapter 5

Plasma Doping of InGaAs at Elevated Substrate Temperature for Reduced Sheet Resistance and Defect Formation

5.1 INTRODUCTION

Plasma doping (PLAD), a high-throughput ion implantation technique capable of achieving ultra-shallow junctions and conformal doping of three-dimensional (3D) structures such as fin field-effect transistors (FinFETs), is investigated in this Chapter as an alternative to conventional beam-line ion implantation for InGaAs at advanced technology nodes. In particular, PLAD at an elevated substrate temperature (denoted as "ET-PLAD") is studied for InGaAs for the first time, and compared against PLAD with the substrate kept at room temperature by cooling (denoted as "RT-PLAD").

The shadowing-induced angle limitations of beam-line implantation at advanced technology nodes open the door for the use of PLAD in future generations of FinFETs. PLAD, an application of plasma immersion ion implantation (PIII), is an implant-based doping method that has been widely studied as an alternative to beam-line ion implantation [196]-[223]. In PLAD, the wafer is immersed in a plasma with high ion density, and a negative bias is applied to the wafer to accelerate the ions from the plasma into the wafer. High implant currents with dose rates as high as 10¹⁶ cm⁻²·s⁻¹ are achievable, even at ultra-low implant energies of a few keV and below. Furthermore, the entire wafer surface receives the implants at the same time, resulting in an implantation time that is independent of the wafer size and eliminating the need

for the beam formation and transport and the wafer rotation and tilt required for beamline ion implantation.

In addition, PLAD has been demonstrated to be capable of conformally and uniformly doping 3D trench and fin structures [214]-[221], including trenches with high aspect ratio and fins with narrow pitch. This is due to the angular distribution of the ions that are implanted into the wafer. Secondary electrons reflected between trench or fin sidewalls may also enhance the ion density there and help to improve sidewall doping [199].

However, the research on PLAD has largely focused on the formation of ultrashallow junctions in Si [196]-[221], with scant reports of PLAD being used on other materials such as Ge [222] and III-V compound semiconductors [223]. Furthermore, previous reports on ET-PLAD show that an elevated substrate temperature during PLAD helps to suppress crystal defects and maintain crystallinity due to dynamic annealing as the ions are implanted, but these reports are confined exclusively to Si substrates [208]-[210].

5.2 BLANKET SAMPLE PREPARATION

The process flow for fabricating blanket InGaAs samples using PLAD is summarized in Fig. 5.1 (solid bullets). The starting substrate is 500-nm-thick (001) $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ with p-type doping concentration of ~2×10¹⁶ cm⁻³, grown on bulk InP with p-type doping concentration of ~5×10¹⁸ to ~5×10¹⁹ cm⁻³. 4 nm of Al₂O₃ was deposited by atomic layer deposition (ALD), followed by PLAD at two different radio frequency (RF) biases, doses, and substrate temperatures, as indicated in Table 5.1. The Al₂O₃ prevents any deposition, etching, or sputtering processes from occurring
directly on the InGaAs surface during PLAD, and also serves as a capping layer for the subsequent dopant activation anneal.

An Applied Materials Inc. (AMAT) VIISta PLAD System, which has unique biasing capability to allow greater process flexibility and conformal doping, was used for the PLAD, with SiH₄ as the process gas for the plasma to provide the Si dopants. The SiH₄ dissociates in the plasma into species such as SiH_x^+ , SiH_x^- , SiH_2 , SiH_3 , SiH, SiH^{*}, and Si^{*}, some of which can further dissociate into species such as Si, SiH, H₂, H, H_x⁺, and H^{*}. Reactive species in the plasma can also undergo secondary reactions. The chemical species and secondary reactions in a SiH₄ or SiH₄/H₂ plasma are illustrated in Figs. 5.2 and 5.3.

Dopant activation was carried out by a rapid thermal anneal (RTA) at 600 °C for 60 s, forming a thin n^{++} layer at the InGaAs surface. For comparison, blanket samples doped by conventional beam-line ion implantation instead of PLAD and with 5-nm-thick Al₂O₃ were also prepared. The beam-line ion implantation splits are detailed in Table 5.2. All the PLAD and beam-line ion implantation in this Chapter were done by AMAT as part of a collaboration, while all other process steps were done by the author.

Some of the PLAD blanket samples underwent further process steps (indicated by open bullets in Fig. 5.1) to fabricate transfer length method (TLM) structures and diodes. These steps include mesa patterning and etch, contact hole patterning and etch, and contact metal deposition and lift-off. The TLM structures and diodes were fabricated together on each of these samples, and Au was sputtered on the back side of the samples to form an ohmic contact to the p^+ InP for diode measurements.



Fig. 5.1. Process flow (solid bullets) for fabricating blanket samples using PLAD. Additional steps (open bullets) were carried out to form TLM structures and diodes on some of the fabricated blanket samples.



Fig. 5.2. Schematic illustrating the dissociation of SiH_4 and H_2 molecules into various chemical species in a plasma. Source: Fig. 26.1 in the *Springer Handbook of Electronic and Photonic Materials*, 2006.

Ion exchanging	$SiH_x^+ + SiH_4 \longrightarrow SiH_x + SiH_4^+$
Ion-Molecule	$SiH_x + SiH_4 \longrightarrow SiH_3 + SiH_3$
Neutral-Molecule	$SiH + SiH_4 \longrightarrow Si_2H_5$
Disproportionation	$Si + SiH_4 \longrightarrow SiH_3 + SiH$
Insertion	$SiH_2 + SiH_4 \longrightarrow Si_2H_6$
Recombination	$SiH_2 + H_2 \longrightarrow SiH_4$
Abstraction	$SiH_3 + SiH_4 \longrightarrow SiH_4 + SiH_3$
	$H + SiH_4 \longrightarrow H_2 + SiH_3$
Ion-Radical Radical-Radical	less probable

Fig. 5.3. Secondary reactions in a SiH₄ or SiH₄/H₂ plasma. Source: Fig. 26.2 in the *Springer Handbook of Electronic and Photonic Materials, 2006.*

Split	Species	Substrate bias (kV)	Dose (cm ⁻²)	Substrate temperature (°C)
P1	Si	5	5×10 ¹⁴	25
P2	Si	5	5×10 ¹⁴	100
P3	Si	5	2×10 ¹⁵	25
P4	Si	5	2×10 ¹⁵	100
P5	Si	10.5	5×10 ¹⁴	25
P6	Si	10.5	5×10 ¹⁴	100
P7	Si	10.5	2×10 ¹⁵	25
P8	Si	10.5	2×10 ¹⁵	100

Table 5.1. Split table for samples doped by PLAD.

Table 5.2. Split table for samples doped by beam-line implant.

Split	Species	Energy (keV)	Dose (cm^{-2})	Tilt (°)	Substrate temperature (°C)
B1	Si	10	5×10 ¹⁴	45	25
B2	Si	10	5×10 ¹⁴	7	25
В3	Si	10	5×10 ¹⁴	7	200
B4	Si	10	1×10^{15}	7	25
В5	Si	10	1×10^{15}	7	200
B6	Si	10	5×10 ¹⁴	7	25
	S	11.4	5×10 ¹⁴		
B7	Si	10	5×10 ¹⁴	7	200
	S	11.4	5×10 ¹⁴		
B8	Si	10	5×10 ¹⁴	7	25
	Te	45	5×10 ¹⁴		
B9	Si	10	5×10 ¹⁴	7	200
	Te	45	5×10 ¹⁴	/	200

5.3 MATERIAL CHARACTERIZATION

The dielectric response of a material, obtained by ultra-violet variable angle spectroscopic ellipsometry (UV-VASE), can be used to assess its crystallinity [224]. Fig. 5.4 plots the imaginary part (ε_2) of the pseudo-dielectric function versus photon energy in the near-infrared to UV regime, obtained from blanket samples that underwent beam-line ion implantation. The modeled ε_2 profile for 4.3 nm Al₂O₃ on 500 nm p⁻ In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As on 500 µm p⁺ InP is also plotted, showing two sharp features that are characteristic of a pristine single-crystalline substrate. The optical constants of InGaAs and InP used in the modeling were obtained by characterizing separate calibration samples. All the VASE modeling (ultra-violet and infrared) in this Chapter was done by a colleague, Dr. Vijay Richard D'Costa, while all VASE measurements (ultra-violet and infrared) were done by the author.



Fig. 5.4. Measured UV-VASE data (a) before RTA and (b) after RTA, obtained from samples doped by conventional beam-line implant. Solid lines are used for RT-BL samples, while dashed lines are used for ET-BL samples. The modeled ε_2 profile for 4.3 nm Al₂O₃ on 500 nm p⁻ In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As on 500 µm p⁺ InP is also plotted (open squares).

The benefit of an elevated substrate temperature during implantation for the as-implanted samples is illustrated in Fig. 5.4(a). The ε_2 profiles of splits with room-temperature substrates during beam-line implantation (denoted as "RT-BL") exhibit a single broad peak with big shifts relative to the modeled profile, indicating amorphization of the top portion of the InGaAs substrate. On the other hand, the splits with elevated substrate temperature during beam-line implantation (denoted as "ET-BL") have ε_2 profiles that are close to the modeled profile, indicating that crystallinity is preserved even before dopant activation anneal. A small amount of crystal damage accounts for the small differences between the ET-BL profiles and the modeled profile, but amorphization has been largely suppressed.

The as-implanted RT-BL splits show a trend of increasing amorphization as the implant dose or the mass of the implanted ions increases. A larger peak shift towards lower energies suggests a greater degree of amorphization, which manifests as a larger amount of crystal damage and/or a thicker amorphous layer. Split B1, with a tilt of 45°, shows the smallest shift in the ε_2 profile compared to the other splits (B2, B4, B6, and B8) which have a tilt of 7°. Split B4, which has the same implant energy as Split B2 but double the implant dose, exhibits a larger shift in the ε_2 profile than Split B2. Splits B6 and B8 have the same total dose as Split B4, but with half the dose comprising Si implants at the same energy and half the dose comprising either heavier S ions that cause more damage than Si (Split B6) or even heavier Te ions that cause even more damage than S (Split B8).

After RTA at 600 °C for 60 s [Fig. 5.4(b)], all the beam-line implant samples recover almost completely towards the pristine crystalline InGaAs, as shown by the close matching of their ε_2 profiles to the modeled one. N-type doping near the InGaAs surface and small variations in Al₂O₃ thickness could contribute to the small deviations from the modeled profile. The strong recovery of crystallinity, even for samples that were amorphized by the beam-line implant, shows that the annealing conditions are sufficient for damage repair and recrystallization of the InGaAs. However, this does not make an elevated substrate temperature during implantation redundant, as the samples are blanket bulk substrates with a large crystalline base for crystal regrowth. Such a luxury is not afforded to fins with small dimensions, where amorphization of the fin can lead to a lack of sufficient crystalline seed for crystal regrowth and make it harder to repair the crystal damage and defects, ultimately resulting in higher leakage and series resistance.

All the TEM in this Chapter was done at the Data Storage Institute (DSI) as a paid service. Cross-sectional transmission electron microscopy (TEM) images of an as-implanted blanket sample from Split P8 (ET-PLAD) are presented in Fig. 5.5, showing excellent crystallinity with no visible defects even without RTA. In addition, the InGaAs surface remains smooth and is not roughened by the PLAD. An additional cap layer (~7 nm thick) on top of the 4-nm-thick Al_2O_3 can be seen, and is determined by EDX to comprise of SiO_x and/or Si. This additional layer was deposited by the plasma during PLAD, and should be minimized as it can affect the dopant concentration and dose in the InGaAs, and can also fill the gaps between fins and make it difficult to conformally dope fins with tight pitches. This can be resolved by tuning the PLAD conditions. For instance, when using B_2H_6 for PLAD, dilution with He or H₂ has been shown to reduce boron deposition [211]-[212].

Fig. 5.6 plots the ε_2 profiles obtained from UV-VASE measurements on PLAD blanket samples before and after RTA. The UV-VASE measurements for asimplanted samples were done with the cap layers present [Fig. 5.6(a)], since they are



Fig. 5.5. (a) Low-magnification and (b) high-resolution TEM images of a blanket sample from Split P8 before RTA. An additional layer (~7 nm thick), determined by EDX to comprise of SiO_x and/or Si, was deposited on the Al_2O_3 by the plasma during PLAD. The InGaAs surface remains smooth and is not roughened by the PLAD, and the InGaAs shows good crystallinity with no visible defects for the given PLAD conditions of Split P8, even without RTA.



Fig. 5.6. Measured UV-VASE data (a) before RTA and (b) after RTA, obtained from samples doped by PLAD. Solid lines are used for RT-PLAD samples, while dashed lines are used for ET-PLAD samples. The modeled ε_2 profiles for 4 nm Al₂O₃ (cap layers present) or 1.7 nm InGaAs oxide (cap layers stripped), formed on 500 nm p⁻ In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As on 500 µm p⁺ InP, are also plotted (open squares).

needed for the dopant activation anneal. For the annealed samples, UV-VASE data was obtained before and after removal of the cap layers on the surface using a few cycles of buffered oxide etch, but only the data after removal is shown [Fig. 5.6(b)]. While the cap layers have some influence on the ε_2 profiles, as seen in the UV-VASE data from annealed samples prior to cap layer removal (not shown), they do not affect the assessment of crystallinity. The modeled ε_2 profiles for 4 nm Al₂O₃ (cap layers present) or 1.7 nm InGaAs native oxide (cap layers stripped), formed on 500 nm p⁻ In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As on 500 µm p⁺ InP, are also plotted in Figs. 5.6(a) and 5.6(b), respectively.

Without RTA [Fig. 5.6(a)], Splits P1, P3, and P4 exhibit amorphous characteristics, while the rest have likely maintained a fair degree of crystallinity. In fact, the excellent crystallinity of the as-implanted sample from Split P8 is verified by the TEM images in Fig. 5.5. Comparing Splits P1 and P2, it appears that ET-PLAD can help to suppress amorphization. However, a higher dose (Splits P3 and P4) is more amorphizing, such that an elevated substrate temperature of 100 °C during PLAD is unable to maintain crystallinity. In this case, a higher substrate temperature is required.

It is noted that a higher substrate bias for PLAD appears to be less amorphizing (Splits P5, P6, P7, and P8). This might seem contradictory, as one may expect higher energies to cause more amorphization as in the case of beam-line ion implantation. However, the PLAD mechanism is more complex than beam-line ion implantation. The ions that are implanted during PLAD have a distribution of angles, energies, and masses, due to collisions between ions and neutrals within the plasma sheath and the lack of mass separation. This stands in contrast to beam-line ion implantation, where mass analyzer magnets provide selection of ion mass, the ions are accelerated (or decelerated) to a single desired energy, and the ion beam is directional. In PLAD, the plasma characteristics (e.g. density and pressure) and the substrate bias (e.g. magnitude, waveform, and frequency) have important influences on the dopant profile in the substrate and the properties of the doped layer. A larger substrate bias increases the maximum energy that can be attained by the implanted ions, but also increases the sheath thickness and results in more collisions between ions and neutrals in the sheath, which broadens the ion energy distribution and reduces the mean ion energy [202]-[204]. Increased collisions in the sheath also result in a higher proportion of lighter ions [204]. The broadened energy distribution, lower mean ion energy, and lighter ions could account for the reduced amorphization at larger substrate bias.

After RTA [Fig. 5.6(b)], all the PLAD samples recover almost completely towards the pristine crystalline InGaAs. The splits with a lower dose have ε_2 profiles that match almost perfectly with the modeled profile. The splits with a higher dose have residual surface layers that were not completely etched away, which alters their ε_2 profiles.

Secondary ion mass spectrometry (SIMS) was done on Splits P7 and P8 before and after RTA, and the Si concentration depth profiles in the InGaAs are plotted in Fig. 5.7. The SIMS was done at the Institute of Materials Research and Engineering (IMRE) as a paid service. The Si counts were converted to Si concentration by application of a relative sensitivity factor obtained from a calibration In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As sample implanted with a known Si dose and analyzed using the same SIMS conditions. The surface-peaked Si profiles, which are typical of PLAD due to the ions possessing a distribution of energies, are beneficial for lowering contact resistivity.



Fig. 5.7. Si concentration depth profiles in InGaAs for Splits P7 and P8 before and after RTA, showing higher Si surface concentration and higher Si dose for ET-PLAD than for RT-PLAD. The Si surface concentration and Si dose increase after RTA for both RT-PLAD and ET-PLAD, due to diffusion of Si dopants from the Al₂O₃ cap into the InGaAs.



Fig. 5.8. Measured IR-VASE data for all PLAD splits after RTA at 600 °C for 60 s. The measured ε_2 profile for Split P8 before RTA and the modeled ε_2 profile for 5.5 nm native SiO₂ on 4 nm Al₂O₃ on 500 nm p⁻ In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As on 500 µm p⁺ InP are also plotted.

The additional SiO_x and/or Si layer that was seen in the TEM images in Fig. 5.5 can also be seen in the SIMS raw data (not shown). A portion of the total PLAD dose is lost due to deposition of this layer, and also due to some dopants stopping in the Al₂O₃. It is observed that ET-PLAD gives higher Si surface concentration and Si dose in the InGaAs than RT-PLAD. In addition, the Si surface concentration and Si dose increase after RTA for both RT-PLAD and ET-PLAD, due to diffusion of some Si dopants from the Al₂O₃ cap into the InGaAs. Before RTA, the Si doses in the InGaAs for RT-PLAD and ET-PLAD, calculated by integrating the Si concentration depth profiles in Fig. 5.7, are 4.7×10^{14} and 7.6×10^{14} cm⁻², respectively. After RTA, the doses increase to 5.5×10^{14} and 9.3×10^{14} cm⁻², respectively.

Infrared variable angle spectroscopic ellipsometry (IR-VASE) [225] was used to examine the activation of the Si dopants in the InGaAs. Fig. 5.8 plots the ε_2 profiles in the IR regime obtained from all the PLAD splits after RTA, along with the ε_2 profile from Split P8 (ET-PLAD) before RTA and the modeled ε_2 profile for 5.5 nm native SiO₂ on 4 nm Al₂O₃ on 500 nm p⁻ In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As on 500 µm p⁺ InP. The ε_2 profile from Split P8 before RTA shows only a slight increase in free carrier absorption compared to the modeled profile. Therefore, there is little active n-type doping before RTA, even for ET-PLAD with a substrate temperature of 100 °C. After RTA, significant increases in free carrier absorption are observed for all splits, indicating the activation of Si dopants, which forms a layer of n-type InGaAs. Further in-depth analysis of the IR-VASE data can also yield parameters such as electrical resistivity, mobility, and thickness of the charge layer. Preliminary analysis gives a mobility of ~800 cm²/V·s for Split P4.

The current-voltage characteristics obtained from the TLM structures are highly linear (not shown), indicating the formation of good ohmic contacts on the ndoped InGaAs. The sheet resistance R_{sheet} extracted from the TLM structures is plotted in Fig. 5.9 for Splits P7 and P8. Lower R_{sheet} is obtained for ET-PLAD than for RT-PLAD, which may be attributed to enhanced doping in the form of higher active doping concentration and/or a thicker n-doped layer, as seen from SIMS (Fig. 5.7) and IR-VASE (Fig. 5.8) data. In comparison, the sheet resistances extracted from TLM structures on samples doped by beam-line implant are ~250 to ~300 Ω /square. Fig. 5.10 shows the current-voltage characteristics of diodes with dimensions of $L_{diode} \times L_{diode}$ and the extracted ideality factor *n*, obtained from Splits P7 and P8. As the contacts to the n-doped InGaAs are ohmic, the measured characteristics are those of the p-n junction diodes formed by the PLAD. The RT-PLAD and ET-PLAD samples show similar diode characteristics, with a difference of ~6 orders of magnitude between forward and reverse currents, and an average ideality factor of 1.31 for RT-PLAD and 1.33 for ET-PLAD. Diodes fabricated on blanket RT-BL and ET-BL samples display a comparable ideality factor of ~1.3 to ~1.4.



Fig. 5.9. R_{sheet} extracted from TLM structures for Splits P7 and P8 after RTA at 600 °C for 60 s. Lower R_{sheet} is obtained for ET-PLAD than for RT-PLAD, which may be attributed to a higher doping concentration and/or a thicker doped layer as seen from SIMS (Fig. 5.7) and IR-VASE (Fig. 5.8) data.



Fig. 5.10. Diodes formed by RT-PLAD and ET-PLAD exhibit similar diode characteristics, with a difference of ~6 orders of magnitude between forward and reverse currents, and reasonable ideality factor ranging from 1.28 to 1.35.

5.4 PLAD ON SMALL FIN STRUCTURES

Small fins defined by electron beam lithography (EBL), with widths ranging from 25 to 95 nm, were fabricated using the same process flow as in Fig. 5.1, except a different starting substrate was used and the mesa patterning and etch were done as the first step in order to form the fins prior to PLAD. The EBL was done at DSI as a paid service. The starting substrate for the fins is 50-nm-thick (001) $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ with p-type doping concentration of ~5×10¹⁶ cm⁻³ on 500-nm-thick (001) $In_{0.52}Al_{0.48}As$ (undoped or with low p-type doping of ~1×10¹⁷ cm⁻³), grown on bulk InP with p-type doping concentration of ~5×10¹⁸ to ~5×10¹⁹ cm⁻³. The fin etch was ~100 nm deep, etching beyond the InGaAs into the InAlAs.



Fig. 5.11. (a) Top-view SEM image of fins that were cut for TEM. The FIB cut is made along the line A-A'. (b) Tilt-view SEM image of standalone fins.

The fins were used for TEM analysis to examine the InGaAs crystallinity after RTA. Fig. 5.11(a) shows a top-view scanning electron microscopy (SEM) image of fins that were cut for TEM, with the focused ion beam (FIB) cut line indicated by A-A'. All 24 fins in each sample were inspected by TEM for defects. A tilt-view SEM image of standalone fins is also provided in Fig. 5.11(b). Fins from Splits P1 and P6 were chosen for TEM based on the UV-VASE analysis of blanket samples (Fig. 5.6), which shows that the as-implanted PLAD samples from Splits P1 and P6 are amorphous and crystalline, respectively.

TEM images of fins from Split P1 are shown in Figs. 5.12, 5.13, and 5.14, while TEM images of fins from Split P6 are shown in Figs. 5.15 and 5.16. Some corner rounding of the fins is observed, which is desirable for reducing the electric field at the corners. However, extensive defects can be clearly seen at the corners of the fins from Split P1 (Figs. 5.13 and 5.14). These corner defects are similar to the multiple twin boundary defects along the {111} plane observed in Si fins doped by beam-line ion implantation in Ref. [221], and are consistently seen for all 24 fins of varying width (25-95 nm) in Split P1.



Fig. 5.12. Cross-sectional TEM image of a set of three 25-nm-wide fins from Split P1 after RTA. The fins are identical to each other, with rounded corners and vertical sidewalls.



Fig. 5.13. (a) Cross-sectional TEM image of a single 25-nm-wide fin from Split P1 after RTA. The dashed line indicates the interface between InGaAs and InAlAs. (b) High-magnification view of the top portion of the fin, showing that corner defects remain after anneal for fins that are amorphized during plasma ion implantation.



Fig. 5.14. High-magnification TEM image of the top portion of a 48-nm-wide fin from Split P1 after RTA. Like the fin in Fig. 5.13, corner defects are present after anneal due to amorphization during plasma ion implantation, despite the larger fin width.

On the other hand, the corner defects are suppressed for all 24 fins of varying width (25-95 nm) in Split P6, resulting in fins that are free of visible defects (Figs. 5.15 and 5.16). This highlights the importance of maintaining the crystallinity of the fins during implantation of the ions. By preventing amorphization in the as-implanted fins, the lack of crystalline seed for recrystallization and the presence of residual corner defects after RTA can be circumvented. This can be achieved by careful optimization of the PLAD conditions, possibly with the aid of an elevated substrate temperature during PLAD.



Fig. 5.15. (a) Cross-sectional TEM image of a 25-nm-wide fin from Split P6. The dashed line indicates the interface between InGaAs and InAlAs. (b) High-magnification view of the top portion of the fin, which shows that residual corner defects are absent after dopant activation anneal when the crystallinity of the fins is preserved during plasma ion implantation.



Fig. 5.16. High-magnification TEM image of the top portion of a 47-nm-wide fin from Split P6 after RTA. Like the fin in Fig. 5.15, no corner defects are present after anneal due to the suppression of amorphization during plasma ion implantation.

5.5 CONCLUSIONS

Plasma doping of InGaAs at an elevated substrate temperature was investigated for the first time and compared against plasma doping with the substrate kept at room temperature. An elevated substrate temperature during plasma doping can potentially help to maintain good crystallinity as-implanted. Elevatedtemperature plasma doping also gave higher dose and surface concentration in blanket samples than room-temperature plasma doping, leading to lower sheet resistance. Small fins that are amorphized during plasma ion implantation are found to have residual corner defects after dopant activation anneal, whereas visible defects are absent in fins that remained crystalline during plasma ion implantation, showing the importance of avoiding amorphization in small fins.

Chapter 6

Summary and Future Directions

6.1 CONTRIBUTIONS OF THESIS

As explained in Chapter 1, high-mobility III-V semiconductors provide a compelling option for the replacement of Si as the channel material in metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors (MOSFETs), so as to maintain high performance in spite of the necessary reduction in supply voltage V_{dd} for lower power consumption.

However, the use of III-V MOSFETs in CMOS logic circuits faces challenges that need to be overcome before they are suitable for large-scale manufacturing, not least of which is the need for low parasitic resistances in MOSFETs with highmobility channels and highly scaled dimensions. Crucially, the complexity and costs associated with the adoption of a disruptive technology such as III-V MOSFETs must be justified by substantial performance improvement and the ability to scale over multiple technology nodes. High parasitic resistances can limit the performance of III-V MOSFETs, preventing them from realizing their full potential and potentially jeopardizing their adoption in industry.

Therefore, this thesis has explored and developed contact and source/drain (S/D) engineering techniques for advanced InGaAs n-channel MOSFETs (n-MOSFETs), with the potential to not only achieve low parasitic resistances, but also fulfil the important requirements of abrupt, ultra-shallow, and high-quality junctions for control of short-channel effects (SCEs), and doping conformality for three-

dimensional (3D) device architectures such as fin field-effect transistors (FinFETs). These techniques are studied in Chapters 2 to 5, and the results and their significance are summarized in the following subsections. Finally, suggestions on possible future directions for expanding on the research in this thesis are provided in Section 6.2.

6.1.1 Salicide-like S/D contact metallization for InGaAs MOSFETs

The direct reaction of metals with InGaAs opens the doorway to the formation of self-aligned S/D contact metallization in InGaAs MOSFETs using a process similar to the self-aligned silicide ('salicide') formation process in Si technology [110]-[116]. Salicide formation has been an important technology for S/D resistance R_{SD} reduction in Si MOSFETs, as it places the S/D contact metallization directly adjacent to the gate spacer. Therefore, the formation of salicide-like contact metallization in InGaAs MOSFETs could also bring a similar benefit to InGaAs MOSFETs.

The reaction of Ti, Co, and Pd with $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ was thus investigated by annealing for 60 s using different rapid thermal anneal (RTA) temperatures. Ti did not appear to react with $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ up to 400 °C. On the other hand, Co completely reacts at 350 °C to form Co-InGaAs, and Pd completely reacts at 200 °C to form Pd-InGaAs. A low reaction temperature is important for minimizing S/D dopant diffusion and gate stack degradation. Both Co-InGaAs and Pd-InGaAs form ohmic contacts on n-type $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ with active doping concentration of $\sim 2 \times 10^{18}$ cm⁻³. X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) analysis suggests that Pd could be the main diffusing species in the reaction with InGaAs.

Pd-InGaAs exhibits superior film properties compared to Co-InGaAs. Pd-InGaAs films formed at 200 and 250 °C are very uniform in both thickness and sheet resistance, and form a smooth interface with InGaAs. In contrast, Co-InGaAs forms a

rough interface with InGaAs. 20-nm-thick Pd-InGaAs formed at 250 °C has a sheet resistance of ~77 Ω /square.

Using ultra-violet photoelectron spectroscopy (UPS), the work function of the Pd-InGaAs formed at 250 °C is found to be ~4.6 ± 0.1 eV. Therefore, the Fermi level of Pd-InGaAs is close to the conduction band minimum of In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As, which should enable it to form a good ohmic contact on n-type In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As with low contact resistivity ρ_c . However, the ρ_c of Pd-InGaAs on n-type In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As with ~2×10¹⁸ cm⁻³ active doping concentration is ~8.35×10⁻⁵ Ω ·cm², which is rather high. A higher substrate doping concentration will help to lower ρ_c , but the value of ρ_c may still be too high. This issue and the potential solutions will be discussed below in Section 6.2.

6.1.2 Comparison between self-aligned and non-self-aligned contact metallization in InGaAs n-MOSFETs

Simulations of In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As n-MOSFETs with either self-aligned silicide-like (salicide-like) or non-self-aligned S/D contact metallization were used to ascertain the performance benefits derived from salicide-like contact metallization. For technological relevance, the simulated devices were calibrated to projections by the International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors (ITRS) [181] for III-V high-performance logic technology. These include a gate length L_G of 15 nm, a supply voltage V_{dd} of 0.63 V, and a saturation threshold voltage $V_{t,sat}$ of 0.18 V.

The simulations show that while R_{SD} has a much less significant impact at highly scaled dimensions due to the close proximity of the via to the gate, self-aligned metallization (SAM) still provides drive current benefits over non-self-aligned metallization (NSAM) with the same ρ_c due to its larger contact area, which reduces contact resistance R_c . The contact area advantage of SAM is especially important for small vias, which will continue to shrink with device scaling, leading to R_c becoming the dominant source of parasitic resistance.

The ρ_c needed in order to meet the ITRS parasitic S/D series resistance requirements for III-V high-performance logic is determined to be ~1×10⁻⁸ and ~5×10⁻⁹ Ω ·cm² for SAM and NSAM, respectively. The lower R_c afforded by SAM allows it to outperform NSAM with the same ρ_c , down to values of ρ_c as low as 3×10⁻⁹ Ω ·cm². At lower ρ_c , SAM gives lower performance than NSAM as it suffers from current crowding and higher spreading resistance induced by its recessed geometry, but this is eliminated by a raised S/D architecture, which allows SAM to outperform NSAM with the same ρ_c for any given value of ρ_c .

The results obtained from the simulations therefore clearly show the importance and usefulness of salicide-like S/D contact metallization, and provides ρ_c targets in order to meet ITRS requirements. From the simulations, it is also possible to determine the value of ρ_c needed for SAM to match or better the performance of NSAM with a given ρ_c .

6.1.3 Novel Si monolayer doping technique for InGaAs

A new Si monolayer doping (MLD) technique was developed for doping InGaAs n-type, and was successfully demonstrated in planar $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ n-MOSFETs for the first time. This doping technique uses SiH₄ or Si₂H₆ gas treatment of the InGaAs surface to form Si monolayers on the InGaAs, with Si₂H₆ allowing a lower substrate or processing temperature. The dopant dose can be controlled by the treatment time. Laser anneal is then used to drive in and activate the Si dopants to form n^{++} InGaAs.

At present, precious little has been reported on MLD for InGaAs, and the existing literature on MLD for III-V substrates has been confined to the use of sulfur (S) as the dopant [186]-[192]. Yet, Si remains the preferred dopant for n-type InGaAs [193]. The Si MLD technique developed therefore expands on MLD for InGaAs, and provides an alternative MLD solution for III-V materials.

The SiH₄ or Si₂H₆ gas treatment offers a way to conformally introduce dopants on the InGaAs surface, which is important for 3D device structures such as FinFETs and nanowire MOSFETs. A gas-based monolayer formation technique also offers the possible advantage of an *in situ* clean without breaking vacuum prior to monolayer formation. In addition, the use of laser anneal potentially allows doping concentrations above the solid solubility limit, and miminal dopant diffusion that enables abrupt ultra-shallow junction formation due to the ultrafast irradiation.

Experimental data shows that a laser anneal fluence of 100 mJ/cm² is able to produce n-type In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As with very high doping concentrations (approaching 10^{21} atoms/cm³ at the surface) and ultra-shallow junctions with good abruptness (~4-5 nm/decade) for both SiH₄ and Si₂H₆ treatments. Nearly ideal p-n junction diodes with ideality factor approaching unity were also formed on p-type In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As by SiH₄ treatment at 500 °C and laser anneal at 100 mJ/cm². These were made possible by the absence of both implant-induced damage and melt-induced defects. In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As n-MOSFETs with S/D regions doped by SiH₄ treatment at 500 °C and laser anneal at 100 mJ/cm² show well-behaved transfer and output characteristics, with crystalline channel and S/D regions and low gate leakage current.

Therefore, the Si MLD technique developed for InGaAs n-MOSFETs shows promise as an alternative to conventional beam-line ion implantation, which may not be suitable for conformally doping 3D device structures with extremely narrow pitch.

6.1.4 Plasma doping of InGaAs at elevated substrate temperature

Plasma doping (PLAD) was also studied as another doping option for InGaAs at advanced technology nodes. PLAD has been extensively reported for the doping of Si substrates [196]-[221], but has been largely neglected for other materials. PLAD is capable of forming ultra-shallow junctions with surface-peaked doping profiles, due to the range of energies of the ions implanted. PLAD also offers high throughput, thanks to high implant currents and simultaneous doping of the entire wafer surface. Most importantly, PLAD can conformally dope 3D structures such as trenches and fins [214]-[221], even those with high aspect ratio or narrow pitch. This is attributed to the distribution of angles that the implanted ions possess.

While conventional beam-line ion implantation has seen advancements that have enabled it to provide high throughput for high-dose, ultra-low-energy implantations of large wafers and is still suitable for 3D FinFET doping at the 14/16 nm technology node, its application could be restricted by angle limitations imposed by shadowing as fin pitch continues to shrink. In contrast, PLAD does not have the issue of a directional ion beam, and hence does not suffer from shadowing effects. Therefore, PLAD could have an important role to play in the doping of future generations of FinFETs. While PLAD has its own challenges in terms of process control (e.g. dose, contamination, uniformity, and repeatability), they can be overcome through the use of modeling, diagnostics, and sensors, which allows good process control comparable to that of beam-line ion implantation [207],[213]. Like beam-line ion implantation, PLAD is an implant-based doping technique. Therefore, it can also induce implant damage and can cause amorphization, although the amorphous layer may have slightly different properties due to the range of masses and energies of the implanted ions [202]. An elevated substrate temperature during PLAD provides dynamic annealing, and has been shown to suppress crystal defects and maintain crystallinity in Si substrates as-implanted [208]-[210]. However, this has not been reported for III-V substrates. Elevated-temperature PLAD (ET-PLAD) was thus studied for InGaAs for the first time.

ET-PLAD was found to provide higher Si dopant incorporation and lower sheet resistance in InGaAs than room-temperature PLAD (RT-PLAD). Of greater significance is the ability of an elevated substrate temperature to prevent amorphization of the InGaAs during PLAD. Small fins doped by PLAD highlight the importance of maintaining crystallinity during the plasma ion implantation, as residual corner defects after dopant activation anneal are observed in fins that are amorphized during PLAD, but not in fins where crystallinity is preserved throughout the process.

6.2 FUTURE DIRECTIONS

While promising new contact and S/D engineering technologies were explored and developed for advanced InGaAs n-MOSFETs, the technologies are still in the early stages of development. Much work is still needed to optimize the technologies and characterize their performance in advanced MOSFET architectures, creating opportunities for further research. Salicide-like S/D contact metallization is a very recent development for III-V MOSFET technology. Ni-InGaAs contact metallization was first reported at the end of year 2010 [122]. Thus far, the lowest ρ_c reported for Ni-InGaAs on In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As is ~1×10⁻⁶ Ω ·cm², which is still not low enough despite a low- to mid-10¹⁹ cm⁻³ active donor concentration [136]-[137]. The ρ_c of ~8.35×10⁻⁵ Ω ·cm² obtained for Pd-InGaAs on In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As, although at a lower active donor concentration of ~2×10¹⁸ cm⁻³, is also rather high. Hence, the most pressing need for salicide-like contact metallization in III-V MOSFETs is a reduction in ρ_c . From the simulations in Chapter 3, the target ρ_c based on ITRS requirements is ~1×10⁻⁸ Ω ·cm² for salicide-like S/D contact metallization. Therefore, the ρ_c of salicide-like S/D contact metallization such as Ni-InGaAs and Pd-InGaAs needs to be reduced by two to three orders of magnitude.

The ρ_c of Pd-InGaAs can be reduced by increasing the InGaAs doping concentration to mid-10¹⁹ cm⁻³, possibly bringing it close to the 1×10⁻⁶ Ω ·cm² obtained for Ni-InGaAs at the same doping concentration [136]-[137]. InGaAs with higher indium composition is also expected to produce lower ρ_c . However, these are not likely to be sufficient on their own, and other techniques will be required to achieve the desired ρ_c .

In order to reduce ρ_c to ~1×10⁻⁸ Ω ·cm² and below, it is first necessary to gain more insight into the reasons for the ρ_c being high despite pinning of the Fermi level near the InGaAs conduction band and, in the case of Pd-InGaAs, a low work function. In fact, the work function of Pd-InGaAs (~4.6 eV) is lower than that of Pd (5.12 eV), yet its ρ_c is higher. The presence of interfacial layers such as excess elemental In, Ga, or As at the interface between Pd-InGaAs and InGaAs after reaction of Pd with InGaAs was cited as a possible reason in Chapter 2. Indeed, preliminary studies performed by one of our collaborators show out-diffusion of substrate elements during the reaction between Ni and InGaAs, which results in InGaAs nonstoichiometry at the interface between Ni-InGaAs and InGaAs and leads to high ρ_c . It is found that the insertion of a capping layer between Ni and InGaAs can help to suppress the out-diffusion of substrate elements during the subsequent reaction, enabling the resulting Ni-InGaAs to achieve ρ_c as low as ~4×10⁻⁸ Ω ·cm² on In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As with active donor concentration of 3×10¹⁹ cm⁻³. This is a major step towards ρ_c reduction for Ni-InGaAs contact metallization in InGaAs n-MOSFETs, as it makes Ni-InGaAs competitive with non-self-aligned Mo contact metallization, and can potentially be extended to other salicide-like contact metallization such as Pd-InGaAs.

Other than ρ_c reduction, another potential issue with Pd-InGaAs is its thermal stability, as a reaction or formation temperature of 350 °C results in a Pd-InGaAs film that has a degraded morphology and interface with InGaAs. While the formation temperature is not the same as the subsequent thermal budget that the Pd-InGaAs film can withstand without degradation, a low formation temperature tolerance could be indicative of poor thermal stability after formation. More studies are therefore needed to determine the thermal stability of the Pd-InGaAs film after it is formed. Ni-InGaAs exhibits degraded morphology and sheet resistance starting at 400 °C formation temperature, but the use of an interfacial layer between Ni and InGaAs has been shown to allow Ni-InGaAs formation temperatures of up to 500 °C without degradation [141]. An interfacial layer could therefore also be useful in the reaction between Pd and InGaAs if the thermal stability of the Pd-InGaAs film is a concern.

The selective etch of unreacted Pd, without affecting the Pd-InGaAs S/D contact metallization and other parts of the transistor, also requires further

development to improve the salicide-like process for Pd-InGaAs contact metallization in InGaAs MOSFETs. Extensive studies on selective wet etching of Ni have been done for Ni-InGaAs on both blanket [131] and transistor [141] samples, but no such reports exist yet for selective etching of Pd for Pd-InGaAs contact metallization.

The two-dimensional (2D) simulations in Chapter 3 can be extended to 3D simulations. While the 2D simulations give a good representation of the actual devices and provide useful and relevant insights, 3D simulations could give an even more accurate representation of 3D MOSFET architectures such as FinFETs, albeit at the cost of significantly increased simulation time and complexity.

The Si MLD technique developed in Chapter 4 is novel and thus not yet mature, and therefore needs to be optimized to achieve lower sheet resistance and contact resistivity. This can be done by incorporating more dopants or improving the activation efficiency. For instance, it has been reported that the material, stoichiometry, deposition method, and deposition temperature of the capping layer can affect the incorporation and activation of sulfur (S) dopants in InGaAs for S MLD, and that a bi-layer cap comprising a thin low-temperature oxide followed by a thicker high-temperature oxide works best in retaining S dopants on the surface during cap layer deposition and suppressing S outdiffusion during the activation anneal [192].

Various capping layer materials and thicknesses can therefore be studied for the Si MLD technique developed in Chapter 4 to get optimal doping, although the method used to deposit the capping layer should be conformal (e.g. atomic layer deposition) for 3D structures. A two-step anneal could also be explored, involving laser anneal at a low fluence of 100 mJ/cm² to achieve an abrupt ultra-shallow

136

junction with peak doping concentration at the surface, followed by a flash anneal or a second laser anneal for higher dopant activation without significant dopant diffusion.

Another obvious follow-up is the integration of the Si MLD technique in 3D MOSFETs such as FinFETs. While the planar $In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As$ n-MOSFETs demonstrated in Chapter 4 represent the first devices to successfully implement this novel Si MLD technique to dope the S/D regions, the performance of the doping technique needs to be evaluated for 3D devices in terms of conformality and resistance.

The application of the Si MLD technique to InGaAs with different indium compositions can also be investigated, with the different optical and thermal properties (e.g. band gap and thermal conductivity) potentially affecting the annealing conditions required for the optimal doping profile. In addition, gas-based MLD using other dopants can be explored, such as germane (GeH₄) treatment for the formation of germanium (Ge) monolayers.

The future research options suggested for the Si MLD technique developed in Chapter 4 can also be applied to the plasma doping (PLAD) of InGaAs that was studied in Chapter 5. These include the optimization of the capping layer and the dopant activation conditions for minimizing resistance, and the application of PLAD to InGaAs with different indium compositions, which may have different substrate temperature requirements for maintaining crystallinity during PLAD. The integration of PLAD in InGaAs FinFETs has also not been demonstrated before, providing an opportunity for further study. As part of the design and development of plasma-doped InGaAs FinFETs, an evaluation of sidewall doping at very narrow fin spacing, dopant profiling/mapping, and the extraction of top and sidewall sheet resistances from small plasma-doped InGaAs fins patterned by electron beam lithography (EBL) would be useful.

In addition, the effect of the substrate temperature on sheet resistance can be investigated for PLAD. This has been reported for beam-line ion implantation, where it is proposed that increasing the amount of point defects without amorphization during implantation helps to improve Si activation in In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As during the subsequent dopant activation anneal [226]. However, it should be pointed out that more non-amorphizing damage can also result in more residual defects (e.g. dislocation loops) after annealing, leading to higher leakage. Therefore, this warrants careful consideration.

Finally, co-dopants can also be introduced during PLAD. The doping of InGaAs by PLAD in Chapter 5 used only Si as an n-type dopant. Other n-type dopants such as S can be introduced together with Si into the InGaAs using PLAD, with the co-dopants implanted simultaneously or consecutively. Heavier elements, which cause more crystal damage as seen in the case of beam-line ion implantation, may require higher substrate temperatures during PLAD in order to maintain crystallinity.

From the lengthy discussion above, it is evident that there are many opportunities and avenues for continuing the research in this thesis. It is hoped that with further progress and optimization, at least a few of the promising contact and S/D engineering techniques developed in this thesis for advanced InGaAs MOSFETs will one day be production-worthy and ultimately help to advance technology by being adopted in industry.

138

References

- C.-H. Ge, C.-C. Lin, C.-H. Ko, C.-C. Huang, Y.-C. Huang, B.-W. Chan, B.-C. Perng, C.-C. Sheu, P.-Y. Tsai, L.-G. Yao, C.-L. Wu, T.-L. Lee, C.-J. Chen, C.-T. Wang, S.-C. Lin, Y.-C. Yeo, and C. Hu, "Process-strained Si (PSS) CMOS technology featuring 3D strain engineering," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting Tech. Dig.*, pp. 73-76, Dec. 2003.
- [2] Y.-C. Yeo and J. Sun, "Finite element study of strain distribution in transistor with silicon-germanium source and drain regions," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 86, no. 2, 023103, Jan. 2005.
- [3] K.-W. Ang, K.-J. Chui, V. Bliznetsov, C.-H. Tung, A. Du, N. Balasubramanian, G. Samudra, M. F. Li, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Lattice strain analysis of transistor structures with silicon-germanium and silicon-carbon source/drain stressors," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 86, no. 9, 093102, Feb. 2005.
- [4] K.-M. Tan, T.-Y. Liow, R. T. P. Lee, K.-J. Chui, C.-H. Tung, N. Balasubramanian, G. S. Samudra, W.-J. Yoo, Y.-C. Yeo, "Sub-30 nm strained p-channel FinFETs with condensed SiGe source/drain stressors," *Jap. J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 46, pp. 2058-2061, Apr. 2007.
- [5] T.-Y. Liow, K.-M. Tan, R. T. P. Lee, C.-H. Tung, G. S. Samudra, N. Balasubramanian, and Y.-C. Yeo, "N-channel (110)-sidewall strained FinFETs with silicon-carbon source and drain stressors and tensile capping layer," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 28, pp. 1014-1017, Nov. 2007.
- [6] T.-Y. Liow, K.-M. Tan, R. T. P. Lee, M. Zhu, B. L.-H. Tan, N. Balasubramanian, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Strained-silicon nanowire transistors with germanium source and drain stressors," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 55, pp. 3048-3055, Nov. 2008.
- [7] K.-M. Tan, M. Yang, T.-Y. Liow, R. T. P. Lee, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Ultra highstress liner comprising diamond-like carbon for performance enhancement of p-channel multiple-gate transistors," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 56, pp. 1277-1283, Jun. 2009.
- [8] B. Liu, H.-S. Wong, M.-C. Yang, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Strained silicon nanowire p-channel FETs with diamond-like carbon (DLC) liner stressor," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 31, pp. 1371-1373, Dec. 2010.
- [9] Y. Ding, R. Cheng, S.-M. Koh, B. Liu, A. Gyanathan, Q. Zhou, Y. Tong, P. S.-Y. Lim, G. Han, and Y.-C. Yeo, "A new Ge₂Sb₂Te₅ (GST) liner stressor featuring stress enhancement due to amorphous-crystalline phase change for sub-20 nm p-channel FinFETs," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting Tech. Dig.*, pp. 833-836, Dec. 2011.
- [10] R. Cheng, Y. Ding, S.-M. Koh, A. Gyanathan, F. Bai, B. Liu, and Y.-C. Yeo, "A new liner stressor (GeTe) featuring stress enhancement due to very large

phase-change induced volume contraction for p-channel FinFETs," *IEEE* Symp. VLSI Technol. – Dig. Tech. Papers, pp. 93-94, Jun. 2012.

- Y. Ding, X. Tong, Q. Zhou, B. Liu, A. Gyanathan, Y. Tong, and Y.-C. Yeo,
 "A new expandible ZnS-SiO₂ liner stressor for n-channel FinFETs," *IEEE* Symp. VLSI Technol. – Dig. Tech. Papers, pp. T34-T35, Jun. 2013.
- [12] J. R. Shallenberger, D. A. Cole, and S. W. Novak, "Characterization of silicon oxynitride thin films by x-ray photoelectron spectroscopy," *J. Vac. Sci. Technol. A*, vol. 17, pp. 1086-1090, Jul. 1999.
- [13] S. Inaba, T. Shimizu, S. Mori, K. Sekine, K. Saki, H. Suto, H. Fukui, M. Nagamine, M. Fujiwara, T. Yamamoto, M. Takayanagi, I. Mizushima, K. Okano, S. Matsuda, H. Oyamatsu, Y. Tsunashima, S. Yamada, Y. Toyoshima, and H. Ishiuchi, "Device performance of sub-50 nm CMOS with ultra-thin plasma nitrided gate dielectrics," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting Tech. Dig.*, pp. 651-654, Dec. 2002.
- [14] P. A. Kraus, K. Z. Ahmed, C. S. Olsen, and F. Nouri, "Physical models for predicting plasma nitrided Si-O-N gate dielectric properties from physical metrology," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 24, pp. 559-561, Sep. 2003.
- [15] F. N. Cubaynes, V. C. Venezia, C. van der Marel, J. H. M. Snijders, J. L. Everaert, X. Shi, A. Rothschild, and M. Schaekers, "Plasma-nitrided silicon-rich oxide as an extension to ultrathin nitrided oxide gate dielectrics," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 86, no. 17, 172903, Apr. 2005.
- [16] H. J. Osten, J. P. Liu, P. Gaworzewski, E. Bugiel, and P. Zaumseil, "High-k gate dielectrics with ultra-low leakage current based on praseodymium oxide," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting – Tech. Dig.*, pp. 653-656, Dec. 2000.
- [17] A. Dimoulas, A. Travlos, G. Vellianitis, N. Boukos, and K. Argyropoulos,
 "Direct heteroepitaxy of crystalline Y₂O₃ on Si (001) for high-k gate dielectric applications," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 90, pp. 4224-4230, Oct. 2001.
- [18] E. P. Gusev, E. Cartier, D. A. Buchanan, M. Gribelyuk, M. Copel, H. Okorn-Schmidt, and C. D'Emic, "Ultrathin high-K metal oxides on silicon: processing, characterization and integration issues," *Microelect. Eng.*, vol. 59, pp. 341-349, Nov. 2001.
- [19] L. Manchanda, M. D. Morris, M. L. Green, R. B. van Dover, F. Klemens, T. W. Sorsch, P. J. Silverman, G. Wilk, B. Busch, and S. Aravamudhan, "Multi-component high-K gate dielectrics for the silicon industry," *Microelect. Eng.*, vol. 59, pp. 351-359, Nov. 2001.
- [20] Y. Nishikawa, N. Fukushima, N. Yasuda, K. Nakayama, and S. Ikegawa, "Electrical properties of single crystalline CeO₂ high-k gate dielectrics directly grown on Si (111)," *Jap. J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 41, pp. 2480-2483, Apr. 2002.
- [21] S. Miyazaki, "Characterization of high-k gate dielectric/silicon interfaces," *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, vol. 190, pp. 66-74, May 2002.

- [22] H. R. Huff, A. Hou, C. Lim, Y. Kim, J. Barnett, G. Bersuker, G. A. Brown, C. D. Young, P. M. Zeitzoff, J. Gutt, P. Lysaght, M. I. Gardner, and R. W. Murto, "High-k gate stacks for planar, scaled CMOS integrated circuits," *Microelect. Eng.*, vol. 69, pp. 152-167, Sep. 2003.
- [23] F. Chen, X. Bin, C. Hella, X. Shi, W. L. Gladfelter, and S. A. Campbell, "A study of mixtures of HfO₂ and TiO₂ as high-k gate dielectrics," *Microelect. Eng.*, vol. 72, pp. 263-266, Apr. 2004.
- [24] O. Auciello, W. Fan, B. Kabius, S. Saha, J. A. Carlisle, R. P. H. Chang, C. Lopez, E. A. Irene, and R. A. Baragiola, "Hybrid titanium-aluminum oxide layer as alternative high-k gate dielectric for the next generation of complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor devices," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 86, no. 4, 042904, Jan. 2005.
- [25] N. Umezawa, K. Shiraishi, T. Ohno, H. Watanabe, T. Chikyow, K. Torii, K. Yamabe, K. Yamada, H. Kitajima, and T. Arikado, "First-principles studies of the intrinsic effect of nitrogen atoms on reduction in gate leakage current through Hf-based high-k dielectrics," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 86, no. 14, 143507, Apr. 2005.
- T. M. Pan, C. S. Liao, H. H. Hsu, C. L. Chen, J. D. Lee, K. T. Wang, and J. C. Wang, "Excellent frequency dispersion of thin gadolinium oxide high-k gate dielectrics," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 87, no. 26, 262908, Dec. 2005.
- [27] M. Houssa, L. Pantisano, L.-Å. Ragnarsson, R. Degraeve, T. Schram, G. Pourtois, S. De Gendt, G. Groeseneken, and M. M. Heyns, "Electrical properties of high-κ gate dielectrics: Challenges, current issues, and possible solutions," *Mat. Sci. and Eng. R*, vol. 51, pp. 37-85, Apr. 2006.
- [28] J.-P. Locquet, C. Marchiori, M. Sousa, J. Fompeyrine, and J. W. Seo, "High-K dielectrics for the gate stack," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 100, 051610, Sep. 2006.
- [29] H. Wong and H. Iwai, "On the scaling issues and high-κ replacement of ultrathin gate dielectrics for nanoscale MOS transistors," *Microelect. Eng.*, vol. 83, pp. 1867-1904, Oct. 2006.
- [30] J. Robertson, "Maximizing performance for higher K gate dielectrics," J. *Appl. Phys.*, vol. 104, 124111, Dec. 2008.
- [31] D. Hisamoto, W. C. Lee, J. Kedzierski, H. Takeuchi, K. Asano, C. Kuo, E. Anderson, T. J. King, J. Bokor, and C. M. Hu, "FinFET A self-aligned double-gate MOSFET scalable to 20 nm," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 47, pp. 2320-2325, Dec. 2000.
- [32] X. J. Huang, W. C. Lee, C. Kuo, D. Hisamoto, L. L. Chang, J. Kedzierski, E. Anderson, H. Takeuchi, Y. K. Choi, K. Asano, V. Subramanian, T. J. King, J. Bokor, and C. M. Hu, "Sub-50 nm p-channel FinFET," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 48, pp. 880-886, May 2001.
- [33] Y. K. Choi, T. J. King, and C. M. Hu, "Nanoscale CMOS spacer FinFET for the terabit era," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 23, pp. 25-27, Jan. 2002.

- [34] J. Kedzierski, E. Nowak, T. Kanarsky, Y. Zhang, D. Boyd, R. Carruthers, C. Cabral, R. Amos, C. Lavoie, R. Roy, J. Newbury, E. Sullivan, J. Benedict, P. Saunders, K. Wong, D. Canaperi, M. Krishnan, K. L. Lee, B. A. Rainey, D. Fried, P. Cottrell, H. S. P. Wong, M. Ieong, and W. Haensch, "Metal-gate FinFET and fully-depleted SOI devices using total gate silicidation," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting Tech. Dig.*, pp. 247-250, Dec. 2002.
- [35] B. Yu, L. L. Chang, S. Ahmed, H. H. Wang, S. Bell, C. Y. Yang, C. Tabery, C. Ho, Q. Xiang, T. J. King, J. Bokor, C. M. Hu, M. R. Lin, and D. Kyser, "FinFET scaling to 10nm gate length," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting Tech. Dig.*, pp. 251-254, Dec. 2002.
- [36] Y. K. Choi, L. L. Chang, P. Ranade, J. S. Lee, D. Ha, S. Balasubramanian, A. Agarwal, M. Ameen, T. J. King, and J. Bokor, "FinFET process refinements for improved mobility and gate work function engineering," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting Tech. Dig.*, pp. 259-262, Dec. 2002.
- [37] S. Y. Xiong and J. Bokor, "Sensitivity of double-gate and FinFET devices to process variations," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 50, pp. 2255-2261, Nov. 2003.
- [38] T. Rudenko, N. Collaert, S. De Gendt, V. Kilchytska, M. Jurczak, and D. Flandre, "Effective mobility in FinFET structures with HfO₂ and SiON gate dielectrics and TaN gate electrode," *Microelect. Eng.*, vol. 80, pp. 386-389, Jun. 2005.
- [39] G. Pei, J. Kedzierski, P. Oldiges, M. Ieong, and E. C.-C. Kan, "FinFET design considerations based on 3-D simulation and analytical modeling," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 49, pp. 1411-1419, Aug. 2002.
- [40] J. Kedzierski, M. Ieong, E. Nowak, T. S. Kanarsky, Y. Zhang, R. Roy, D. Boyd, D. Fried, and H.-S. P. Wong, "Extension and source/drain design for high-performance FinFET devices," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 50, pp. 952-958, Apr. 2003.
- [41] A. Dixit, A. Kottantharayil, N. Collaert, M. Goodwin, M. Jurczak, and K. De Meyer, "Analysis of the parasitic S/D resistance in multiple-gate FETs," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 52, pp. 1132-1140, Jun. 2005.
- [42] K. Nehari, N. Cavassilas, J. L. Autran, M. Bescond, D. Munteanu, and M. Lannoo, "Influence of band structure on electron ballistic transport in silicon nanowire MOSFET's: An atomistic study," *Solid-State Electron.*, vol. 50, pp. 716-721, Apr. 2006.
- [43] G. Liang, D. Kienle, S. K. R. Patil, J. Wang, A. W. Ghosh, and S. V. Khare, "Impact of structure relaxation on the ultimate performance of a small diameter, n-type (110) Si-nanowire MOSFET," *IEEE Trans. Nanotechnol.*, vol. 6, pp. 225-229, Mar. 2007.
- [44] B. C. Paul, R. Tu, S. Fujita, M. Okajima, T. H. Lee, and Y. Nishi, "An analytical compact circuit model for nanowire FET," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 54, pp. 1637-1644, Jul. 2007.

- [45] S. C. Rustagi, N. Singh, Y. F. Lim, G. Zhang, S. Wang, G. Q. Lo, N. Balasubramanian, D.-L. Kwong, "Low-temperature transport characteristics and quantum-confinement effects in gate-all-around Si-nanowire N-MOSFET," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 28, pp. 909-912, Oct. 2007.
- [46] K. E. Moselund, P. Dobrosz, S. Olsen, V. Pott, L. De Michielis, D. Tsamados, D. Bouvet, A. O'Neill, A. M. Ionescu, "Bended gate-all-around nanowire MOSFET: a device with enhanced carrier mobility due to oxidation-induced tensile stress," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting Tech. Dig.*, pp. 191-194, Dec. 2007.
- [47] S. D. Suk, K. H. Yeo, K. H. Cho, M. Li, Y. Y. Yeoh, S.-Y. Lee, S. M. Kim, E. J. Yoon, M. S. Kim, C. W. Oh, S. H. Kim, D.-W. Kim, and D. Park, "High-performance twin silicon nanowire MOSFET (TSNWFET) on bulk Si wafer," *IEEE Trans. Nanotechnol.*, vol. 7, pp. 181-184, Mar. 2008.
- [48] B. Yang, K. D. Buddharaju, S. H. G. Teo, N. Singh, G. Q. Lo, and D. L. Kwong, "Vertical silicon-nanowire formation and gate-all-around MOSFET," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 29, pp. 791-794, Jul. 2008.
- [49] K. Majumdar, N. Bhat, P. Majhi, and R. Jammy, "Effects of parasitics and interface traps on ballistic nanowire FET in the ultimate quantum capacitance limit," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 57, pp. 2264-2273, Sep. 2010.
- [50] E. Gnani, A. Gnudi, S. Reggiani, and G. Baccarani, "Theory of the junctionless nanowire FET," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 58, pp. 2903-2910, Sep. 2011.
- [51] S. Barraud, M. Berthome, R. Coquand, M. Casse, T. Ernst, M.-P. Samson, P. Perreau, K. K. Bourdelle, O. Faynot, and T. Poiroux, "Scaling of trigate junctionless nanowire MOSFET with gate length down to 13 nm," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 33, pp. 1225-1227, Sep. 2012.
- [52] K. Ota, M. Saitoh, C. Tanaka, and T. Numata, "Threshold voltage control by substrate bias in 10-nm-diameter tri-gate nanowire MOSFET on ultrathin BOX," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 34, pp. 187-189, Feb. 2013.
- [53] S. Barraud, R. Coquand, J.-M. Hartmann, V. Maffini-Alvaro, M.-P. Samson, L. Tosti, and F. Allain, "Enhanced performance of P-FET omega-gate SoI nanowire with recessed-SiGe source-drain down to 13-nm gate length," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 34, pp. 1103-1105, Sep. 2013.
- [54] B. R. Bennett, R. Magno, J. B. Boos, W. Kruppa, and M. G. Ancona, "Antimonide-based compound semiconductors for electronic devices: A review," *Solid-State Electron.*, vol. 49, pp. 1875-1895, Dec. 2005.
- [55] Y. Xuan, T. Shen, M. Xu, Y. Q. Wu, and P. D. Ye, "High performance surface channel In-rich In_{0.75}Ga_{0.25}As MOSFETs with ALD high-k as gate dielectric," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting – Tech. Dig.*, pp. 371-374, Dec. 2008.
- [56] I. Thayne, X. Li, W. Jansen, O. Ignatova, S. Bentley, H. Zhou, D. Macintyre,S. Thorns, and R. Hill, "Development of III-V MOSFET process modules

compatible with silicon ULSI manufacture," *ECS Trans.*, vol. 25, pp. 385-395, 2009.

- [57] M. Radosavljevic, B. Chu-Kung, S. Corcoran, G. Dewey, M. K. Hudait, J. M. Fastenau, J. Kavalieros, W. K. Liu, D. Lubyshev, M. Metz, K. Millard, N. Mukherjee, W. Rachmady, U. Shah, and R. Chau, "Advanced high-K gate dielectric for high-performance short-channel In_{0.7}Ga_{0.3}As quantum well field effect transistors on silicon substrate for low power logic applications," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting Tech. Dig.*, pp. 319-322, Dec. 2009.
- [58] Y. Q. Wu, R. S. Wang, T. Shen, J. J. Gu, and P. D. Ye, "First experimental demonstration of 100 nm inversion-mode InGaAs FinFET through damagefree sidewall etching," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting – Tech. Dig.*, pp. 331-334, Dec. 2009.
- [59] M. Radosavljevic, G. Dewey, D. Basu, J. Boardman, B. Chu-Kung, J. M. Fastenau, S. Kabehie, J. Kavalieros, V. Le, W. K. Liu, D. Lubyshev, M. Metz, K. Millard, N. Mukherjee, L. Pan, R. Pillarisetty, W. Rachmady, U. Shah, H. W. Then, and Robert Chau, "Electrostatics improvement in 3-D trigate over ultra-thin body planar InGaAs, quantum well field effect transistors with high-K gate dielectric and scaled gate-to-drain/gate-to-source separation," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting Tech. Dig.*, pp. 765-768, Dec. 2011.
- [60] J. Hu, K. C. Saraswat, and H.-S. P. Wong, "Metal/III-V Schottky barrier height tuning for the design of nonalloyed III-V field-effect transistor source/drain contacts," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 107, 063712, Mar. 2010.
- [61] M. Passlack, G. Doornbos, C. Wann, and Y. C. Sun, "Classification and benchmarking of III-V MOSFETs for CMOS," *IEEE Symp. VLSI Technol. – Dig. Tech. Papers*, pp. 155-156, Jun. 2010.
- [62] T. D. Lin, H. C. Chiu, P. Chang, Y. H. Chang, Y. D. Wu, M. Hong, and J. Kwo, "Self-aligned inversion-channel In_{0.75}Ga_{0.25}As metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect-transistors using UHV-Al₂O₃/Ga₂O₃(Gd₂O₃) and ALD-Al₂O₃ as gate dielectrics," *Solid-State Electron.*, vol. 54, pp. 919-924, Sep. 2010.
- [63] R. J. W. Hill, C. Park, J. Barnett, J. Price, J. Huang, N. Goel, W. Y. Loh, J. Oh, C. E. Smith, P. Kirsch, P. Majhi, and R. Jammy, "Self-aligned III-V MOSFETs heterointegrated on a 200 mm Si substrate using an industry standard process flow," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting Tech. Dig.*, pp. 130-133, Dec. 2010.
- [64] W. C. Kao, A. Ali, E. Hwang, S. Mookerjea, and S. Datta, "Effect of interface states on sub-threshold response of III-V MOSFETs, MOS HEMTs and tunnel FETs," *Solid-State Electron.*, vol. 54, pp. 1665-1668, Dec. 2010.
- [65] M. Reason, B. R. Bennett, R. Magno, and J. B. Boos, "Molecular beam epitaxial regrowth of antimonide-based semiconductors," *J. Elect. Mat.*, vol. 40, pp. 6-10, Jan. 2011.
- [66] J. H. Yum, T. Akyol, M. Lei, T. Hudnall, G. Bersuker, M. Downer, C. W. Bielawski, J. C. Lee, and S. K. Banerjee, "Atomic layer deposited beryllium oxide: Effective passivation layer for III-V metal/oxide/semiconductor devices," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 109, 064101, Mar. 2011.
- [67] C. L. Hinkle, B. Brennan, S. McDonnell, M. Milojevic, A. M. Sonnet, D. M. Zhernokletov, R. V. Galatage, E. M. Vogel, and R. M. Wallace, "High-k oxide growth on III-V surfaces: Chemical bonding and MOSFET performance," *ECS Trans.*, vol. 35, pp. 403-413, 2011.
- [68] J. A. del Alamo, "Nanometre-scale electronics with III-V compound semiconductors," *Nature*, vol. 479, pp. 317-323, Nov. 2011.
- [69] S. H. Kim, M. Yokoyama, N. Taoka, R. Nakane, T. Yasuda, O. Ichikawa, N. Fukuhara, M. Hata, M. Takenaka, and S. Takagi, "Enhancement technologies and physical understanding of electron mobility in III-V n-MOSFETs with strain and MOS interface buffer engineering," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting Tech. Dig.*, pp. 311-314, Dec. 2011.
- [70] J. J. Gu, Y. Q. Liu, Y. Q. Wu, R. Colby, R. G. Gordon, and P. D. Ye, "First experimental demonstration of gate-all-around III-V MOSFETs by top-down approach," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting – Tech. Dig.*, pp. 769-772, Dec. 2011.
- J. J. Gu, X. W. Wang, J. Shao, A. T. Neal, M. J. Manfra, R. G. Gordon, and P. D. Ye, "III-V gate-all-around nanowire MOSFET process technology: From 3D to 4D," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting – Tech. Dig.*, pp. 529-532, Dec. 2012.
- [72] J. J. Gu, X. W. Wang, H. Wu, J. Shao, A. T. Neal, M. J. Manfra, R. G. Gordon, and P. D. Ye, "20-80nm channel length InGaAs gate-all-around nanowire MOSFETs with EOT=1.2nm and lowest SS=63mV/dec," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting Tech. Dig.*, pp. 633-636, Dec. 2012.
- [73] X. Zhao, J. Lin, C. Heidelberger, E. A. Fitzgerald, and J. A. del Alamo,
 "Vertical nanowire InGaAs MOSFETs fabricated by a top-down approach," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting – Tech. Dig.*, pp. 695-698, Dec. 2013.
- [74] D. K. Mohata, R. Bijesh, S. Mujumdar, C. Eaton, R. Engel-Herbert, T. Mayer, V. Narayanan, J. M. Fastenau, D. Loubychev, A. K. Liu, and S. Datta, "Demonstration of MOSFET-like on-current performance in arsenide/antimonide tunnel FETs with staggered hetero-junctions for 300mV logic applications," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting Tech. Dig.*, pp. 781-784, Dec. 2011.
- [75] G. Dewey, B. Chu-Kung, R. Kotlyar, M. Metz, N. Mukherjee, and M. Radosavljevic, "III-V field effect transistors for future ultra-low power applications," *IEEE Symp. VLSI Technol. Dig. Tech. Papers*, pp. 45-46, Jun. 2012.
- [76] L. Sanghoon, J. J. M. Law, A. D. Carter, B. J. Thibeault, W. Mitchell, V. Chobpattana, S. Kramer, S. Stemmer, A. C. Gossard, and M. J. W. Rodwell,

"Substitutional-gate MOSFETs with composite $(In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As/InAs/In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As)$ channels and self-aligned MBE sourcedrain regrowth," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 33, pp. 1553-1555, Nov. 2012.

- [77] K.-T. Lam, Y.-C. Yeo, and G. Liang, "Performance comparison of III-V MOSFETs with source filter for electron energy," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting – Tech. Dig.*, pp. 415-418, Dec. 2012.
- [78] Z. Yuan, A. Kumar, C.-Y. Chen, A. Nainani, B. R. Bennett, J. B. Boos, and K. C. Saraswat, "Antimonide-based heterostructure p-channel MOSFETs with Ni-alloy source/drain," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 34, pp. 1367-1369, Nov. 2013.
- [79] J. Lin, X. Zhao, T. Yu, D. A. Antoniadis, and J. A. del Alamo, "A new selfaligned quantum-well MOSFET architecture fabricated by a scalable tightpitch process," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting – Tech. Dig.*, pp. 421-424, Dec. 2013.
- [80] J. A. del Alamo, D. Antoniadis, A. Guo, D.-H. Kim, T.-W. Kim, J. Lin, W. Lu, A. Vardi, and X. Zhao, "InGaAs MOSFETs for CMOS: Recent advances in process technology," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting Tech. Dig.*, pp. 24-27, Dec. 2013.
- [81] W. E. Spicer, I. Lindau, P. Skeath, and C. Y. Su, "Unified defect model and beyond," J. Vac. Sci. Technol., vol. 17, pp. 1019-1027, 1980.
- [82] M. Scarrozza, G. Pourtois, M. Houssa, M. Caymax, A. Stesmans, M. Meuris, and M. M. Heyns, "A theoretical study of the initial oxidation of the GaAs(001)-β2(2x4) surface," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 95, no. 25, 253504, Dec. 2009.
- [83] W. Wang, K. Xiong, R. M. Wallace, and K. Cho, "Impact of interfacial oxygen content on bonding, stability, band offsets, and interface states of GaAs:HfO₂ interfaces," *J. Phys. Chem. C*, vol. 114, pp. 22610-22618, Dec. 2010.
- [84] L. Lin, and J. Robertson, "Defect states at III-V semiconductor oxide interfaces," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 98, no. 8, 082903, Feb. 2011.
- [85] F. Capasso and G. F. Williams, "A proposed hydrogenation/nitridization passivation mechanism for GaAs and other III-V semiconductor devices, including InGaAs long wavelength photodetectors," *J. Electrochem. Soc.*, vol. 129, pp. 821-824, Apr. 1982.
- [86] A. Kapila and V. Malhotra, "Surface passivation of III-V compound semiconductors", Proc. Conf. Optoelect. Microelect. Mat. Devices, pp. 275-282, 1996.
- [87] H.-C. Chin, M. Zhu, G. S. Samudra, and Y.-C. Yeo, "N-channel MOSFETs with in-situ silane-passivated gallium arsenide channel and CMOScompatible palladium-germanium contacts," *Extended Abstracts of the 2007 Int. Conf. Solid State Devices and Materials*, pp. 1050-1051, Sep. 2007.

- [88] M. Zhu, H.-C. Chin, C.-H. Tung, and Y.-C. Yeo, "In situ silane passivation of gallium arsenide and deposition of high-permittivity gate dielectric for MOS applications," J. Electrochem. Soc., vol. 154, pp. H879-H882, Oct. 2007.
- [89] H.-C. Chin, M. Zhu, G. S. Samudra, and Y.-C. Yeo, "N-channel GaAs MOSFET with TaN/HfAlO gate stack formed using in situ vacuum anneal and silane passivation," *J. Electrochemical Society*, vol. 155, pp. H464-H468, 2008.
- [90] H.-C. Chin, M. Zhu, X. Liu, H.-K. Lee, L. Shi, L.-S. Tan, and Y.-C. Yeo, "In situ surface passivation and CMOS-compatible palladium-germanium contacts for surface-channel gallium arsenide MOSFETs," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 29, pp. 553-556, Jun. 2008.
- [91] H.-C. Chin, B. Wang, P.-C. Lim, L.-J. Tang, C.-H. Tung, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Realizing high quality metal-gate/high-permittivity dielectric stack on indium gallium arsenide by vacuum annealing and silane treatment," 2008 Int. Conf. Solid-State Devices and Materials, pp. 1058-1059, Sep. 2008.
- [92] H.-C. Chin, B. Wang, P.-C. Lim, L.-J. Tang, C.-H. Tung, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Study of surface passivation of strained indium gallium arsenide by vacuum annealing and silane treatment," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 104, 093527, Nov. 2008.
- [93] H.-C. Chin, M. Zhu, Z.-C. Lee, X. Liu, K.-M. Tan, H.K. Lee, L. Shi, L.-J. Tang, C.-H. Tung, G.-Q. Lo, L.-S. Tan, and Y.-C. Yeo, "A new silane-ammonia surface passivation technology for realizing inversion-type surface-channel GaAs N-MOSFET with 160 nm gate length and high-quality metal-gate/high-k dielectric stack," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting Tech. Dig.*, pp. 383-386, Dec. 2008.
- [94] H.-C. Chin, M. Zhu, X. Liu, H.-K. Lee, L. Shi, L.-S. Tan, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Silane-ammonia surface passivation for gallium arsenide surface-channel n-MOSFETs," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 30, pp. 110-112, Feb. 2009.
- [95] H.-C. Chin, X. Liu, X. Gong, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Silane and ammonia surface passivation technology for high mobility In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As MOSFETs," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 57, pp. 973-979, May 2010.
- [96] X. Gong, S. Su, B. Liu, L. Wang, W. Wang, Y. Yang, E. Kong, B. Cheng, G. Han, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Towards high performance Ge_{1-x}Sn_x and In_{0.7}Ga_{0.3}As CMOS: A novel common gate stack featuring sub-400 °C Si₂H₆ passivation, single TaN metal gate, and sub-1.3 nm EOT," *IEEE Symp. VLSI Technol. Dig. Tech. Papers*, pp. 99-100, Jun. 2012.
- [97] X. Gong, G. Han, B. Liu, L. Wang, W. Wang, Y. Yang, E. Y.-J. Kong, S. Su, B. Cheng, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Sub-400 °C Si₂H₆ passivation, HfO₂ gate dielectric, and single TaN metal gate: A common gate stack technology for In_{0.7}Ga_{0.3}As and Ge_{1-x}Sn_x CMOS," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 60, pp. 1640-1648, May 2013.

- [98] H. Hasegawa and M. Akazawa, "Interface models and processing technologies for surface passivation and interface control in III-V semiconductor nanoelectronics," *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, vol. 254, pp. 8005-8015, Oct. 2008.
- [99] H. Hasegawa and M. Akazawa, "Surface passivation technology for III-V semiconductor nanoelectronics," *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, vol. 255, pp. 628-632, Nov. 2008.
- [100] H.-C. Lin, W.-E. Wang, G. Brammertz, M. Meuris, and M. Heyns, "Electrical study of sulfur passivated In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As MOS capacitor and transistor with ALD Al₂O₃ as gate insulator," *Microelect. Eng.*, vol. 86, pp. 1554-1557, Jul. 2009.
- [101] Y. Q. Wu, M. Xu, R.S. Wang, O. Koybasi, and P. D. Ye, "High-performance deep-submicron inversion-mode InGaAs MOSFETs with maximum G_m exceeding 1.1 mS/μm: New HBr pretreatment and channel engineering," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting – Tech. Dig.*, pp. 323-326, Dec. 2009.
- [102] Y.-T. Chen, H. Zhao, Y. Wang, F. Xue, F. Zhou, and J. C. Lee, "Fluorinated HfO₂ gate dielectric engineering on In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As metal-oxidesemiconductor field-effect-transistors," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 96, no. 10, 103506, Mar. 2010.
- [103] Y. D. Wu, T. D. Lin, T. H. Chiang, Y. C. Chang, H. C. Chiu, Y. J. Lee, M. Hong, C. A. Lin, and J. Kwo, "Engineering of threshold voltages in molecular beam epitaxy-grown Al₂O₃/Ga₂O₃(Gd₂O₃)/In_{0.2}Ga_{0.8}As," *J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B*, vol. 28, pp. C3H10–C3H13, May 2010.
- [104] H. D. Trinh, E. Y. Chang, P. W. Wu, Y. Y. Wong, C. T. Chang, Y. F. Hsieh, C. C. Yu, H. Q. Nguyen, Y. C. Lin, K. L. Lin, and M. K. Hudait, "The influences of surface treatment and gas annealing conditions on the inversion behaviors of the atomic-layer-deposition Al₂O₃/n-In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As metal-oxidesemiconductor capacitor," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 97, no. 4, 042903, Jul. 2010.
- [105] C.-W. Cheng, G. Apostolopoulos, and E. A. Fitzgerald, "The effect of interface processing on the distribution of interfacial defect states and the C– V characteristics of III–V metal-oxide-semiconductor field effect transistors," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 109, 023714, Jan. 2011.
- [106] E. O'Connor, B. Brennan, V. Djara, K. Cherkaoui, S. Monaghan, S. B. Newcomb, R. Contreras, M. Milojevic, G. Hughes, M. E. Pemble, R. M. Wallace, and P. K. Hurley, "A systematic study of (NH₄)₂S passivation (22%, 10%, 5%, or 1%) on the interface properties of the Al₂O₃/In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As/InP system for n-type and p-type In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As epitaxial layers," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 109, 024101, Jan. 2011.
- [107] X. Gong, Ivana, H.-C. Chin, Z. Zhu, Y.-R. Lin, C.-H. Ko, C.H. Wann, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Self-aligned gate-first In_{0.7}Ga_{0.3}As n-MOSFETs with an InP capping layer for performance enhancement," *Electrochem. Solid-State Lett.*, vol. 14, pp. H117-H119, 2011.

- [108] R. Engel-Herbert, Y. Hwang, J. Cagnon, and S. Stemmer, "Metal-oxidesemiconductor capacitors with ZrO₂ dielectrics grown on In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As by chemical beam deposition," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 95, no. 6, 062908, Aug. 2009.
- [109] Y. Liu, M. Xu, J. Heo, P. D. Ye, and R. G. Gordon, "Heteroepitaxy of singlecrystal LaLuO₃ on GaAs(111)A by atomic layer deposition," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 97, no. 16, 162910, Oct. 2010.
- [110] J. Amano, K. Nauka, M. P. Scott, J. E. Turner, and R. Tsai, "Junction leakage in titanium self-aligned silicide devices," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 49, no. 12, pp. 737-739, Sep. 1986.
- [111] L. Van den Hove, R. Wolters, K. Maex, R. De Keersmaecker, and G. Declerck, "The use of CoSi₂ as compared to TiSi₂ for a self-aligned silicide technology," *IEEE Symp. VLSI Technol. Dig. Tech. Papers*, pp. 67-68, 1987.
- [112] V. Q. Ho and D. Poulin, "Formation of self-aligned TiSi₂ for very large-scale integrated contacts and interconnects," *J. Vac. Sci. Technol. A*, vol. 5, pp. 1396-1401, 1987.
- [113] R. D. J. Verhaar, A. A. Bos, J. M. F. G. Van Laarhoven, H. Kraaij, and R. A. M. Wolters, "Self-aligned CoSi₂ and TiW(N) local interconnect in a sub-micron CMOS process," *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, vol. 38, pp. 458-466, 1989.
- [114] T. Morimoto, H. S. Momose, T. Iinuma, I. Kunishima, K. Suguro, H. Okana, I. Katakabe, H. Nakajima, M. Tsuchiaki, M. Ono, Y. Katsumata, and H. Iwai, "A NiSi salicide technology for advanced logic devices," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting Tech. Dig.*, pp. 653-656, Dec. 1991.
- [115] S.-L. Zhang and U. Smith, "Self-aligned silicides for ohmic contacts in complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor technology: TiSi₂, CoSi₂ and NiSi," *J. Vac. Sci. Technol. A*, vol. 22, pp. 1361-1370, 2004.
- [116] B. Rong, T. Zijlstra, Y. T. Tang, and A. G. R. Evans, "New salicidation technology PtSi for strained SiGe device," *Microelect. Eng.*, vol. 78-79, pp. 319-323, Mar. 2005.
- [117] X. Li, R. J. W. Hill, P. Longo, M. C. Holland, H. Zhou, S. Thoms, D. S. Macintyre, and I. G. Thayne, "Fully self-aligned process for fabricating 100 nm gate length enhancement mode GaAs metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors," *J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B*, vol. 27, pp. 3153-3157, Dec. 2009.
- [118] U. Singisetti, M. A. Wistey, G. J. Burek, A. K. Baraskar, B. J. Thibeault, A. C. Gossard, M. J. W. Rodwell, B. Shin, E. J. Kim, P. C. McIntyre, B. Yu, Y. Yuan, D. Wang, Y. Taur, P. Asbeck, and Y.-J. Lee, "In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As channel MOSFETs with self-aligned InAs source/drain formed by MEE regrowth," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 30, pp. 1128-1130, 2009.
- [119] H. Guo, X. Zhang X, H.-C. Chin, X. Gong, S.-M. Koh, C. Zhan, G.-L. Luo, C.-Y. Chang, H.-Y. Lin, C.-H. Chien, Z.-Y. Han, S.-C. Huang, C.-C. Cheng, C.-H. Ko, C. H. Wann, and Y.-C. Yeo, "A new self-aligned contact

technology for III-V MOSFETs," Proc. 2010 Int. Symp. VLSI Technol., Syst. and Appl., pp. 152-153, Apr. 2010.

- [120] X. Zhang, H. Guo, C.-H. Ko, C. H. Wann, C.-C. Cheng, H.-Y. Lin, H.-C. Chin, X. Gong, P. S. Y. Lim, G.-L. Luo, C.-Y. Chang, C.-H. Chien, Z.-Y. Han, S.-C. Huang, and Y.-C. Yeo, "III-V MOSFETs with a new self-aligned contact," *IEEE Symp. VLSI Technol. Dig. Tech. Papers*, pp. 233-234, Jun. 2010.
- [121] X. Zhang, H. Guo, H.-Y. Lin, C.-C. Cheng, C.-H. Ko, C. H. Wann, G.-L. Luo, C.-Y. Chang, C.-H. Chien, Z.-Y. Han, S.-C. Huang, H.-C. Chin, X. Gong, S.-M. Koh, P. S. Y. Lim, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Self-aligned contact metallization technology for III-V metal-oxide-semiconductor field effect transistors," *J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B*, vol. 29, 032209, May 2011.
- [122] S. H. Kim, M. Yokoyama, N. Taoka, R. Iida, S. Lee, R. Nakane, Y. Urabe, N. Miyata, T. Yasuda, H. Yamada, N. Fukuhara, M. Hata, M. Takenaka, and S. Takagi, "Self-aligned metal source/drain In_xGa_{1-x}As n-MOSFETs using Ni-InGaAs alloy," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting Tech. Dig.*, pp. 596-599, Dec. 2010.
- [123] X. Zhang, H. Guo, X. Gong, Q. Zhou, Y.-R. Lin, H.-Y. Lin, C.-H. Ko, C. H. Wann, and Y.-C. Yeo, "In_{0.7}Ga_{0.3}As channel n-MOSFET with self-aligned Ni-InGaAs source and drain," *Electrochem. Solid-State Lett.*, vol. 14, pp. H60-H62, 2011.
- S. H. Kim, M. Yokoyama, N. Taoka, R. Iida, S. Lee, R. Nakane, Y. Urabe, N. Miyata, T. Yasuda, H. Yamada, N. Fukuhara, M. Hata, M. Takenaka, and S. Takagi, "Self-aligned metal source/drain In_xGa_{1-x}As n-metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors using Ni-InGaAs alloy," *Appl. Phys. Exp.*, vol. 4, p. 024201, Feb. 2011.
- [125] X. Zhang, H. Guo, H.-Y. Lin, Ivana, X. Gong, Q. Zhou, Y.-R. Lin, C.-H. Ko, C. H. Wann, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Reduction of off-state leakage current in In_{0.7}Ga_{0.3}As channel n-MOSFETs with self-aligned Ni-InGaAs contact metallization," *Electrochem. Solid-State Lett.*, vol. 14, pp. H212-H214, 2011.
- [126] X. Zhang, H. Guo, X. Gong, Q. Zhou, H.-Y. Lin, Y.-R. Lin, C.-H. Ko, C. H. Wann, and Y.-C. Yeo, "In_{0.7}Ga_{0.3}As channel n-MOSFETs with a novel self-aligned Ni-InGaAs contact formed using a salicide-like metallization process," *Proc. 2011 Int. Symp. VLSI Technol., Syst. and Appl.*, pp. 26-27, Apr. 2011.
- [127] M. Yokoyama, S. H. Kim, R. Zhang, N. Taoka, Y. Urabe, T. Maeda, H. Takagi, T. Yasuda, H. Yamada, O. Ichikawa, N. Fukuhara, M. Hata, M. Sugiyama, Y. Nakano, M. Takenaka, and S. Takagi, "CMOS integration of InGaAs nMOSFETs and Ge pMOSFETs with self-align Ni-based metal S/D using direct wafer bonding," *IEEE Symp. VLSI Technol. Dig. Tech. Papers*, pp. 60-61, Jun. 2011.

- [128] S. H. Kim, M. Yokoyama, N. Taoka, R. Iida, S. Lee, R. Nakane, Y. Urabe, N. Miyata, T. Yasuda, H. Yamada, N. Fukuhara, M. Hata, M. Takenaka, and S. Takagi, "High performance extremely-thin body III-V-on-insulator MOSFETs on a Si substrate with Ni-InGaAs metal S/D and MOS interface buffer engineering," *IEEE Symp. VLSI Technol. Dig. Tech. Papers*, pp. 58-59, Jun. 2011.
- [129] Ivana, J. Pan, Z. Zhang, X. Zhang, H. Guo, X. Gong, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Photoelectron spectroscopy study of band alignment at interface between Ni-InGaAs and In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 99, no. 1, 012105, Jul. 2011.
- [130] S. H. Kim, M. Yokoyama, N. Taoka, R. Iida, S. Lee, R. Nakane, Y. Urabe, N. Miyata, T. Yasuda, H. Yamada, N. Fukuhara, M. Hata, M. Takenaka, and S. Takagi, "High performance extremely thin body InGaAs-on-insulator metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors on Si substrates with Ni-InGaAs metal source/drain," *Appl. Phys. Exp.*, vol. 4, 114201, Nov. 2011.
- [131] S. Subramanian, Ivana, Q. Zhou, X. Zhang, M. Balakrishnan, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Etch rates of Ni-InGaAs in acids, and selective removal of Ni over Ni-InGaAs for self-aligned contact formation on InGaAs," *J. Electrochemical Society*, vol. 159, no. 1, pp. H16 - H21, Jan 2012.
- [132] Z. Zhu, X. Gong, Ivana, and Y.-C. Yeo, "In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As n-channel metaloxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors with shallow metallic source and drain extensions and offset n⁺ doped regions for leakage suppression," *Jap. J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 51, 02BF03, Feb. 2012.
- [133] X. Zhang, Ivana, H. X. Guo, X. Gong, Q. Zhou, and Y.-C. Yeo, "A selfaligned Ni-InGaAs contact technology for InGaAs channel n-MOSFETs," J. *Electrochem. Soc.*, vol. 159, pp. H511-H515, 2012.
- [134] S. Subramanian, Ivana, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Embedded metal source/drain (eMSD) for series resistance reduction in In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As n-channel ultra-thin body field-effect transistor (UTB-FET)," *Proc. 2012 Int. Symp. VLSI Technol., Syst. and Appl.*, pp. 25-26, Apr. 2012.
- [135] S. H. Kim, M. Yokoyama, N. Taoka, R. Nakane, T. Yasuda, O. Ichikawa, N. Fukuhara, M. Hata, M. Takenaka, and S. Takagi, "Sub-60 nm deeply-scaled channel length extremely-thin body In_xGa_{1-x}As-on-insulator MOSFETs on Si with Ni-InGaAs metal S/D and MOS interface buffer engineering," *IEEE Symp. VLSI Technol. Dig. Tech. Papers*, pp. 177-178, Jun. 2012.
- [136] X. Zhang, H. X. Guo, X. Gong, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Multiple-gate In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As channel n-MOSFETs with self-aligned Ni-InGaAs contacts," *ECS J. Solid State Sci. Technol.*, vol. 1, pp. P82-P85, Jul. 2012.
- [137] L. Czornomaz, M. El Kazzi, M. Hopstaken, D. Caimi, P. MäcHler, C. Rossel, M. Bjoerk, C. Marchiori, H. Siegwart, and J. Fompeyrine, "CMOS compatible self-aligned S/D regions for implant-free InGaAs MOSFETs," *Solid-State Electron.*, vol. 74, pp. 71-76, Aug. 2012.

- [138] M. Yokoyama, S. Kim, R. Zhang, N. Taoka, Y. Urabe, T. Maeda, H. Takagi, T. Yasuda, H. Yamada, O. Ichikawa, N. Fukuhara, M. Hata, M. Sugiyama, Y. Nakano, M. Takenaka, and S. Takagi, "III-V/Ge high mobility channel integration of InGaAs n-channel and Ge p-channel metal-oxidesemiconductor field-effect transistors with self-aligned Ni-based metal source/drain using direct wafer bonding," *Appl. Phys. Exp.*, vol. 5, 076501, Jul. 2012.
- [139] S. Mehari, A. Gavrilov, S. Cohen, P. Shekhter, M. Eizenberg, and D. Ritter, "Measurement of the Schottky barrier height between Ni-InGaAs alloy and In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 101, no. 7, 072103, Aug. 2012.
- [140] Ivana, Y. L. Foo, X. Zhang, Q. Zhou, J. Pan, E. Kong, M. H. S. Owen, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Crystal structure and epitaxial relationship of Ni₄InGaAs₂ films formed on InGaAs by annealing," *J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B*, vol. 31, 012202, Jan. 2013.
- [141] R. T. P. Lee, R. J. W. Hill, W.-Y. Loh, R.-H. Baek, S. Deora, K. Matthews, C. Huffman, K. Majumdar, T. Michalak, C. Borst, P. Y. Hung, C.-H. Chen, J.-H. Yum, T.-W. Kim, C. Y. Kang, W.-E Wang, D.-H. Kim, C. Hobbs, and P. D. Kirsch, "VLSI Processed InGaAs on Si MOSFETs with Thermally Stable, Self-Aligned Ni-InGaAs Contacts Achieving: Enhanced Drive Current and Pathway Towards a Unified Contact Module," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting Tech. Dig.*, pp. 44-47, Dec. 2013.
- [142] S. H. Kim, M. Yokoyama, N. Taoka, R. Iida, S. Lee, R. Nakane, Y. Urabe, N. Miyata, T. Yasuda, H. Yamada, N. Fukuhara, M. Hata, M. Takenaka, and S. Takagi, "Self-aligned metal source/drain InP n-metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors using Ni-InP metallic alloy," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 98, no. 24, 243501, Jun. 2011.
- [143] R. Oxland, S. W. Chang, X. Li, S. W. Wang, G. Radhakrishnan, W. Priyantha, M. J. H. van Dal, C. H. Hsieh, G. Vellianitis, G. Doornbos, K. Bhuwalka, B. Duriez, I. Thayne, R. Droopad, M. Passlack, C. H. Diaz, and Y. C. Sun, "An ultralow-resistance ultrashallow metallic source/drain contact scheme for III-V NMOS," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 33, pp. 501-503, Apr. 2012.
- [144] U. Singisetti, M. A. Wistey, J. D. Zimmerman, B. J. Thibeault, M. J. W. Rodwell, A. C. Gossard, and S. R. Bank, "Ultralow resistance in situ Ohmic contacts to InGaAs/InP," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 93, no. 18, 183502, Nov. 2008.
- [145] A. K. Baraskar, M. A. Wistey, V. Jain, U. Singisetti, G. Burek, B. J. Thibeault, Y. J. Lee, A. C. Gossard, and M. J. W. Rodwell, "Ultralow resistance, nonalloyed Ohmic contacts to n-InGaAs," *J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B*, vol. 27, pp. 2036-2039, Jul. 2009.
- [146] A. Guo and J. A. del Alamo, "Mo/n⁺-InGaAs nanocontacts for future III-V MOSFETs," *25th Int. Conf. Indium Phosphide and Related Mat.*, May 2013.

- [147] T. Fujii, T. Inata, K. Ishii, and S. Hiyamizu, "Heavily Si-doped InGaAs lattice-matched to InP grown by MBE," *Electron. Lett.*, vol. 22, pp. 191-192, Feb. 1986.
- [148] A. Al-Bayati, S. Tandon, A. Mayur, M. Foad, D. Wagner, R. Murto, D. Sing, C. Ferguson, and L. Larson, "Exploring the limits of pre-amorphization implants on controlling channeling and diffusion of low energy B implants and ultra shallow junction formation," *Proc. 13th Int. Conf. Ion Implantation Technol.*, pp. 54-57, Sep. 2000.
- [149] S. G. Tavakoli, S. Baek, and H. S. Hwang, "Effect of germanium preamorphization on solid-phase epitaxial regrowth of antimony and arsenic ion-implanted silicon," *Mat. Sci. Eng. B*, vol. 114, pp. 376-380, Dec. 2004.
- [150] S. B. Felch, H. Graoui, G. Tsai, and A. Mayur, "Optimization of preamorphization and dopant implant conditions for advanced annealing," *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res.*, vol. B237, pp. 35-40, Aug. 2005.
- [151] M. K. Hudait, G. Dewey, S. Datta, J. M. Fastenau, J. Kavalieros, W. K. Liu, D. Lubyshev, R. Pillarisetty, W. Rachmady, M. Radosavljevic, T. Rakshit, and R. Chau, "Heterogeneous integration of enhancement mode $In_{0.7}Ga_{0.3}As$ quantum well transistor on silicon substrate using thin ($\leq 2 \mu m$) composite buffer architecture for high-speed and low-voltage (0.5 V) logic applications," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting Tech. Dig.*, pp. 625-628, Dec. 2007.
- [152] C. W. Tang, H. Li, Z. Zhong, K. L. Ng, and K. M. Lau, "Hetero-epitaxy of III–V compounds lattice-matched to InP by MOCVD for device applications," *IEEE Int. Conf. Indium Phosphide Relat. Mat.*, pp. 136-139, May 2009.
- [153] M. Yokoyama, R. Iida, S. H. Kim, N. Taoka, Y. Urabe, T. Yasuda, H. Takagi, H. Yamada, N. Fukuhara, M. Hata, M. Sugiyama, Y. Nakano, M. Takenaka, and S. Takagi, "Extremely-thin-body InGaAs-on-insulator MOSFETs on Si fabricated by direct wafer bonding," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting Tech. Dig.*, pp. 46-49, Dec. 2010.
- [154] H. Ko, K. Takei, R. Kapadia, S. Chuang, H. Fang, P. W. Leu, K. Ganapathi, E. Plis, H. S. Kim, S.-Y. Chen, M. Madsen, A. C. Ford, Y.-L. Chueh, S. Krishna, S. Salahuddin, and A. Javey, "Ultrathin compound semiconductor on insulator layers for high-performance nanoscale transistors," *Nature*, vol. 468, pp. 286-289, Nov. 2010.
- [155] H. Fang, M. Madsen, C. Carraro, K. Takei, H. S. Kim, E. Plis, S.-Y. Chen, S. Krishna, Y.-L. Chueh, R. Maboudian, and A. Javey, "Strain engineering of epitaxially transferred, ultrathin layers of III–V semiconductor on insulator," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 98, no. 1, 012111, Jan. 2011.
- [156] Y. Q. Wu, M. Xu, P. D. Ye, Z. Cheng, J. Li, J.-S. Park, J. Hydrick, J. Bai, M. Carroll, J. G. Fiorenza, and A. Lochtefeld, "Atomic-layer-deposited Al₂O₃/GaAs metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistor on Si substrate using aspect ratio trapping technique," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 93, no. 24, 242106, Dec. 2008.

- [157] J. Z. Li, J. Bai, J.-S. Park, B. Adekore, K. Fox, M. Carroll, A. Lochtefeld, and Z. Shellenbarger, "Defect reduction of GaAs epitaxy on Si (001) using selective aspect ratio trapping," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 91, no. 2, 021114, Jul. 2007.
- [158] J. Z. Li, J. Bai, C. Major, M. Carroll, A. Lochtefeld, and Z. Shellenbarger, "Defect reduction of GaAs/Si epitaxy by aspect ratio trapping," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 103, 106102, May 2008.
- [159] J. G. Fiorenza, J.-S. Park, J. Hydrick, J. Li, J. Li, M. Curtin, M. Carroll, and A. Lochtefeld, "Aspect ratio trapping: a unique technology for integrating Ge and III–Vs with silicon CMOS," *ECS Trans.*, vol. 33, pp. 963-976, Oct. 2010.
- [160] N. Waldron, G. Wang, N. D. Nguyen, T. Orzali, C. Merckling, G. Brammertz, P. Ong, G. Winderickx, G. Hellings, G. Eneman, M. Caymax, M. Meuris, N. Horiguchi, and A. Thean, "Integration of InGaAs channel n-MOS devices on 200mm Si wafers using the aspect-ratio-trapping technique," *ECS Trans.*, vol. 45, pp. 115-128, May 2012.
- [161] C. Merckling, N. Waldron, S. Jiang, W. Guo, O. Richard, B. Douhard, A. Moussa, D. Vanhaeren, H. Bender, N. Collaert, M. Heyns, A. Thean, M. Caymax, and W. Vandervorst, "Selective area growth of InP in shallow trench isolation on large scale Si(001) wafer using defect confinement technique," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 114, 033708, Jul. 2013.
- [162] E. D. Marshall, S. Zhang, L. C. Wang, P. F. Jiao, W. X. Chen, T. Sawada, S. S. Lau, K. L. Kavanagh, and T. F. Kuech, "Nonalloyed ohmic contacts to n-GaAs by solid-phase epitaxy of Ge," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 62, pp. 942-947, 1987.
- [163] L. C. Wang, S. S. Lau, E. K. Hsieh, and J. R. Velebir, "Low-resistance nonspiking ohmic contact for AlGaAs/GaAs high electron mobility transistors using the Ge/Pd scheme," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 54, no. 26, pp. 2677-2679, Jun. 1989.
- [164] L. S. Yu, L. C. Wang, E. D. Marshall, S. S. Lau, and T. F. Kuech, "The temperature dependence of contact resistivity of the Ge/Pd and the Si/Pd nonalloyed contact scheme on n-GaAs," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 65, pp. 1621-1625, 1989.
- [165] C. J. Palmstrøm, S. A. Schwarz, E. Yablonovitch, J. P. Harbison, C. L. Schwartz, L. T. Florez, T. J. Gmitter, E. D. Marshall, and S. S. Lau, "Ge redistribution in solid-phase Ge/Pd/GaAs ohmic contact formation," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 67, pp. 334-339, 1990.
- [166] J.-T. Lai and J. Y.-M. Lee, "Pd/Ge ohmic contacts to n-type GaAs formed by rapid thermal annealing," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 64, no. 2, pp. 229-231, Jan. 1994.
- [167] J.-T. Lai and J. Y.-M. Lee, "Redistribution of constituent elements in Pd/Ge contacts to n-type GaAs using rapid thermal annealing," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 76, pp. 1686-1690, 1994.

- [168] Y. G. Wang, D. Wang, and D. G. Ivey, "Thermal stability of Pd/Ge-based ohmic contacts to n-type GaAs," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 84, pp. 1310-1315, 1998.
- [169] P. Macháč and V. Peřina, "Role of reactive metals in Ge/Pd/GaAs contact structures," *Microelect. Eng.*, vol. 65, pp. 335-343, 2003.
- [170] P. Macháč and V. Machovič, "Raman spectroscopy of Ge/Pd/GaAs contacts," *Microelect. Eng.*, vol. 71, pp. 177-181, 2004.
- [171] P. Macháč, Petr Sajdl, and V. Machovič, "Improvement of Ge/Pd/GaAs ohmic contact by In layer," *J. Mat. Sci.*, vol. 18, pp. 621-625, 2007.
- [172] D. K. Schroder, in: Semiconductor Material and Device Characterization, John Wiley & Sons, Inc. New Jersey, 2006, pp. 146-149.
- [173] A. Alian, G. Brammertz, N. Waldron, C. Merckling, G. Hellings, H. C. Lin, W. E. Wang, M. Meuris, E. Simoen, K. De Meyer, and M. Heyns, "Silicon and selenium implantation and activation in In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As under low thermal budget conditions," *Microelect. Eng.*, vol. 88, pp. 155-158, 2011.
- [174] H. B. Michaelson, "The work function of the elements and its periodicity," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 48, pp. 4729-4733, 1977.
- [175] H. H. Wieder, "Surface and interface barriers of In_xGa_{1-x}As binary and ternary alloys," *J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B*, vol. 21, pp. 1915-1919, 2003.
- [176] Ivana, E. Y.-J. Kong, S. Subramanian, Q. Zhou, J. Pan, and Y.-C. Yeo, "CoInGaAs as a novel self-aligned metallic source/drain material for implant-less In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As n-MOSFETs," *Solid-State Electron.*, vol. 78, pp. 62-67, 2012.
- [177] S. H. Kim, M. Yokoyama, N. Taoka, R. Nakane, T. Yasuda, O. Ichikawa, N. Fukuhara, M. Hata, M. Takenaka, and S. Takagi, "In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors with self-aligned metal source/drain using Co-InGaAs alloys," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 100, no. 7, 073504, Feb. 2012.
- [178] X. Gong, Z. Zhu, E. Kong, R. Cheng, S. Subramanian, K. H. Goh, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Ultra-thin-body In_{0.7}Ga_{0.3}As-on-nothing N-MOSFET with Pd-InGaAs S/D contacts enabled by a new self-aligned cavity formation technology," *Proc. 2012 Int. Symp. VLSI Technol., Syst. and Appl.*, Apr. 2012.
- [179] Y. Park, V. Choong, Y. Gao, B. R. Hsieh, and C. W. Tang, "Work function of indium tin oxide transparent conductor measured by photoelectron spectroscopy," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 68, no. 19, pp. 2699-2701, May 1996.
- [180] W. Song and M. Yoshitake, "A work function study of ultra-thin alumina formation on NiAl(110) surface," *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, vol. 251, pp. 14-18, 2005.
- [181] International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors (ITRS) 2012. [Online]. Available: http://www.itrs.net
- [182] C. Auth, C. Allen, A. Blattner, D. Bergstrom, M. Brazier, M. Bost, M. Buehler, V. Chikarmane, T. Ghani, T. Glassman, R. Grover, W. Han, D. Hanken, M. Hattendorf, P. Hentges, R. Heussner, J. Hicks, D. Ingerly, P.

Jain, S. Jaloviar, R. James, D. Jones, J. Jopling, S. Joshi, C. Kenyon, H. Liu, R. McFadden, B. McIntyre, J. Neirynck, C. Parker, L. Pipes, I. Post, S. Pradhan, M. Prince, S. Ramey, T. Reynolds, J. Roesler, J. Sandford, J. Seiple, P. Smith, C. Thomas, D. Towner, T. Troeger, C. Weber, P. Yashar, K. Zawadzki, and K. Mistry, "A 22nm high performance and low-power CMOS technology featuring fully-depleted tri-gate transistors, self-aligned contacts and high density MIM capacitors," *IEEE Symp. VLSI Technol. – Dig. Tech. Papers*, pp. 131-132, Jun. 2012.

- [183] D. B. M. Klaassen, "A unified mobility model for device simulation—I. model equations and concentration dependence," *Solid-State Electron.*, vol. 35, pp. 953-959, Jul. 1992.
- [184] C. Lombardi, S. Manzini, A. Saporito, and M. Vanzi, "A physically based mobility model for numerical simulation of nonplanar devices," *IEEE Trans. Computer-Aided Design*, vol. 7, pp. 1164-1171, Nov. 1988.
- [185] D. B. Scott, W. R. Hunter, and H. Shichijo, "A transmission line model for silicided diffusions: Impact on the performance of VLSI circuits," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. ED-29, pp. 651-661, Apr. 1982.
- [186] J. C. Ho, R. Yerushalmi, Z. A. Jacobson, Z. Fan, R. L. Alley, and A. Javey, "Controlled nanoscale doping of semiconductors via molecular monolayers," *Nature Materials*, vol. 7, pp. 62-67, Jan. 2008.
- [187] J. C. Ho, R. Yerushalmi, G. Smith, P. Majhi, J. Bennett, J. Halim, V. N. Faifer, and Ali Javey, "Wafer-Scale, Sub-5 nm Junction Formation by Monolayer Doping and Conventional Spike Annealing," *Nano Lett.*, vol. 9, pp. 725-730, Feb. 2009.
- [188] K.-W. Ang, J. Barnett, W.-Y. Loh, J. Huang, B.-G. Min, P. Y. Hung, I. Ok, J. H. Yum, G. Bersuker, M. Rodgers, V. Kaushik, S. Gausepohl, C. Hobbs, P. D. Kirsch, and R. Jammy, "300mm FinFET results utilizing conformal, damage free, ultra shallow junctions (X_j~5nm) formed with molecular monolayer doping technique," *IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting Tech. Dig.*, pp. 837-840, Dec. 2011.
- [189] S. K. Zhang, K. Sugioka, J. Fan, K. Toyoda, and S. C. Zou, "Studies on Excimer Laser Doping of GaAs Using Sulphur Adsorbate as Dopant Source," *Appl. Phys. A*, vol. 58, pp. 191-195, 1994.
- [190] J. C. Ho, A. C. Ford, Y.-L. Chueh, P. W. Leu, O. Ergen, K. Takei, G. Smith, P. Majhi, J. Bennett, and A. Javey, "Nanoscale doping of InAs via sulfur monolayers," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 95, no. 7, 072108, Aug. 2009.
- [191] K. Cho, D. J. Ruebusch, M. H. Lee, J. H. Moon, A. C. Ford, R. Kapadia, K. Takei, O. Ergen, and A. Javey, "Molecular monolayers for conformal, nanoscale doping of InP nanopillar photovoltaics," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 98, no. 20, 203101, May 2011.
- [192] J. H. Yum, H. S. Shin, R. Hill, J. Oh, H. D. Lee, R. M. Mushinski, T. W. Hudnall, C. W. Bielawski, S. K. Banerjee, W. Y. Loh, W.-E. Wang, and P.

Kirsch, "A study of capping layers for sulfur monolayer doping on III-V junctions," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 101, no. 25, 253514, Dec. 2012.

- [193] M. V. Rao, "Ion implantation in III-V compounds," Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., vol. B79, pp. 645-647, 1993.
- [194] C. Y. Ong, K. L. Pey, C. M. Ng, B. S. Ong, C. P. Wong, Z. X. Shen, Z. X. Xing, X. C. Wang, H. Y. Zheng, and L. Chan, "A comparative study on Si activation in GaAs between laser annealing and rapid thermal annealing," *Electrochemical and Solid-State Lett.*, vol. 13, pp. H200-H202, 2010.
- [195] S. Adachi, "Lattice thermal resistivity of III–V compound alloys," J. Appl. *Phys.*, vol. 54, pp. 1844-1848, Apr. 1983.
- [196] E. C. Jones, B. P. Linder, and N. W. Cheung, "Plasma immersion ion implantation for electronic materials," *Jap. J Appl. Phys.*, vol. 35, Part 1, no. 2B, pp. 1027-1036, Feb. 1996.
- [197] N. W. Cheung, "Plasma immersion ion implantation for semiconductor processing," *Mat. Chem. Phys.*, vol. 46, pp. 132-139, Nov. 1996.
- [198] P. K. Chu, S. Qin, C. Chan, N. W. Cheung, and L. A. Larson, "Plasma immersion ion implantation—a fledgling technique for semiconductor processing," *Mat. Sci. Eng.*, vol. R17, pp. 207-280, Nov. 1996.
- [199] W. Ensinger, "Semiconductor processing by plasma immersion ion implantation," *Mat. Sci. Eng.*, vol. A253, pp. 258-268, Sep. 1998.
- [200] P. K. Chu, S. B. Felch, P. Kellerman, F. Sinclair, L. A. Larson, and B. Mizuno, "Plasma doping: Progress and potential Part one of two," *Solid State Technol.*, vol. 42, Sep. 1999.
- [201] P. K. Chu, S. B. Felch, P. Kellerman, F. Sinclair, L. A. Larson, and B. Mizuno, "Plasma doping: Progress and potential Part two of two," *Solid State Technol.*, vol. 42, Oct. 1999.
- [202] D. T. K. Kwok, P. K. Chu, and C. Chan, "Profile control in BF₃ plasma doping," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 88, no. 6, pp. 3198-3201, Sep. 2000.
- [203] N. W. Cheung, "Processing considerations with plasma immersion ion implantation," *Surf. Coatings Technol.*, vol. 156, pp. 24-30, Jul. 2002.
- [204] L. Godet, S. Radovanov, J. Sheuer, C. Cardinaud, N. Fernandez, Y. Ferro, and G. Cartry, "Ion energy distributions measured inside a high-voltage cathode in a BF₃ pulsed dc plasma used for plasma doping: experiments and ab initio calculations," *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.*, vol. 21, 065006, Dec. 2012.
- [205] S. B. Felch, Z. Fang, B.-W. Koo, R. B. Liebert, S. R. Walther, and D. Hacker, "Plasma doping for the fabrication of ultra-shallow junctions," *Surf. Coatings Technol.*, vol. 156, pp. 229-236, Jul. 2002.
- [206] F. Lallement, B. Duriez, A. Grouillet, F. Arnaud, B. Tavel, F. Wacquant, P. Stalk, M. Woo, Y. Erokhin, J. Scheuer, L. Godet, J. Weeman, D. Distaso, and D. Lenoble, "Ultra-low cost and high performance 65nm CMOS device

fabricated with plasma doping," in *Proc. IEEE Symp. VLSI Technol.*, Jun. 2004, pp. 178-179.

- [207] J. T. Scheuer, D. Lenoble, J.-P. Reynard, F. Lallement, A. Grouillet, A. Arevalo, D. Distaso, D. Downey, Z. Fang, L. Godet, B. W. Koo, T. Miller, and J. Weeman, "USJ formation using pulsed plasma doping," *Surf. Coatings Technol.*, vol. 186, pp. 57-61, Aug. 2004.
- [208] W.-J. Cho, C.-G. Ahn, K. Im, J.-H. Yang, J. Oh, I.-B. Baek, and S. Lee, "Fabrication of 50-nm gate SOI n-MOSFETs using novel plasma-doping technique," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 366-368, Jun. 2004.
- [209] K. Im, W.-j. Cho, C.-G. Ahn, J.-H. Yang, I.-B. Baek, S. Lee, S. Baek, and H. Hwang, "Ultrashallow junction formation using novel plasma doping technology beyond 50 nm MOS devices," *J. Jap. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 44, no. 4B, pp. 2376-2379, Apr. 2005.
- [210] K. Im, S. Baek, H. Hwang, C.-G. Ahn, J.-H. Yang, I.-B. Baek, Seongjae Lee, and W.-j. Cho, "Effects of low-temperature postannealing on a n⁺-p shallow junction fabricated by plasma doping," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 86, no. 19, 193503, May 2005.
- [211] S. Qin, A. McTeer, and Y. J. Hu, "Co-gas impact of B₂H₆ plasma diluted with helium on the plasma doping process in a pulsed glow-discharge system," *J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B*, vol. 23, no. 6, pp. 2272-2277, Nov. 2005.
- [212] S. Qin and A. McTeer, "Characterization and optimization of a plasma doping process using a pulsed RF-excited B₂H₆ plasma system," *Surf. Coatings Technol.*, vol. 201, pp. 6759-6767, Apr. 2007.
- [213] T. Miller, R. Dorai, L. Godet, G. D. Papasouliotis, and V. Singh, "Advanced optimization and process control of plasma doping apparatus," *Phys. Stat. Sol. C*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 911-914, Mar. 2008.
- [214] B. Mizuno, I. Nakayama, N. Aoi, M. Kubota, and T. Komeda, "New doping method for subhalf micron trench sidewalls by using an electron cyclotron resonance plasma," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 53, no. 21, pp. 2059-2061, Nov. 1988.
- [215] K. Kobayashi, T. Eto, K. Okuyama, K. Shibahara, and H. Sunami, "Application of arsenic plasma doping in 3-D MOS transistors and the doping profile evaluation," *Jap. J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 44, no. 4B, pp. 2273-2278, Apr. 2005.
- [216] D. Lenoble, K. G. Anil, A. De Keersgieter, P. Eybens, N. Collaert, R. Rooyackers, S. Brus, P. Zimmerman, M. Goodwin, D. Vanhaeren, W. Vandervorst, S. Radovanov, L. Godet, C. Cardinaud, S. Biesemans, T. Skotnicki, and M. Jurczak, "Enhanced performance of PMOS MUGFET via integration of conformal plasma-doped source/drain extensions," in *Proc. IEEE Symp. VLSI Technol.*, Jun. 2006, pp. 212-213.

- [217] Y. Sasaki, K. Okashita, K. Nakamoto, T. Kitaoka, B. Mizuno, and M. Ogura, "Conformal doping for FinFETs and precise controllable shallow doping for planar FET manufacturing by a novel B₂H₆/Helium self-regulatory plasma doping process," in *Proc. IEEE IEDM*, Dec. 2008, pp. 917-920.
- [218] T. Izumida, K. Okano, T. Kanemura, M. Kondo, S. Inaba, S. Itoh, N. Aoki, and Y. Toyoshima, "Advantage of plasma doping for source/drain extension in bulk fin field effect transistor," *Jap. J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 50, 04DC15, Apr. 2011.
- [219] Y. Sasaki, K. Okashita, B. Mizuo, M. Kubota, M. Ogura, and O. Nishijima, "Conformal doping mechanism for fin field effect transistors by selfregulatory plasma doping with AsH₃ plasma diluted with He," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 111, 013712, Jan. 2012.
- [220] M. Kubota, S. Hayashi, M. Ogura, Y. Sasaki, S. Okada, and K. Yamabe, "Effects of plasma irradiation in arsenic plasma doping using overhang test structures," *Jap. J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 52, 021301, Feb. 2013.
- [221] J. W. Lee, Y. Sasaki, M. J. Cho, M. Togo, G. Boccardi, R. Ritzenthaler, G. Eneman, T. Chiarella, S. Brus, N. Horiguchi, G. Groeseneken, and A. Thean, "Plasma doping and reduced crystalline damage for conformally doped fin field effect transistors," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 102, no. 22, 223508, Jun. 2013.
- [222] S. Heo, S. Baek, D. Lee, M. Hasan, H. Jung, J. Lee, and H. Hwang, "Sub-15 nm n⁺/p-germanium shallow junction formed by PH₃ plasma doping and excimer laser annealing," *Electrochem. Solid-State Lett.*, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. G136-G137, Feb. 2006.
- P. D. Kirsch, R. J. W. Hill, J. Huang, W. Y. Loh, T.-W. Kim, M. H. Wong, B. G. Min, C. Huffman, D. Veksler, C. D. Young, K. W. Ang, I. Ali, R. T. P. Lee, T. Ngai, A. Wang, W.-E. Wang, T. H. Cunningham, Y. T. Chen, P. Y. Hung, E. Bersch, B. Sassman, M. Cruz, S. Trammell, R. Droopad, S. Oktybrysky, J. C. Lee, G. Bersuker, C. Hobbs, and R. Jammy, "Challenges of III-V materials in advanced CMOS logic," in *Proc. Int. Symp. VLSI Technol., Syst. Appl.*, Apr. 2012.
- [224] J. Stuke and G. Zimmerer, "Optical properties of amorphous III–V compounds. I. Experiment," *Phys. Stat. Sol. B*, vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 513-523, Feb. 1972.
- [225] M. Schubert, Infrared ellipsometry on semiconductor layer structures: Phonons, Plasmons, and Polaritons. Springer, 2004.
- [226] A. G. Lind, N. G. Rudawski, N. J. Vito, C. Hatem, M. C. Ridgway, R. Hengstebeck, B. R. Yates, and K. S. Jones, "Maximizing electrical activation of ion-implanted Si in In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 103, no. 23, 232102, Dec. 2013.

List of Publications as First Author

Journal Publications

- E. Y.-J. Kong, Ivana, X. Zhang, Q. Zhou, J. Pan, Z. Zhang, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Pd-InGaAs as a self-aligned contact material on InGaAs," *Solid-State Electron.*, vol. 85, pp. 36-42, Jul. 2013.
- 2. E. Y.-J. Kong and Y.-C. Yeo, "Self-aligned and non-self-aligned contact metallization in InGaAs metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors: A simulation study," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 61, no. 3, pp. 734-741, Mar. 2014.
- 3. E. Y.-J. Kong, P. Guo, B. Liu, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Towards conformal damagefree doping with abrupt ultra-shallow junction: Formation of Si monolayers and laser anneal as a novel doping technique for InGaAs n-MOSFETs," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 61, no. 4, pp. 1039-1046, Apr. 2014.
- E. Y.-J. Kong, S. Subramanian, V. R. D'Costa, L-H. Chua, W. Zou, C. Chan, T. Henry, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Plasma doping of InGaAs at elevated substrate temperature for reduced sheet resistance and defect formation," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 61, no. 9, pp. 3159-3165, Sep. 2014.

Conference Publications

- E. Y.-J. Kong, X. Zhang, Ivana, Q. Zhou, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Pd-InGaAs as a new self-aligned contact material on InGaAs," *International Semiconductor Device Research Symposium (ISDRS)*, College Park, MD, USA, Dec. 7-9, 2011.
- E. Kong, X. Gong, P. Guo, B. Liu, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Novel technique for conformal, ultra-shallow, and abrupt n⁺⁺ junction formation for InGaAs MOSFETs," *International Symposium on VLSI Technology, Systems and Applications (VLSI-TSA)*, Hsinchu, Taiwan, Apr. 22-24, 2013.

List of Publications as Second Author

Journal Publications

- S.-M. Koh, E. Y.-J. Kong, B. Liu, C.-M. Ng, G. S. Samudra, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Contact resistance reduction for strained n-FinFETs with silicon-carbon source/drain and platinum-based silicide contacts featuring tellurium implant and segregation," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 58, no. 11, pp. 3852-3862, Nov. 2011.
- 2. H. X. Guo, **E. Y. J. Kong**, X. Zhang, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Germanium/Ni-InGaAs solid-state reaction for contact resistance reduction on n⁺ In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As," *Japanese J. Applied Physics*, vol. 51, no. 4, Apr. 2012.
- Ivana, E. Y.-J. Kong, S. Subramanian, Q. Zhou, J. Pan, and Y.-C. Yeo, "CoInGaAs as a novel self-aligned metallic source/drain material for implantless In_{0.53}Ga_{0.47}As n-MOSFETs," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 78, pp. 62-67, Jun. 2012.
- S. Subramanian, E. Y.-J. Kong, D. Li, S. Wicaksono, S. F. Yoon, and Y-C. Yeo, "P₂S₅/(NH₄)₂S_x-based sulfur mono-layer doping for source-drain extensions in n-channel InGaAs FETs," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 61, no. 8, pp. 2767-2773, Aug. 2014.

Conference Publications

- S.-M. Koh, E. Y. J. Kong, B. Liu, C.-M. Ng, P. Liu, Z.-Q. Mo, K.-C. Leong, G. S. Samudra, and Y.-C. Yeo, "New tellurium implant and segregation for contact resistance reduction and single metallic silicide technology for independent contact resistance optimization in n- and p-FinFETs," *International Symposium on VLSI Technology, Systems and Applications* (VLSI-TSA), Hsinchu, Taiwan, Apr. 25-27, 2011, pp. 74-75.
- H.-X. Guo, Eugene Y. J. Kong, X. Zhang, and Y.-C. Yeo, "Germanium/Ni-InGaAs solid-state reaction for contact resistance reduction on n+ In0.53Ga0.47As," *Extended Abstracts of the 2011 International Conference* on Solid State Devices and Materials, Nagoya, Japan, Sep. 28-30, 2011, pp. 608-609.
- 3. S. Subramanian, E. Y.-J. Kong, D. Li, S. Wicaksono, S. F. Yoon, and Y.-C. Yeo, " $P_2S_5/(NH_4)_2S_x$ -based sulfur mono-layer doping technique to form sub-

10 nm ultra-shallow junctions for advanced III-V logic devices," *International Conference on Solid-State Devices and Materials (SSDM)*, Fukuoka, Japan, Sep. 24-27, 2013.

Co-author contributions primarily comprise involvement in experiments, data collection and analysis, and technical discussions.

Also co-authored 3 journal publications, 2 letters/briefs, and 8 conference publications in addition to those first- and second-author publications listed above.